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PREFACE.

The title of the present work may perhaps be open to
objection as too coxﬂplieheuswe, seeing that there are many
Chiefs . the terrtoues admmustered by the Punjab
Government, beating the title of Raja, whose histories
have not been here included. Bub my object has not been
to record the wgraphies of roigning families so much ag fo
give a connected account of the pohtical relations of e
British Government with the Independent States of the
Punjab fiom the commencement of the present century.

yith Kashmir and Bahawalpur, now 1ts greatest
feudrtories 14 North India, the Government had nothing
whatever o do until the first Stkh war The history of
the former pravince s full of mterest and will nichly repay
the most patient aud labuious enquuy, but i1t was not
till the defeats on the Satley had shaken to ats fall the
eorrupt monarehy of Lahore that Kashmir was known to
English Statesmen as more than the name of a distant
valley which rowanece and poetry bad dehghted to pamnt
with therr most billant culours  Bahawalpur was even less
kunown than Kashnur, till the campaign of 1848 brought
its Chief as an ally to the sule of the Butish, and, even
atter the annexation of the Punjab, s nternal politics
wote the subject of no inteiference on the part of the
Government, until auovchy and civil war threatmed to
reduce the country to its o1 1ginal desert, when the Paramount
Power was compelled 1o mterpose in the interests of the
people whom tyrahny had driven nto rebelhon and aiime
Among the hills fiom wluch the Satley and the Ravi

flow are Chiefs who bear the name of Raja, mostly of
naput desecnt aud whose pedigrees stietch back “m
unbroken suesession for soveral thousand years  But thea ”
Lustory has Little mure than an antiquunian mterest. At
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the time when the Gurkhas attempteu tne conquest of the
Punjab hills, these petty Chuefs appear for a woment 1 the
hght of hustory, but, the wave of mvasion having been
beaten back, they agan disappearsand sre no more seen.
Dynasty after dynasty has 1uled i Hindostan and has
passed away Two creeds, stiong te conquer and foreign
to the land, have been predomimant fiom the Bay of
Bengal to the Passes of the Khatbar  But befofe Muham-
mad, God-iptoxiated, shattered the :dols of Arabia, be-
fore the founder of thg Chitsttan fath gathered s fow
disciples by the Lake: of Galilee, the httle Rajput princt-
‘palities were existing 1 their quiet valleys; and when the
day arrives that the name of England shall be no longer a
_power in Hmndostan, but only & vague memd.y, one. leaf
ofsher long and wondrous story, the Rajputs will still be
ruling their ancient valleys and tracing back their ancestry
to the Sun
With the powerful Sikh Chiefs of the Cis and Trans.
Satle) the case 19 very different. Their rule 1s not sacred
by antiquty Whatever the ongin of the race to.which
thay belong, the Sikh chiefs are, nevertheless, Autochthones,
Earih-borrf, and then aucestors, but a few generations ago
were themselves 'dnvmg the plough over the very Jands
whickr they to- da,y rule a8 Independent Cluefs But
shewr hustory is a most noportant part of the general
history of India. Thou fierce gnthusiasm, m the days
vhen Sikhism was a Living futh, enabled them to conquer
he Punjab and defy the” enmuty of the Muhawmadan
Epprre. It was ther farth wluch wade them strong, as
t was the absence of all religious enthusiasm m the
Muhammadans of Tndia which proved their weakness and
ultjmately their ruin  They had mdeed changed from
the days when the noblest chivalry of the West went down
befure thewrlevelled lances and the war-ery of God and the
Prophet,
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With the Buitsh Government the relations of the Cis-
Satley States have been more or less ntimate from the
tune of the conquest of Dohli by Lord Lakean 1803, and
1t 18 the history of these relations and the policy which the
British (Jovernmet has adopted towards 1ts feudatoties
which 1t 18 here chuefly désired to record.

This Fistory has been written in considerable detail and
without reserve, except with refarence to events of recent
date regarding which obvious political and personal reasons
forbid the expression of opinion or detaill 1 relation. As
far a8 T am aware no chapter of Indian History has ever
been written so unreservedly or with so much detad as
the present volume, and on ths account I would desne
to ecll attension to a conclusion which may fairly be drawa
from its pages

The time may perhaps have passed, though of this I
am by no means certain, when educated Enghshmen,
rogarding with some degree of pride the conquest and
possession of India, yet believed that the country was won
by wmtngue, Violonce and fiaud  That each new province
added to DBntish India sgnified new enmes, and that
the conquerors were only successful because "they were
unscrupulous,  If this belief bas been generally abandoned
Ly educated men, 1t 18 still the beliet of the vase mujonty
vwho have neither the means nor the mchnation to 1nfoim
themselves of the'truth 1t 15 encouraged and stimulated
at the pre-ent day by writers i England, some of them
men of abihty, who ether find 1t  profitable to
abuse their countiy or who are so unfottunate as to be able
to find nothing but npational shame end incapacity .
where othors would find monuments of nutional eneryy
and glory

A suflicient answer 1o hostile eriticisms on the Governy
ment of Ladia 1s found 1n the politwal lustry of the Cis-
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Satlej States for the last sixty-five years These States
form but & small portion of India, but they are sud always
have been considered & most important portion, m thewr
contiol many principles of ¢the highest moment
were involved and it may faurly be assumed that the
poliy which the Government ‘adopted towards them
was the same policy which it maivtained towards the rest
of India It 15 neither reasonable nor honest to assume
that an administration which was Just and generous 1 one
province was tyranmcal and rapacious in another The
Government of India has had on¢ policy and oue alone,
whether the Punjab, o1 Oude, or Bengal was concerned,
and, 1if its policy has been unsciupulous, traces of its want
of pimeiple will most assuredly be found m ‘is relatons
with the Cis-Satley States On this pomt let the facts
which'I have recorded bear their own wituess My per-
sonal opinion s valueless like that of any other mdividual
1t may be prejudiced by association, by tiadition, by 1in-
terest , but facts ave uninflnenced by prejudice The con-
clusion to which 1 am convinced that any honest ramnd will
aruve after 1eading this lustory, in which the single
endeavom kas been to record the truth, 1s that the policy
of the British Government, so far as the Sikh States are
concerned, has been umformly liberal, enlightened and just «
that m no single 1nstance bas 16 abused s strength to
oppress its weaker nerghbours, but that, on the cantrary, 1t
has takea less than 1ts undoubted” right and has decided
disputed questions with a generosity and disinterestedness
which will be looked for 1n vamn in the administration of any
_other couatry

Absolute power 15 a dangerous and too often a fatal
gift which few have éver been able to use wisely; but the
fune will assuredly come when the just and generous pohey
of England n the East will be acknowledged by the world
as her highest title to respect and honor.
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Tt was but & short tune ago that enquiries were insti-
tuted m India as to the opiaton entertamed by the people
of the Butish ¢ vernment, and on this subject many
educated native gentlemen and mgh Enghsh officials
recorded their views The enquuy was chiefly remarkable

+ ag proving the excellence of the mtention of a Government
which invited such open discussion, and as illustrating the
curtous tendency of Enghshmen to cuticise unfavorably
whatever belongs to thewr own race or country But
sertously to compare the Buitish admimstration with those
whieh preceded 1t, or with the majority of those which exist
mde by side with it to-day m India, 1s an msult to the
intelligence There bave been, 1 18 true, Muhammadan and
Huwdu Printes whe have ruled with strength and justice,
snd whose names are still held in honor But these have
been very fow Native rule m India, i former days, signified
oppression of the most terrible Jid, msecurity of hfe
and property ; luxury and debauchery i the Prmce, misery
and want 1n the people, and although much has been
wiitten regarding the preference of the people for the rule
of their bereditary Chuefs, the simple fact remains that
whenever an opportumity has been afforded, them, the
people have accepted British rule with the most unfeigned
satisfi tron

The Punjab proper, during the tine of Maharaja
Ranpt Smgh, was certamly a favourable spocimen of'a
Native State  Yet the revenue system of Ranpt Smgh was
but an orgamzed system of pillage and the country was
farmed to contractors, who were bound to pay a certain sum
mto the State treasury and were permutted to collect. as
much more as was posaible for themselves,

In the Trans-Indus districts, which are now so tranquil
that the raid of & fow marauders across the border Is an
event of importance, the revenus, twenty five years ago,
was collected by an army whose march down the frontier
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could be traced by the smoke of burning villages Where
the people were less warlike the 1evenue officers were not
less cruel, ss Kashmur, ground to powder by Sirdar Han
Smgh, Nalwa, and thé Jalandhar Doab, squeezed dry by
the Shaikh tax gatherers, will smely prove If there be
any feeling of nationahty in Indta whatever, 1t mey be.
most fairly looked for among the Sikhs. But m no part -of
Indie was Britsh rule accepted more gladly by the people ,
and that they have not had reason to regret the change s
shown by the ummnterrupted peacq and prospenty of the
country and by the willingness with which Sikhs and Mu-
hammadans fought, 1n 1857, to mamntain the British power

Maeany Native States m India at the present tume ate
raled well , and, i the Punjab territories, Pattiala, Jhind
saud Kapurthalla enjoy an administration as substantially just
g thap of the Biitish provinces But this 1 alone due to
Enghsh example, as the Rulers of these States readily admut,
They bave voluntaiily adopted the Enghsh Revenue system ;
an some cases the English Codes of Law, and, 1 a modified
form, the Procedurs of the ¥nghsh Courts , they encourage
education and mtroduce into their territories roads and,
canals Englsh example has done much, but 1ts work 18
not yet conplete, and, were 1ts mfluence withdrawn, India
would at once relipse into the anarchy and msery from
winch the Bratish Government has rescued 1t The educa~
tion and civilization of & nation are not achieved i fifty or
a hundied years, and the work 1s both more difficult and
more tedious when, as in India, Cluefs and people have so
much to unlearn before %hey‘cau understand the new lessons
we-desire to teach them.

-

* 1 believe that if the enticisms on Bntish administra-
twn i India are carefully conmidured 1t will be found that
they almost invanably turn on the unsympathetic nature
of the Government and of the Englsh chaacter gencrally,
So fa1 as these eiticisns attempt to assert an obvious fact
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they arc unobjectionable, but they become harmful when
they attempt to go further and to prove that the want of
sympathy between the Enghsh and the. natives 13 a
grave danger to the Empire  The English are not a demon-
strative o sympatﬁetic race, and, if therte be a danger m
such a national characteristic, 1t must be accepted with
equammity, for it 16 mevitable But the natives of India
are far less sympathetic and demonstrative than the Eng-
heh, they do not esk for our sympathy and if 1t were
offered to them they would dechne 1t

A Himdu family hves very much alone, 1ts joys and
sorrows are nothing to its neighbows, and the social hife of
India at the preseut day 18 altogether undeveloped.
Paterotism and Nationality, as we understand the ferms,
have no meaning m Inda, fiom tune immemorial the
country has been ruled by foreigners, somctimes well,
sometimes 111, tha people have borne the burden of the
1cnpacity and the vices of their rulers, patiently, without
complamt ; they have accepted good government as they
welcome the sun-light and the summer rams, with & quiet
gladness but with no feeling of thankfulnes~, for they
knew not and cated not whenee good government came

The heart of the people . India 15 deep and if we
endeavour to find there any aftfection for ourselves we shall
most swely reek 1 vain  But esteem 1s stronger ard
better than love, and 1t wull last unchanged when love has
passod thiough its stages of pasaion, indifter eflce, and
disgust. For the Enghsh Goveinment the peeple of Tndia
enteitain & smeere esteem.  They may not hke aly
is ways and its eager fretful love of change and pro,
gress, but they know 1 to be just, they Lnow themselves
seciie 1n peason and property, while ;.hey are year by year
wnereasing m wealth under the protection of a Geovernment
which demands bttle mote than Lalf of what they have
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been compelled~bo pay to the most hberal Government
which has pregeded that of the English,

JAfany "Gertain augury of the future can be drawn from
the evsexmw'f“the past, a popular risng in Indha against the
Government may be pronounced 1mposslble 50 loné, as the
adminstration of the countiy is based upon just and
enhghtened principles

The delay which has taken place in the pubhcation of
the present work 1s owing to the enoimous mass of
matetsals m the shape ,of offiaal correspondence which 1t
was necessary to sxamine The palitical records of Govern-
ment and of the Agencies of Dehli, Ambala and Ludhana,
from the commencement, of the present century, are exceed-
ingly volununous, and 1t has htcrally been the labor of
yeas to index them and master their contents The diffi-
eulties 1n the way of obtaming full and authentic infor mation
of the history of the States previous to therr connection
with the British Government have also been very great,
although the Chiefs concerned have placed thewr whole
family and State 1ecords at my disposal and have facihtated
my enquiries In every possible way.

The history of the Mand: State would more appropui-
ately have found a place 1n a volume wiich I had hoped
and still hope to publwb o the Rajput Chiefs, the matenals
for which have been in a great measure collected But,
consideripg the lengﬂl of time over which the prepaiation
of the present work has extunded, I have thought it better
to mcJude Mand1 as the most important and as, 1n some
way, a representative specimen of the Rajput Hull Chiefs,
gather than leave its history to form a fiagment of a future
work, which T may neither hive nor have lewsure to complete,

LEPEL GRIFFIN,
Under-Secretary to Government Punjab,

Lakore, November 9th 1870,
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Eslwats, 247281, 862, 871, 853,
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F'
Faizullahpuria Sirdars, or Smehpuna, 25,048, 60, 219, 224
Famme o¥1783, A D,57,178, of 1688 A D, 687
Fandkot, famuly, 4,°sttacked by Pattals, 85, 45, by Rannt Singh, 99, 109,
125, 129, 215, 409, 469, hustory of the State, §99-~621
Farkhunda, Bakht, Prmee, 50
Fatahabad, 42, 43, 45, 180, 184
Fatah Singh, Thanesar, 59, 819,
Fatah Smngh, Mihrmah, 74
Fatah Smgh, Kanheys, 75,
Fatah Smgh, Abluwaha 93, 94, 95, 96, 103, 519—538.
Fatah Singh, Reja of Jhind, 358,
Fatah Smgh, Kabanwala 96
Fatah Smgh Pattla, 267
Fatah Smgh, of Nabha, 461,
Fattoh, Ran, 82
Fouju Smgh, of Fandkot, 809, 611, 614
French mvasion of India, 102, 108, 118, 128,
Frager, Mx W, Resident, Dells, 182, 189.

G.
Gaggar, the river, 158
Gajpat S;mgh, Raga of Jhind, 89, history, 311—818,
Ganda Singh, Bhang, 62, 507
Langa, the sacred pool, 8
Ganga Ram of Manimajra, 34
Ganb Dass of Manimajra, 84
Ghakkar tribe, 206
Ghalu Ghara, 506
Ghanoh Birdars, 61,
Gheba Sirdars, 52,
Ghulam Xadir Khan, Rohills, 63, 66, 816
Ghumgrana, estate of, 96, 97, 825
Goghar ka Dhar, $25.
Gohana district, 319, 320, 841
Gopal Singh of Mammagra, 34
Gorakpur district, 188~ ¢
Gosaon, Wazir of Mandy, §47—659.
Govindgarh, siege of; 37
Govind Singh, Guru, 48, 497, 505, 637,
Gudherah estate, 220, 222
Gugar Smgh, Pattiala, 139, 140
Gulab Singh, Bhang, 518
Gulab Singh, Fanidkot, 614, 616
Gulab Singh, of Shahzadpur, 47, 429,
Ghalab Singh, Buna, 49
. Gylab Simgh, Amowh, 51,197
Gumtr S:khs, 306
Gumah Mmes, 623
Gur Sen, Mand, 635
Gurangdn estate, 220, 222
Gurbaksh Singh, of Nabha, 461, 462, 481--487

6



INDEX,

Gurbaksh Singh, Kaleka, 21,

Gurbaksh Smgh, Bhaa of Kythal, 22, 51, 199.
Gurbakeh Singh of Manunajra, 34, 45
Gurbaksh Singh, of Ambala, 46, 99

Gurdit Brogh, Ladwa, 83, 89, 91, 93, 04, 104,
Gurdit 8ingh, Arsowly, 51,

Gurdit Smgh, Laudavala, 46

Gurdis Mal, Raja, 500

Gurdial, Diwan, 143, 145

Gurkha campaign, 156, 157, 526, 639, 640
Gwalior, services of Pattiala Raja there m 1857, 288,

H.

Hakikat Simgh, Kanheya, 52, 517

Hakikat Singh, of Ber, 802

Hakman, lian, Pattiala, 55, her death 58

Hamr Singh, of Fandkot, 45, 604—607

Haumr Sigh, of Nabba, 88, 39, 313, 418, 419

Hane, over-run 44, surrendered to Dehli, 44, 81, 89, 322

Hasrnana Loun dispute, its ongm, 178, character of the country, 178;
pnd people, 179, encroachments of Pattiala, 181, Mr Bell’s Report,
183, Mr Conolly's Report, 190, 198, final settlement, 195

Han Smgh, of Jhund, 818 * '

Hari Siugh, Bhang, 500, 507

Har1 Singh, Sualba, 85, 45, 47, 63

Ban Simgh Kalsia, 166

Hunmat Singh, Pattiala, 80, rebels, 32, 38 , lus death, 41, 817.

Hindur, the State of, 156, 409

Hira Singh, Bedrukhan, 304.

Haesar, over-run, 44, surrendered to Dehls, 44, 81, 89, 178, boundary finally
settled, 190 .

Holkar 90, 91, 821, 421, 519521,

Hukm Bingh, Malway, 444—450.

Hurdwar Fuur, 324,

L
TImamuddin Khan, Governor of Kashmur, 387,
Tmlob, 814
INELRITANCE

of collaterals, 53 199, 247, 291, 363, 876, 883, 617,
of duughters, 517

of widows, 60, 100, 168, 199, 364, 875.

of msters and deughters’ sons, 517

escheats, 247—251, 862, 871, 8588

by marrving waidow, 81, 291, 813, 875, 418

og legitimate children, 81, 40, 59, 60,

eyqual division among sons, 40, 70, 169, 175, 282,
unequal division emong sons, 301

prumogemture, 169, 340,
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dlvision according to number of widows, vide * Chundaband.”
adopted son, 247
of women, 247, 876,
by will, 838, 558— 576,
to ohiefships, 874,

Infantiaade, 177 .

Ingratitude of the Cis-Satley Chefs, 205, 208 208"

Interference with admmstration of Native States on the part of the Govern.
‘ment, 136, 154, 227, 228, 252, 265, o34

Tron Mines, Mandy, 625.

Tsa, Khan, 602

Isn Sen, Mands, 639,

Isrn, 33, 511, 531

J.

Jaggat Singh, Kuly, 633
Jaggat Parkash, Raja Nahan, 42
Jaggat Singh, Bhadour, 285
Jagdeo Singh of Pattiala, 268, 271
Jagdesh Singh, Pattiala, 287
Jagir grants of Ranpt Swingh, 356, 872, 877
Jagir ; 1terpretation of the term, 378
Jagirdars , rights of, 1 new grants, 401406,
Ja1 Chpnd, Wazirr Laksam, 633
Jar Smgh Xadbran, 48, 433, 436
Jar Singh Kanheys, 52, 507, 517,
Jumal Smgh Buna, 49
Jaimal Singh Kanheya, 75
Jashy Ram, Munshy, Jhood, 339, 84d
Jamalpur, the district of, 184
Jamal Khan, of Maler Kotla, 16, 25,
Jammu, 517
Janjoah tribe, 206
Jagsa Singh Ahluwaha, 19, 25, 28, 88, 39, 608 ; history, 408—517; coin.
age, 504¢ wmfluence, 512 ; liberality, 516, death, 512
Jassa Singh Bamghana, 46, 52, 507, 512, 518
Jaswant Singh of Nabha, 83, 92, 99, 104, 124, 155, 167, 171, lustory, 419—
435, character, 428 425 ; loyslty, 436, death, 485,
Jeswant Bax Holkar, vde Holkar,
Jaswant Smgh of Barwala, 225
Jat Sikhs, ongin, 495
Jesal, founder of Jesalmir, 1.
Jhanda, 507, °
Jhang, 522
Jhayar, the dwtrict of, 81, 2399242, 899, 202, 466
Jhind and Nabha, quarrels between, 41, 318, precedence, 406-~410,
Jhmd ,. history of the Btate, 809
Jund , _sioge of, by Imperial troops, 43.
Do by George Thomas, §2.
town of, 819,
Jiwh Ma: of Thanesar, 319
Jwun Sugh Burm, 49~ 7
Jiundan Sikhs, 305

8
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Jodh Smgh, Kot Duna 808

Jodh Smgh, Sirdar of Battinda, 21, 22
Jodh 8mgh, of Kot Kapura, 35, 86, 604
Jodh Singh Ramgharna, 40, 108, 526, 327
Jodh Bmgh Waznirabadm, 52

Jodh 8mgh Kalsis, 75,76, 430

Jukal, ‘ws

K.

Kabul carmpugns, effects of 1 the Punjab, 199, 200, 886

Eanbuly Mul, 508

Kahlur or Kehlor, the State of, mde Bilaspur

Kahn Singh of Buras, 222

Kaukrala estate, 365

Kulsa Sirdars, 50 Vade Jodh Simngh. History of the family, 70, 196, 409
508

Kamlagorh Fort, 627627, 634, 644

Kanheys Sirdars 52, 74, 500— 519

Kandola Sthhs, 61

Kangar, village of, 463,

Kungra cnmpaign, 526

Kanhonn Fort, 158

Kavoudh dstriet, 241, 473,

Kuuts ternitory, 466

Kaopurthalla, 190 ¥ide Jossa Bmgh, Fatah Smgh, Nihul fugh, Abluwalia.

Japurthalla foundcd, 498 Taken by Jassa Suych, 511

hapur Singh, Faizullahpuna, 27, 60, 498, 503, 603

Karam Singh of Bhab. adpur, 46, 47, 49, 50, 70, 79, 83

Karam Simngh, Krora Singhia, 50

EKaram Singh, Nagla, 97, 326

Karam Swgh, Maharsja of Pattala, 149, 152, 158  Suegeeds hus fathor
154, good servuce, 156, 157, feud with s brother, 168, Govern-
went loan, 170, loyalty m 1845, 201, death, 202

Karam Singh of Bandpar, 503, 866

Karnal, 91, 127, 320, 332-—335.

Karewa mamage, 1ude Chaddardalna.

Kussuhau, district, 198 184 ¢

Kashmur oonquest of, 206, rank of, 278, 409

Kasm Al Ehan of Jhagjar, 401, 400, 414

Kassur 27, 500, 507, 5% , 519

Katoch Eayputs, 208, 494

Kehr Singh, Bhadour, 285

feonthal, 409

Kesty Mal, 74

Khaunah 8udars 48

¥han Buhadar hhan, Bhatt;, 180

Khar Khodah distriet, 81¢ 820, 8131

Kharak S8ingh, Bhadour, 233 25

Bharak Singh Rajn of Kapurthalls, 589597

Khem Kour, Rani Pattida, 58 58, 185, 155, 168~

Ehuwanun estate 228232, 213

Khundewals sirdars, 50
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Khushhal Singh, Jamadar, 884, 539, 540, 640

Khushhal Singh, Singhpuna, 61, 63

Kults, Rana, 631

Kimt Parkash, Rejd of Naban, 34, 85, 89, 42

Kishan 8mgh, Kot Duna, 808

Kishan Smgh, Mian of Nahan, 48

Kot, mde Rakot

Kot Kapura, 85, 45, 62, 600, 602, 619,

Kot Duna Sikhs, 807

Xohkana, 816

Kotils, 581-—534

Kowlasher:, the village, 167, 426

Kowra Xhan, 501

Krora Singha Sirdars, 50, 91, 508 Vade Baghel Smgh, Sham Singh.,

Kularan distriet, 895

Kulwant Ray, Diwan, Pattialae, 263, 268

Kulu, 623, 624, 633, 639, 640, 642

Kumharsen, 409

Kumhar, 410

Kuthar, 410

Kythal, 25, 28, 89, 48, 75, 407, 421, 423, The famly ‘ustory, 81, mde
Bbaa Gwrbuksh Smngh, Desu $ingh, Dhanna Smyh, L. Singh,
Partab Singh, Udar Simgh, 82, 174, 183  Disorder 190, Lapse of
the ternitory, 197, 883, insurrection, 198, 213, 365, 441

L.

Lachmi Naram, Diwan, 21, 499
Lachman Rao, Mahratta, 75
Ladwa Pirdars, 59, wde Gurdit Singly, 204, 207, 211, 285
TLahore Government, nde Ranpt Singh, 385
Lakpat Raa, 499
Tiske, Lord, defeats the Mahrattas, 89, 184, 187, 320, 822, 836, 519
Lal Singh, Pattiala, 23, 29
Lal Simgh, Bhal, of Kythal, 51, 53, 85, 86, 88, 90, 92, 104, 148, 160, 196,
821 922, 842
Lapse of Kythal, 62, 197
Laudawala, Sndars, 46 «
Laudgarhiau Sirdars, 7, 10, 308.
Lehna Smgh, Xalnia 76
Lehna Singh, Magithoa, 542
Legal relations with the Cie Satle) States, 218, 253
Assessments, Native and English 217
Tadbran Sirdars, 48, 219, 222, 431—435, 492
Lieutenapt Grovernor’s visit to Pattiala, 269
Toan, Pattiala, 170, 236, 242, Nabha, 242, 436, 473
Tt e ooy Mantory of, 64 79, 0%, aslocted il
adhiana , the ear 1story of, , 94, selected asa m station
e the Enghsl{, 127, ES, 822, 831834, 874, 880 sy by

M.

Maafidars, vide Jagirdars
Mahara), Vide Maharajkuan,

10
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Maharajkoan Sikhs, 5, 174, therr customs, 174, 177, under British protection,
176, 306, 882

Maharaja, title of, conferyed on Pattiala Chuef, 168

Mahrattas, the, 88, thewr powser broken at Panipat, 44, mvads Pathals, 60,
66, 68, 75, 836, 420, 519521 .

Mahan Singh, Sirdar, Sukarchaka, 41, 812, 818, 512, 517, 518.

Mahan Singh, Governer of Bhawampgarh, 47, 55

Mahah Singh Bhadour, 285

Maha Singh Bhuroga, 5285581

Mahindar bingh, Maharaja, Pattaala , accession, 261, Regency, 266, Star of
India, 278

Mailog, 410

Male Rwo, Mahratta, 502

Maulod, 10, 18, Vide Dalel Singh, Bhag Smgh , history of, 8003802

Maler Kotla, 18, 25, 88, 44 89 ,48, 62, Bed: Sahib Singh mvades the State,
77, attacked by Ranlt Smgh, 110, 124, 215, 260, 281, 301, 826,
4090 .

Mands, 206, 409, 494, history of the State, 624—661

Mangal Singh, Bamghana, 46, 647,

Manrmayra, 84, 45, 158, 261, :

Mankera Fort, 527

Man, villaye of, 207

uan Jats, 300

Man Smgh Maled, 800.

Manoh Sirdars, 81

Maratu Runa, 632

Marringe gitis, 201, 416

Maston Singh Krora Singhia, 50

Mehtab Simgh, bhahzadpur, 47

Melitab Smgh, Thanesar, 59, 76, 82

Mehtab Sinygh of Jhind, 843, 352

Mehtab Kour, Sirdarn, 475, 482488

Mebr Singh of Jind, 312, 318

Minor Phulkian famihies, 300—308

Minonities m Natve States, the effect of, 355, 860

Mumsters at Native Courts, 79

Mints 1o Native States, wde Comage

Mur Many, 500

Mith Singh Padhana, 522

Mith Swngh Malod, 802

Mirge ka Dialpura, eude Dialpura.

Mirza S8hafi Beg, 817

Mohkam ((;’:lh:ud, Diwan of Lahore, 48, 94, 99, 114, 121, 125, 526, 605, 609~

Molir Singh, Nishanwala, 87,

Mobr Singh, Faridkot, 607, 608

Mobr Singh of Fatahabad, 511, 517

Mokatsar, 351 °

Mowran cose, 442—450,

Mung comluared, 23

Muhumme. Amin Kban, Bhatt1, 42,

Mr C, Mot “e’s Mission to Labore, 103181, 182, 189,

11
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Muhammad Hussan, Pattla, 263, 267
Muhammad Khan Xarnal, 833
Multan, 108, 206, 52v, 537,
Mumdot, Cluef ef, 214,
Mungal, 410 °
Mutiny of 1857  Conduct and services of Maharsja of
Pattiala, 231—238
Jhind, 889— 893
Nabha, 464—463
Kapurthalla, 567—579
Fandkot, 619
Mulv: Rayihb Al 540, -
Murray, Captain, Political Agent, 164
Muzaftar Khan, Nawab of Multan, 108, 206, 527

N.

Nabha founded, 419

Nabgal Raja 633

Nnhr Smgh Sodbs, 57

Nahan, Ra._;a. of, 34, 35, 39, 42, 48, 80, 156, 409, 504

Najaf Khan, mester of Dehly, 44, 45

Najab Goh Khan, 45

Najibullah, Rohulla, 44, 816, 509

Napbuddowla, mde Napbullah

Nakkaa confederacy, 518

Nalegarh, nndé Hindur

Nanun Mal, Diwan, Pathala, 483, 47 52 816, made Prime Mimster, 55, hus
enegy, 57 , s assassiation atte«up(md 58, intrigues with the Mah.
rattas, 60, campaigns, 62 64, unpopula.nty, 65, hus fall, 69, lastk
effort, for power, 72, death zmd charactory 73, 609

Nanun Singh Bura, 49

Nand Smgh Chamkown, 150,

Nanakshat Rupee, 510 '

Nantpur Foirt, 628

Narammgarh, siege of, 48, 96, 503

Narnoul district, 239

Narndar Swgh, Maharaja, Pattala, succeeds to the throne, 202, loyalty, 203,
preat services to Government 233, rewards, 238 ; Knight of the
Star of India, 250, death, 258, ehnrac&er, 259

Nnrwaria Sikhs, 49

Natha Smgh, Kaleka, General, 42

Natave Courts, 73

Neota, mde Marnage gifts

Nihal Simgh Attariwalla, 851

Nihal, Singh, Raja of Kapurthalla, 208, 207, 261, 688552 ; character, 550

Nihal Chand of Pattialls, 237,

Kihang Khan, Kotila, 532

Niwhanwala eonfederacy, ¢8, 150, 431

Nizamuddin Khan of Kassut, 507

Noudhs Misr, Minuster at Pattaalla, 140, 145, hie unpopulanty, 162, 154, 158,
hus death, 160

-12
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0,

Ochterlonv, Sir D, 122, 123, 124, 126; viats Pattiala, 185, 141 ; plot to
assassmate him, 146, 149, the Gurkba campagn, 167, 163, 321, 830
Oudh, services of Paitla m, 238

P.
Puhar Smgh, Fandkot, 616—620,
Purtab Simgh, Bhina of Kytual, 51
Partab Kour, Bam, 148, 151
P utab Smgh, Dattiala, 236
Purtab Singh, of Thind, 838, 344352
Patod1, 109
Pattwala, history of, 1--274, genealogy, 9, 11, revenue, area and popula-
tion, 273, 275
Pattiala founded, 21
Payal, 33, 511
Porron, Geueral, 87, 83, grants to Sikth Chuefs, 183, 186, 187, 420.
Phagwara, 56!
Plalor Cluefs, 80
Phul, founder of the Phulkian bouser6, his descendants, 7, 'death 7.
Phal nillage founded, 6, 811
Phula Smgh, Akah, 128, 133, 194, 819--352
Pholkian families, origmally equal, 10, 19, 284, 287
Puyor, 84
Population of Punjab States, 409
Precedens e, of Jund and Nabha, 406--410
Prupogenttine, vide Inheritance
Fioclamation of the Yrd May 1509, 181, of the 22ud August 1811, 187
Punab Singh, Arnowh -
B.
Ragho Rao, 502
Raghbur Smgzxﬁﬁaja of Jhand, wnstalled, 412, s energy, 415, charace
ter, £l

Rahiun Baksh, Bik<hy, 206, 267
Raunndad Khan, Gosernor of Hanm, 42, 815
Rar Ibralim of Kapurthalla, 501, 511
Ras Kniba of Kot, 15—30, 25, 64
R vngh, Bum 19, 64, 90
Rar Alvas of Haskot, 64, 79, 94
Rar Imum Baksh of Rarkat, 04
Rukot Chrets, 26, 39, family hustory, 64, 78, 94, 2135, 323, 421, 511
KRarpur, 329, 421
Ruyya, ttle of Roja given to the Pattiala Chuef, 26, 168,
to the Jhand Chief, 313
to the Kapurtbulla Chief, 550,
to the Farudkot Chef, 619
Ragndar Biby, 27, ssasts Ruya Amar Singh, 47, renstates Nanun Mad, 58,
;‘rmrela with tum, 66, wisita Mathra, 71, her death and character,

Rajhour, Rany, Pattinla, 41
Rajkour, Ram, Jhind, 318

13
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Rajput genealoges, 494,

stguta;ngdgll, 629

Rama, 7, 10, 12, his death, 18

Ramghara Sirdars, 46, 52, 126, 512519

Ramdyal, Munsh:, 74

Ram Chendar, Pattiala, 268,

Rampura Sikhs, 307

Ram Singh, General, 451, 456

Rannia, 42 45, 179, 185, 180

Rane Khan Dadap Mahratts, invades Pattiala, 68

Randhir 8mgh, Raja of Kapurthalla, 551—588

Rannt Singh of Shahalfad, 854

Ranjit Singh of Nabha, 427429 -

Ranpt Singh, Maharajae of Lahore, his birth, 52, 812, Treaty with Lord
Take 92 821, 521, interforence 10 the affaws 8f Pattiala, 92, 322 ;
relations with Fattah Singh Ahluwaha, 519—537, secoud mmvasion
of the Cis-Satley, 1807, 610, 95, friendship with Sahib Swgh,
Pattiala, 98, his ambition, 108, 108, 191, 205, Mr DMMetealie’s
mission, 103181, determines on war with the Enghsh 121,
525, 612, Treaty of 1809, 130, lus conquests, 200, his suspicion,
324, hus Cs-Satley grants, 356, 370, 872, 877, 530, 536, 613

Regeucy of Ram Aus Kour, 148 €

Regency, gmmcxl of Pattiala, 232, 262—267, of the three Phulkian Chuefs,

46

Relataves,of the Chiefs, complaints from, 252

Rent-free holdings, 401—406

Requests, paper of, 244, 262, 397

Revenue of Punjab States, 409

Rewards given to Pattiala m 1947, 204, after the yutiny, 236244 ,
to Jund, 242, 393

Rewalsar Lake, 627

RBohiilas, 20

Rohtak district, 393 N

Rupar, 27, 85, 45, 207

Rup Chand, Degan, 165

8.

Saadat Khan, q°vernor of Jalandhar,,506.

Sada Kour, Maz, 97, 123, 518

Salyb Xour, Biby, Pattaala, 75, her gallantry, 76, 80, 83, 84, hor death, 85

Sahiy Keourvof Jhind, 362,

Salib Singhy Kbundawhala, 50

“Safub Simgh, Béd, §7, 79, 101

Sakb Singh, Maharajs of Pattiala , hus birth, 41, s accesson, 55 5 marries
daughter of Ganda Singh Bhang, 62, hw traioing, 65, relations
with Hollar,-gp , with it Singh, 62, 95, 99, with the Enghsh,
98, 100, 302, 132, s mbeciity, 134, 140, 141, deposed, 148;
death, 153 »

SalnlY Singh, Bhangt 4;;8, 442

Sahab Singh, Mynght, 462, 481.

Buhib SinghyFardkot, 618 *

Sekor, Bgna, 631 -

Salutes dut &o-Pinjab Chiefs, 273, 409,

14
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Salabat Xhan, 501
Salt Mines, Mandi, 624,
Samru Begam, 81
Sanawar conquered, 21
Sanada of %‘a,ttmlu, 203, 244, 255, 258,
of Jlund, 888 397, 399, 400
of Nubhn, 467, 469, 478
‘of Kapurthulla, 580
of Fandkot, 621
of Bhadour, 278, 279, 281, 291
of Mandi, 648
Sanads renewal of, 258 , nterpretation of, 264, 265
Sangrur, 815, 384, 855, 138 .
Snngat émgh, Raya of Jhund, 354360
Sangnt Smgh, Aroowh, 61
Sanwur Chand, Raja of Kangra, 108, 122 518, 519, 526, 639
Sardnl Bingh, Xour, of Pattiala, 29
Bardul 8ingh, Governor of Mulepar, 58
Suruswati 38
Sarbuland Khan, 502
Sarup Bingh, Raja of Jhind, 201, 215, 242 308, 362—879 , mstallation, 380,
) \8irvices, 387, 390, death, 409, character, 411 -
Saunds Singh, Khannah, 48
Safabad captured, 41
Saf Khan, Nawab, 41
Buokot Rana, 631 .
Serat Lashkar Khan, 201
Bcttlement of Land Rovenue, 217
Shahabad, 27, 70, Vide Karm Smgh, Ranpt Singh, Sher Singh, 116, 354,
Shahzadpur Birdars, 46, 47, 185
Shahid Musl, the, 486, 49, 429
Shuh Alum, bhnded by Ghulam Kadir Khan, 63, 66
Shamgmr h, 01
Sham Singh, Krora 8inghia, 50
Shamminghia confederacy, 50, 508,
Shared estates, vide Chuharam
Shamsher Sen, Mandi, 639
Shaikh Ghulam Mobieddin, 645~
Sher Simgh, Ragn, Attartwalls, 1.
Sher Swngh, Buna, 49, 90
Sher Smgh, 8hababad 431
Shihshanshar Parolt, 653, 657,
Shril estate, 220, 222
Sy Karpal Singh, Shahzadpur, 47
Shyam Sen, Mundi, 638
Sulbw, 27, 85, 45, 47, 49, 260
Sidbw Jut clon, 1, 8
Sidh Sen, 638
Swygbpura fumily, vide Fazullahpurmn.
Smgh}xunm Sirdars, 60
Sindbia Mihdap Mahratta, 86, 87 ; cedes Hurrana and Agra to the Bntsh,
89, fhght to Agra, 237
Sdb oonfedoracies, 190, 513
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Sikh equality, 17, 432

Sikh hfe i 176017 517, )

Sikh Chiefs, the qualihies necessary, 17

Sikh character, 17, 206, 207, 208, 218

Sikh feehng to the Englsh, wide British Government
Sikh Army, 202, 209, 212, 500, 505, 518—56¥3 .

Sikh Cluefs, therr position under the Dekh Empire, 370
Sikh Law, 371

Sikh Cowmage, 313-—818, 504, 505, 510,

Sikandar ka Dhar, 624

Srrhind conquered by the Sikhs, 27, 61, 812, 504, 508
Sirmur, mds Nahan = <

Sirsa, 42, 45, 89, 178, 180, 185, mde Harrana

Bobha Singh, Kalsm, 76 167

Sobrah: Rani, Jhind, 343, 344, 345, 853

Soman Singh, Puttiala 58 60 ,

Sovereignty, full, meamng of, 264 265

Sovereign Power, the rights of, 280, 281,

8t Leger, General, 331

Suchet Swmgh, Kapurthalia, 558— 575

Sudda Smgh, Shalnd, 46

Sudda Singh, Philom, 80

Sufidon, attacked by George Thowmas, 86, 312
Sukhgehen, 309

Bukhchen €ingh of Bhattinda, 37

Sukhdas Singh Kuleka, 89

Sukhdes Singh, Sirdar, 43

Sukha Singh, Bha of Kythal, 39, 48, 51

Sukba Singh, of Badrukban, 308, 362369

Suket, State of, 200, 409, 623, 633, 642

Suboran, 508
Sultanpur, 561
Suma Singh, ancestor of the Rampurias, 279
Suntf Sikhs, 431—433, 489-—492
Suray Mal, Raja of Bhurtpur, 509
Suray Sen, Mandi, 633

Surjan Smgh, Sodhs, 148

Survey of the Cig-Satle) States, 95, 132p 323
Syad FElah Baksh, 74

T.

Takht Singh, Bhai, Kythal, 51

Talwands, village, 46, 522

Tara Bingh of on, 89

Tara Syngh Dallohwala, 48, 52, 58, 59, 64, 86, 97

Tara Sgh, Minster of Bibs Salb Kour, 75

*Tdra Singh, Gheba, vide Dallehwals,

Tara Singh Ramgarhia, 501

Taroeh, 410

Tegh Bungh, Kot Kapura, 604

Thenesar Sirdars, 59, vidy Bhanga Singh, Bhag Bwgh, Fateh Singh, 319,
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The famuly of Pattiala belongs to the Sidhu
e sidhu Jas  Jat clan, whose willages are widely
trive scattcred over the iract of country
lying between the Ravl and the Jamna North of
the Satley,the clan has lost its importance, and the
war of 1849, and the annexation of the Panjab,
broke, for ever, the power of the last great Sidhu
famuly of Attdrl, one member of which, Raja Sher
Singh, commanded thé Sikh troops at Chulianwala,
where the mcapacity of an Enghsh General and
the gallantry of the Sikhs almost drew wupon
the Butish Army & calanuty ag erushing as that
wineh had befallen 1t, exght years before, m Afghan-
istan, .

The only other Sidhu fanulies, Trans-Satlyj,
whose names have any lustorical interest, are those
of Attdniwala, Sidhu, Bhilowdl and Sowran, but
these are now poor and of no politieal 1mport-
ance*

South of the Satle), however, the Sidhus are
more powerful than ever, and among them are
numbered the independent Princes of Pattiala,
Nubha, Jhind and Faridkot , the Sirdars of Bhadour,
Malod and Badrukban, the Bhais of Kythal and
Arnowh, and many other Chiefs of less note,

-

* The Swihos Traus-Satle) have descended from ancestors whe
seem to have returned o Rajputana, and re-enugrated to the Panjab 1
the sistesuch cautury

PTRag )
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Like almost all the Jdt tribes, the: Sidhus are
e fountor o ho of Rajput ono‘m and trace their
ancestry to,' .Y esal or Jesalj, a
Bhatt: Rajput, and founder of the State and erty
of Jesalmir, who was driven from s kingdom by
a successfel rebellion m A D 1180 ; and wandered
northwards where Pirthi Rdj wad then King of
,Ajmir and Dehli and the most 'powerful monarch
in Hindostan Near Hissar, Jesal determined to
settle, and here four sons were born to him, Salvihan,
Kaldn, Hemhel and Pem. ,The third of these,
Hembhel, sackad the town of Hissar, seized a number
of vﬂlages m its neighbourhood, and overran the
country up to the walls of Dehl. He was driven
back by Shamsuddin.Altemas, the thuwrd Tartar
King of Dehly but was afterwards received mto
favour and made Goverpor of the Sirsa and Battin-
da country in A, D 1212 He built the town of
Hangar, where he died 1n 1214, and was succeeded
by hus son Jandra, who was only rema kable as the
father of twenty-one sorfs, from whom as many clans
have fiescended ; Batera bemng the ancestor of the
Sidhus  Manjalrib, son of Batera, rebelled against
the Dehli Governmenteand was captured and be-
headed at Jesalmir He lefi one son, Undra, com-
monly known as Anand Rai, who was the tather of
Kiuwa, the last pure Rajpul of the fanuly Khiwa
first married a Rajputni, but she bore him no chl-
dren; and he then took, a3 a second wife, the daugh-
ter of one Baswr, a Jab zamindar of Neli This
marriage was considered a disgrace by his Rajput
kismen, and Klnwa was ever afferwards known
ag * Kot,” which sigmfies in the Panjabi dialect, an
alloy of metals, or any mferior and degrading ad-
mixture,




%= TSR

TEEhe Pathala State, ]

Khiwa, however, obtained what he desired, an
heir , but the first wife, jealous of
her mival, bribed the nudwife to
aubstitute a girl for the boy, whom she took nto the
Jungle and threw into a diy water-course. Shortly
afterwards a man passing by, saw the mfant,and hav-
g no thuldren of his own, magined that 1t had been
sentby Heaven to console him, so he took 1t home and
adopted 1t 28 hus son  But the midwife was unable
to keep the secret , the Rajputma wife was compelled
to confess her guilt, and, after a long search, the boy
was found and rostored to hig father. He was
named Sidhy, and fiom hum the Sidhu tribe has
denived 1ts name,*

Sulhy, who was, according to Rajput custony

Tho doscendants oy Tobkoned as of the caste of lus
St mother, & Jat, had four sons, Dhar,
sometimes called Debi, Bdr, Sér and Rupach,
From the first has descended the famihies of Kythal,
Jhumba, Aipowh and Sadhowsl, and fiom the second
the Phulkian Chiefs, Sir, the third, has no famuly
of any 1@#6e among his descendants, who, huwever,
are numerous 1 Battinda and Firozpur , while those
of Rupach, the youngest, 1emde at Fir-ki-kot and
Ratrya wn the Furospur district. Bir, the son of
Dur, had two sons, the eldest of whom. Sidtlkara,
did not marry, but became an ascetro, Sitrah, the
younger, had two sons, Jertha and Lakwmba, from
the second of whown the famuly of Attdry, in the
Amutsar distriet, has sprung  His son Harf, gave
his name to Harik{ on the Satlej, near the spot
where the battle of Sobraon was fought, and also
founded the villages of Bhatta and Ghima, Jertha

The birth of Sidhu.

* A wmilar tradition exiets reparding the founder of the Shergu
Jat trive —Fude Pawab Cluefs, pp. 352 462
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had one son, Mahi or Maho, and from him descended,
m successive generations, Gala, Mehra, Hambir and
Burdr, who gave his name to thé Burdr tribe He
was a brave and o successful man and waged con-
tinual warfare with the Jaid and Dhaliwal Jats,
and the Mahammadan Bhattis of Sirsa, who had
sprung fiom the same origmal stock as hunself, also
with the Chattarsil Rajputs, agamnst whom he
fought at Fakarsar, Ther1 and Kot Ladhoha, at
which last place 1t 15 saxd that two thousapd fell on
the side of Burdr, and a still laager number on that
of the Rajputs, while the Fort of Ladhoha passed
mto the possession of the conqueror “Burfir had
two sons, Paur and Dhul, the younger of whom is
she ancestor of the Raja of Faifdkot, and of the
Burdr tribe, which holds almost the whole of the
distriets of Marf, Mudk: and Muktsar, Buchan,
Mehraj, Sultan Khan and Bhadour i the Firozput
district, the whole of Faridket, and many villages
1 Pattiala, Nabha, Jhumba and Malod.

The two brothers quarrelled, and the elder, Paur,
Thovisgof thera-  DOINE Worsted, fell into gfeat pov-
mily erty, in which s farmly remained
for several génerations,till Sanghar restored therr
fortunes WHen the Emperor Babar invaded India
i 1524, Sanghar waited on lwn at Lahore and
enteved lis army wrth a few followers ; but soon
after wards he was killed at the battle of Pénipat, on
the 21st Apul 1526, when Bibar defeated Ibrahun
* Lody with great slaughter, and gamed the Empire
of Dehlt  This victory did not, however, lead him
toforget the services of Sangbar, to whose son Baruam,
he gave the Chaudhriyat® of the waste country

* A Chaudin ¥ was, i the tume of the Empive, the head-man in &
certam District, tor the reveune coliechion of which he was responsibia,
receiving 8 per-centage on the collections  His office was termed * Chane
dlinyat ™ .
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to the south-west of Dehh, which office was con-
firmed to hun by Humayun, the son and suc-
cessor of Bdbar, m 1554 The name of Baidin s
the only one by which this chief 1 hustoneally
known, but 1t was not his original pame, and was
given lum by the Emperos i honor of his bra-
very, and signifies biave, ¢ Buhddar © He lived for
the most part at Nely, the village of Sidhu’s maternal
1elutions, gnd also re-bult Bhudowal, wluch had be-
come descrted.  He was killed about the year 1500,
fighting with the Bhattis, and with lum fell lus
grandson Suttoh  He left two sons, Melraj, ( com-
monly known as Maharaj ) who succeeded to the-’
Chaudlufyat, and Gara), whose descendants people
five villages 1n the Firospur distiict  The only son
of Mohray had been killed in lus father's Iifetime,
and PukXko, the grandson, suoceeded, but he was soon
after halled 10 a skaroush with the Bhattis at Bludo-
wal Ilo had two biothers, Lukho and Cheho , the
descendants of the fast bive in Jakepal , and of the
second nt the village of Chaho, some eight miles
distant from Bhadour m the Ludhiana district  Hus
gons wers Habbal and Mohan, the latter of whom
was confirmed as Chaudhri, but he fell into arrears
with the Government, and finding hunself unable
to puy what way due, and also being much harassed
by his hereditmy foes the Bhattis, he fled to Hansl
and Ylssar, where lus relations were numerous, and,
collectnyg 8 consmderable foiee, retmined home and
defeated the Bhattis near Bludowal By the advice
of Guu Har Govind, the sixth of the Silh prophets,
he founded the willage of Mehraj or Mahara), nam-
myg it after lns great-grandfather
From this village twenty-two others have been
The foumatng o DoOPled, known as the Bdis Mokaray-
Meheaf Lian , and the jJagrdars mhabiting

.
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them, kfown as the Maharggkian Sikhs, are now
upwards of seven thousand m number

Mohan with Ius eldest son Rup Chand, was
killed, according to the cugtom of his tamnly, in a
fight vuth the Bhattis, about the year 1618, and
Ké.la, theDext surviy g son, succeeded to the Chau-
dhriyat and the vuardmmhlp of lug deceased brother’s
sons, Phul and Sanddli  The thres other sons of
Mohan helped to* found Mehtaj, whete thewr descen-
dants still ive,  Soon after Moban’s death, Har Go-
vind agatn vistted Bhidowal, and Kdla, who had
farth m the Guu's power and blessing, told lus
nephews that when they should see the Samt, they
were to place thewr hands on their stomachs as if suf-

“fermng fiom hunger  Tlus they did, and Har Govind

asking the reason, was told by Kdla that the boys
ware staving ¢ What” said the Guru “ matters the
hunger of one belly, when these boys shall satwfy
the hunger of thousands ” ~1le then asked the name
of the chuldien, and on hearing that of Phul (blossom),
he sa1d “ the name shill be a true omen, and he
shall bear many blossoms
Fhul was the second son of Rup Chand, by Mat
e great ancentor Umby, a Jitam Jat woman He
T plie Ehutkian  Was educated by a celebrated fakur
named Sagerpury, wha taught humn
the art of feigming death Ly stoppng his breath,*
an accomphshment which had for nm a most
tiagical result  In the year 1627, Phul left Meh-
raj and founded & village five nules distant, wluch
he called after his own name  He recerved a frmde
¥ Pl ait 2 mennioned several tumes m'the Shastias, and 1 the
Sikh Granth, wnder the hame of LA puranayam or stopping
breath, and in Peisian po (™ habs-t-damw, or rotention of the breath
The Ilpdus belicsod the bLieath was diawn ap mto the aw, which
was sopposed to be the seat of hite.
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or deed of grant from the Empcror Shah Jehan

confirnung to him the effice which had been for so

many years held by his family The prophecy of
Guu Har Govind was folfilled, and Phul had seven
childten from whom have descended many noble
famihes s By lus first wife, Baly, the daughter of a
zamundar of Dilami m Nabha, he had thiee sons,

Tilokha, Rama,*and Rughu, and one daughter, Rénu

Rdwn Kour or Fatoh, whom he marred to a Sirdat

of Ram Das, giving her as a dowy the village of
Bugar, which her descendants stall possess  Fiom
Tilokha have descended the houses of Nabha,
Jhiud and Badrukhan , from Rama the houses of
Bhadour, Pattiala and Maled , and from Rughu, the

Sikhs of Jiundan By s second wife, Rajyi, of”
Sidhant, he had also three sons, Channu, Jhandha
and Takhit Mal The second of these died without

issue, and the descendants of Channu and Takht
Mal, known as the “Laudhghaian” Sikhs, are
Jagirdars of the willage of Gumt:

The death of Phul 1 said to have happen¢d
the following manner The Go-
vernor of Sirjund had ghrown lun
into prison on failure to mabe good hs revenue col-
lections, and Phul, scemg no other wav to escape,
practised the ace omplwhment, he bhad lemnt fiom
Samerpun, and, suspendm«r lus breath and showing
no sign of vitahity, was sapposed by his guarduns to
be doad and lus body was given for cremation to
Ius fuends, the Pathans of Maler Kotly, who con-
veyed 1t to hus home., It so happened that hus fiist
wife, Baly, alone hnew the mysterious power posses-
sed by bur hmsband, and she was absent on a wvisit
to her father The younger wife believing her
husband dead, placed hus budy on the funeiat pile

The death af Phyl
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and burnt him m the orthordox manner Shortly
afterwards Bah aruived, and, hearing of what had
taken place, declared that Phul had been burnt
ahve Raj was so discohcerted by her mustake,
that she abandoned the willage and went to hve
with her hrotherin-law, Sukhan Nand, a Burdr,
while Bah and het children continued to 1eside at
the village of Phul
Previous to the death of Phul, which took
e sacred postor JNACE 1M 1652-—the dates of the
Ganga decease of membets of the fanuly
are not known with any accuracy, and, the reason
1s said to be that 1t was not customary with this
tuibe to convey the ashes of therr dead to Hardwai,
where Brahmans keep up regusters of the death» of
those whose final cercmonies they perform, but to
cast tham Into a <aced pool at the village of Ganga,
m the Moga diviston of the Fuozpur dwénet
This pool acquired sanctity through a fakir named
Kalunath, a Dhaliwal Jat, who, when unpartuned
to accompany a bodv of pigrms to the Ganges at
Hardwar, declined, 'but sent as & substitute, his
staff and gourd, which,he duected should be thrown
mto the sacred river  On the retuin of his fiiends,
he enquired if they had complied with lus duections,
and they 1ephied that they had , but ou visitmg the
pool outside the village, both gourd and staff were
found floating on the surface ot the water Thence
forward the pool was considered holy; pilgrim-
ages were wade to 1t, and 1nfo 1t the ashes of the
dead were thrown It has wvow lost much of its
old sanctity, and, although a far 18 held at Gauga,
annually, at the Basakhy, 1t 1s only the Jhin Jats
of the Cis-Satle) and the Ramdna Dhabwal Jas,
who hold 1t in respect
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The genealogy of the family, from the, date of
Gencatogy of me  the fight of Jesal from his capital,

Famudy till the death of Phul, including
twenty-nine generations, 1s as below —

Jh?AL

Bnl’vﬂmn, KdLn Helnhsl. yLm,

Jsndea

Batora
Mangalrob

Ui n‘drn.
Ebiwa,

BldLu

Dhar Bur By Rupach

Avetor o o pa

the houses T

al hythal, v

Jhuphn, ~ Bitruch

Arnonl

wnd 8uds

howal "

) !
Jorina, Lakamba
+
M Hear:

Ancestor of
Q the  Atgari
faqul

1]
He\n. d
H"mbig
Bu:-nr

1
Pu!lr Dhu}

§
Bairath » Battargal

! Ancest i of
) TN the  Burar
S I e osan of

1 e Rojon
Mehns li(ao Kiha Furnlkok,
Saughar

Barnm

1
Mebraj  Gnrig
Buttol

H T — "““‘“l
Pukke Lukko [

H-‘\:;&L llu\:u.

Rup (!hmd k:‘h.

[UPENIDE -

|
Bandals, Phul
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From Tilokha, the eldest son of Chaudhri Phul,

1o sons o Chaw.  18VE descended, as has before been
anvi Puatand thetw  sa1d, the famibes of Nabha and
dosnendants Jhind. Rdima, the ancestor of the
Pattiala fanuly, was the second son of Phul  These
brothers, the sons of the Chaudhry’s first narmage,
appear, after hus death, to have at once taken the
lead i the family They induced thewr four half-
brothers, sons of the sceond marriage, to give up all
claam to the estates of their father on the ground
that they were unable to pay their quota of the
dues demanded by the Imperial authorities at Dehly,
and they dinided the ancestral land betwben them-
selves , Tilokha, the elder, succeeding to the office
of Chaudhri  The willage of Gumts was assigned to
Chanu, Jhandu and Takht Mal; the younger sons of
Phul, and 1 shll mhabited by therr descendants,
who are known as the Laudhghanan® Sirdars

The willage of Bha:s Rupa was founded by the

The ownding of brothers Tulokha and Rama, about
thewiiage of Ehat  the year 1680, and, being ‘held to
T ® the present day by the Phulkian
Chiefs in equa.l shates, 1 the best possible proof of
the onigmal équahty of the houses of Pattinla,
Jhind, l\abha, Bhadour and Malod When the
question of the supremacy of Pattiala over Bhadour
was pending m 1854, the Maharaja stated that s
ancestor had given Bhadour a share in this village
to strengthen himself against the probable eneroach-
ments of Nabba and Jhind, the real truth being
that Rama and Tilokha shared equally, and thewr
sons inhenited therr shares according to custom and

* Landh maguifies ¢ small m the Punjabi dialect , ghay—house,” and
“l ly fies the yonuges raueh
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Hindu law ; hefore the names of Nabha, Pattiala
and Jhind were known and while therr feuds and
rivalngs were still unborn.  The willage of Bha
Rupa 1 situated in Nabha terrtory, and about eight
miles to the north of the town of Phul

Rughu, the sixth and last son, settled in the
village of Jiundan, about eight miles to the south-
west of Phul . From tlus village he had taken hus
wife, and lus descendants still own ris Tands

The Pattiota ge- The following 13 the Pattiala
neatoyy genealogy —
PRUL
n
| D
Tiiokha, Ru'm\ Rug]hu, Chann Shandu Taxhe 80l
rocentm of nneestor of RO Y
£t Runtlicy e Jtuuden Ancestors of the Laudhgharis famier
of Natin fanuly
end Jhiod, a - >
z x
- T
Dima  Subte  Bej AlhSmgd  Bulbte  Budie. Todia,
eneosior of 417 ancestar of
the Bhndour  Jodk, the Mwod
Sanuly ity
' &
Sardut Singh, B Pardhan ‘Bhumion Stogh Lal Bugh
d 1758 M Sl Sl d 17 d 1718
i Bl gundr,
B0 i Bugin
- a
o !
Hinmat Sigh Rays Amnr Siugh,
d y“ 4. it
T T 1 1
B Chan i Kour Budh 8iny ” B 8zhih hour ja Babrb Singh,
‘BL..U‘S‘,i § Lol 7 Baj a n‘ns. "
Buagh vt Rabon l
R i X t )
B Bam Kour B, Povm Eour Mahnrags Jit Sangh,
M Uan Binph M hbarak Havam Hingh
Salua sangh, 4. 1645
Bubadia '
t |
M;I:‘J 1 Nh‘nnu Dip 9mgh
x g 1p 9y
4 la&g‘. A,' wed
1 ] 1 —hl
B Baannt Reur Daughter B Rishun EKour, Mokarays Ma=
A Rous Dhok Phs‘l a;“\:l l;l ﬁ:a‘l of hmdar Blagh,
hurty ur
pur nﬁ“- 4w, Son 1887

* Phe descondants of Rughu are raere ramindars. They are 3210
number, and thewr holding i~ worth Re. 2,079 per annum
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Réma, or Rém Chand, 18 sud to have first
v tho founaoy  DStINGUIshed Inmself by attacking
of the Pastiata ra- and dispersmg a large body of
mily,
marauders who were passing the
village of Phul laden with plunder, and, obtaining
by bus success some considorable wealth, he fuunded
the village of Rampur, and began, after the example
of the robbers he had despoled, to pttack such of
his neighbours as were less powerful than himself.
He made 8 1a1d mte the. Bhatti country and de-
feated Hassan Khan, one of the old enemues of his
farmly, with much loss, near the village of Chandah,
and carried off much spoil, money, horses and cat-
tle His next victory was over the Muhammnadan
Chief of Kot, whom he defeated after a sharp ﬁo'ht,
and plundered lus cawnp .

The Debli Empire was at thus time fast falling

fe oneains me 10 decay, and could with difficulty
Cottnstorstip of the  malntain its authority m the out-
Fungte aka lymng districts beyond the Jamna
Réms, thought the opportunity & good one to mirease
his owe authority , and as he had a friend at the
Court of the Muhammadan Governor of Snhmd, m
the person of ks cousin €hen Smgh, he was able to
obtamn permussion to' supermtend what was then
known as the jungle 1lka o waste distriet, on pro-
mise of payment of all lus arréars of revenue  Chen
Singh was to act with hum as Joint-Governor , but,
as might haye been anticipated, the cousmns soon
guarrelled  Chen Singh, through whose influence
alone the appomtment had been obtamned, and who
‘had access to the Swrhind Darbai, was not content
with his shame of the income of the district, and
tried to obtan areversal of this order 1n Rama’s favor,
and obtain the whole distiet for umself, Hearmng
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of this mtrigue, Rama lost no time in fakiig action

Hiemmdororhis 0 Mmantam his  authonty, and
coustr. caused his cousin Chen Singh to be
murdered n the Fandkot territory, whither he had
gune on business

This c1ume was never punished, nor even -
vestigated by the Dehli Govern-

Ana geath. ment, which had enough to do
to take care of itself, but it did not go unavenged,
for Bfru and Ugar Sen the sons of Chen Singh,
watching their opportumty, killed Rama at Kotla,
mn the year,1714. -

"At the time of his death Rama was not far
from his exghtioth year. He was a follower of Guru;
Govind Singh, although neither he nor his sons,
with the exception of Ala Singh and Ram Singh,
took the name of Singh as an affix to their own,

He married S4b, the daughter of
Thesons of Ramos o Bhuttar zarmndar of Nénun, who
bore hum six sons, Duna, Subha, Ala Singh, Bakhta,
Ladha, and Budha The first of these was the
founder of the Bhadour fanuly  Subha, the second
son, dicd in 1729, and his only son, Jodh, the same
year , and Hodwne, which he had conquered and
made lis rewidonce, came mto the possession of
his biother Ala Singh. Bakhta, the fourth son, was
the ancestor of the Malod famuly, while of the last
two brothers, Budha and Ladha, who tock the name
of Rain Singh, no descendants are now hving

A detaled account will hereafter be given of

he amitics of the famihies of Bhadour and Malod,
Bhedour and Me-  which were soon overshadowed by
the more powerful Pathala house.

But there seems no truth whatever in the state-
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ment niade by Pattiala that, from the tmme of the
death of his father, Ala Smgh claimed, supremacy
over lus brothers and that t.hey rendered him service
as the head of the house Each brother was abso-
Tho Phumsian e~ 1ntely independent ;- and of two or
e and benemd . more joined 1n a common gnterprise,
dentofcachother. 1t was on terms of perfect cequality
Ala Singh was not, nioreover, the eldest son of
Rama, a5 Pathiala authonities wonld wish to prove,
but the third son, and Duna, the Bhadom ancestor,
would have been the head of the family, had -primo-
gentture becn then the 1ule  But it was only after
the time of Ala Swngh, the founder of the Cluefshup
of Pattiala, that prunogemture wa§ adopted as the
role of that famnly, if indeed it *was formally
adopted, for the Rajas demed or asserted 1t ay
seemed most convement to themselves At any
rate, before Ala Singh’s death, the rule which pro-
vailed mn the Phullian fanuly, as among the Jat
Bikhs genetally, was that of equal division between
the sons , and, among the smaller Phulkian famihes,
this custow, more or less modified, obtans to the
present day  Nabha, Jhind and Pattiala alone of
the thuteen Phulkian houses assert the tule of prin-
ogeniture, and even these have, mole than once,
endeavouwred to set 1t aside
Ala Singh was twenty-three yonrs of age when
sre singn e D18 father was murdered, andwhis
thadsono tama  fingf thought was to avenge hun
For sometime no opportunity occurred, but, about
two years after Rama’s death, his assassms, Kamo-
la, Birn and Ugarsen, with & small body of attend-
auts, pad a vist to Gumts, anformation of which
havmg reached Ala Singh and his brother Subla,
they hastily collected a few horsemen, surounded

k3




he TOattiala SState, 15

the village, and attacked them Kamolasand his
followers made a gallant defence, but were over-
pow er‘ed, and Biru,- Kamola and eighteen of their
He avonges wa  Sttendants, ‘were slun  Ugarsen,
Fathar’s doath escaping, fled to Serticke, which was
at once attacked and pillaged, and Ugarsen had
agamn to scek safefy m flight

Soon after this Ala Singh establised a Thana
o Police station 1 Sangnah, at the request, 1t 18
sard, of the people of that place, who suffered from
the oppression of the Cluefs of Kot and Jagifon,
and he held the village though its former owners
tried their best to oust lum  Tn 1718 he left Bha-
o toaves Buadour G0Ur to Ins elder brother Duna.,a
tohinvvother Dana  and  yebuilt Bn.rn.i.la, which had
fallen mto runs, and where he took’ up his residence
Here one of Ala Singli's most powerful and trouble-
sume neighlboms was Solmdo Khan, a Muhammadan
of Rajput onigin, who owned the village of Nima, but
whose occupation was rather robbery than husban-
thy, and who, besides 8300 horsemen of hig own,
could ecount on the acsistance of Rar Kalha, the
Cluef of Kot, his relation, who was too powerful
for Ala Singh to care to offend him, Sohnde Khan
died 1n 1731, and s adopted son Nigdlu Khan,
disgusted at bemyg refusad a share with the two sons
of the deceased, took service with Ala Smgh, and
persuaded Sardul Singh, the son of the latter, to
Jom hun o an attack upon the village of Niuua,
which they eaptwred and destroyed.

When the Rai of Kot, who wasthen a power-
ful Chief, heard of this, he deter-

M in attacked by
Bt Katka or ot, nuned fo pumsh the sudacious

bathetdadiooens kb, and collected a large force
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led by Dalel Khan of Halwérah, Kutbuddin Khan
of Mulsian, and other Rajputs of Thattar and Tal-
wandi of the same caste as Sohnde Khan; Jamdl
Khan, Chaef of Maler Kotlg, and Nawab Syad Asad
Ali Khan, the Imperial General of the Jalandhar
Doab Outsidethewallsof Barnalaabattle wasfought,
11 which fortune declared oo the side of Alu Singh,

Ana the Tmporiat  10r Ased Alh Khan having fallen
Generalissiain. - garly n the day, lus troops became
disheartened and withdrew from the field. The
Maler Kotla and Kot troops followed the example,
and the retreat soon became a rout, 1 which the
Sikhs took many prisoners and the grester pa.rt of
the enemy’s baggage,

This brilhant success at once” made a great
The fame of aia 1prOvement in the position of Ala
Stngh inoreases Singh. He was looked upon as
one of the most rsing Chuefs, under whom both
glory and plunder might be won , and many a zamn-
dar, from across the Satlej, came to Barnala to take
service, sometimes alone, sometimes with two or
three horsemen behind him, Al that a Sikh Chief
asked, in these days, from a follower, was a horse
and » matchlock, ATl ‘that follower asked was
protection and permission to plunder in the name of
God and the Guru, under the banner of the Chief,

There was little question of pay. Al Sikhs

Tne quatities ne=  Were theoretically equal, their reh-
sessaryfora Ghlef:  gnon in ats first youth was too pure
a theocracy to allow distinctions of rank among ite
adherents, and he who, kike Amar Singh Mapthia,
could pierce a tree through with an arrow, or, like
Har Singh Nalwa, could kill a tiger with a blow of
lus sword, might soon nde with followers, behind
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hium, snd call himself a Swdar The time came
when, like the Jews, the Sikhs took a King, and,
m some degree, forgot the dream of equality which
had betn 8o dear to them * But all the great fami-
lies north and south of the Satley have the same
origin  the law of foree, the keen sword end the
strong hand, were the foundations upon which Sikh
gociety, as ndeed every other society m the world,
was reared  Thus to attract followers by his power
and suocess was the man desire of every Sikh
who they were or what Were therr antecedents 'was
2 matter of Iittle consequence, if only they could
fight and rde, and this almost every Sikh could do,
as the Enghsh discovered in 1845 and 1849,

In these days every willage became a forty

sixn tife nap, built on e igh mound to overlook
1700, the plain country, with but one
entrance and narrow lanes wn which two men could
hardly walk abreast A neighbowr was synonymous
with an enemy, and the husbandmen ploughed their
ficlds with their matchlocks by their mde. No man
could conaider his land, hus horse, or his wife his
own, uuless he was strong enough to defend them ;
for although the Sikh leaders were: best pleased
with the spoil of Muhammadans or the capture of
an Imperml convoy, they were more robbers
The Sucne wers than patriots, and plundered with
wevoraorualrace.  yyych impartielity One thing in
therr fuvor must be smd, which raises them far above
the Pmdans of Central India or the Dacaits of
Bengal - they fought and plundered hke men, and

* Raopt dingh never forgot to humow the democratic feeling or
rather the theocratic fooling of the Sikhs  He professed to rule “ by the
grace of God * hike any Christian hing | the pame of the Gurn was on hig
wing, and he was no move than chosen leader of the people, with whom
he way always popalar, thongh the Chivts had kttle love for him,
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not hke,demons. 'There are few stories m Sikh
history of outrage to women and torture to men,
such as stam the pages of South Indian history
with cruelty and blood Many a pretty Jatmr gl
was, 1t 19 true, carned off 1n a foray, but she was
generally @ willing captive  She had been taught
to consider courage and strength the only quahties
to desire m & husba.nd and was quite ready to yeld
herself o prize to the man who had won her m farr
fight, and who would make her his lawful wife,
though he had ulled her brothers and burned thern
vﬂla.ge Yet, while the Sikhs were undoubted rob-
bers, and though cattle lifting was the on® honorable
profession amongst theny, as on the Seottish border
& few hundred years ago, therr enthusiasm for their
faith, their hated to the Muhammadans® who had
80 long trampled them under foot, who had killed
their prophets and thrown down their altars, gave
them a eertain digmty, end to thewr objects and
expeditions an almost national interest
But they were at no time a united people.
. Dunng the eighteenth eentury each
moven o untied peos leader was absolutely mdep:det
le. conquetmg and plundering on s
own account; and only jommg other Chiefs to
make an attack on the common encmy, the Muham-
maden Ranpt Singh contrived to make a com-
pact kungdoni out of the Punjab proper, north of
the Bias, buthe did not umite the Sikh people
generally under his rule. At the time of hs
greatest power, 1n 1830, there may have been
1,250,000 Sikhs n the whole Punjab. But of these
500,000 hived to the south of the Satlej, under the
rule of Chuefs who looked upon Ranjit Singh as an
npstart and hated him even more than they feered
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him, if indeed tlug were possible  The Sikhs of the
Crs-Sutle) States had, indeed, a secret. sympathy
with thewr northern co-religiomists, as was very
evident during the Satley campaign , but they had
nover united with them foxr any common object
during the nmetoenth centwy Iven the Sikhs
of tho Julandhar Doab were only patially under
the 1ule of Ranpt Singh  Their leader was
the Ahluwalia Chuef, who olaimed to be the equal
of the Mabaiaja; and although he was com-
pelled to send a (ontmmgent to every campaign
and often to attend msclf, yet. he hated the
Lahorg Government fully as much as the Cis
Sutley Chicfs, and always looked for protection and
countenance to the English, who, had they chosen,
myght have moved therr boundary to the Bias
thuty five yoars earhier than they did, and have
mamtamed themselves there without a struggle
But 1t was thought politic to leave a barmer of
mdcpendent Cluefs betweon British torritory and,
that of Lahore, a policy mtelhgible enough and
pethaps wise, but demied o1 forgotten on the only
pccastons when 3t should have been remembered,

The victory of Ala Smgh over the Afghang

st Stk mepes  WAS gamned m 1731, and he then
woron the shattis gopm attacked his hereditary® foes
the Bhattis, the Cluef ot whom was Muhammad
Amfr Khan, son of Ilussan Khan of Bhatner , with
lus followas and relatives Allahdad Khan of Buhd,
Wilwvat Khan and Jndyat Khan of Hamau., The
Bhatt: country was, however, a very ditheult one to
wonyuer, nith little forage and  lews water, wlale_the
mbabitants were as warhke as the Sikhs. Ala
ingh made no unpression upon them worthy, of
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record, though, for ten years, a desultory warfare
was carried on, with varymg results,

, About this tune Ala Singh made friends with
Be altes wimsaty ANl Muhammad Khban, a Hindu
withthafiondtitas  oonyery of Rampur in Rohlkand,
who had been adopted by a Muhammadap officer,
and who founded s Rohilla State in the couniry
between, the upper Ganges and the hills In 1741,
however, Al Muhammad was a servant of the
Empire, and had charge of the sub-divimon of Sir-
hind  Ala Singh accompamed him on several ex-
peditions, 6ne of them’ aganst Rar Kalha of Ko,
who was defeated and fled to Pdkpattan, hus brother,
Mokhani Khan, being kulled  But the Sikh Chuef
was too independent: to be long on good terms with
any Imperal officer, and Ke soon saw that his
resudence at the Court of AL Muhammad would be
dangerous and asked for us dismussal.

This the Governor refused, arrested him
Histmprisonment  20d threw: lum into prison, where
and ercope be mught have. perished but for
the devotion of one of his followers who had no
very good reason to lsve hum This was Karma,
one of the relations of Chen Singh, who, 1t will be
remembereqd, was murdered by Ala Singh’s father
He had entered the Pattiala’ service, but knew that
he was thought not to have forgotten the famuly
feud and to be cousequently a dangerous character.
To prove hig devotion to his leader, he made his
way at mght to the place where Ala Singh was
impnisoned, and, changing clothes with him, allowed
him to make his escape  This fidelity was not un-
rewarded, Karma became the most trusted of Ala
Singh’s followers, and the family of Chen Singh was




The Pattala SState, 21

allowed to return to their home and rebulid their
desertod village '

Sooh after this, Ak Muhammad left Sirhind
Rorednesreias- 107 Rohilkand, so that the quarrel
fory vitlages between hum and Ala Singh ended ,
and the latter had leisure to reduce to submission
several refractory villages, which had been mduced
by Sudar Jodh Singh of Battinda to throw off his
anthonty, and this work Le successfully accomphished
m about five months

In the year 1749, Sirdar Ala Singh commenced
ama puitts tng b0 butld the Fort of Bhawsmgarh,
Fort of Brawaui- but the progress of the work was
garh interrupted by a petty Rajput °
Chieftam of the neighbourhood, named Fand Khan,
who fancied that his own independonce would be 1
danger by a fort so near his villaga Not beng
able himself to storm the building, he set out for
Sulund to invoke the aid of the Tmperial Governor
But Ala Singh had heard: of s intention, and
intercepting hum,routed his party with considerable
Joss und sewged all hus land, about one-fourth of the
Samdna parganah

Thive yeats later the distiiet of Sandwar was

e comquers sang. CORGuered for Ala Singh b): one
Sar ond fuunts of hus Swdws, Gurbak<h Smgh
Kidluha, The distizet was known

as Chamdsi, (eghty-fow) from the number of 1ts
villygus, one of which was Pattiala, now the capital
of tha tanitory, where Ala Sungh, m the year 1733,
bult a mud fort in ovder to overawe his new pos-
sessiong, and left Sirdar Gurbaksh Smgh i charye
Diwan Lachwan Narawn, one of the othcers of
Samand Khan or Abul Samad Khan of Suhind
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fled tosthis Chuef for protection, and hus surronder
was at once demanded by ke master; ~who, bewng
refused, marched to Sanawar to enforce his demand
Sirdar Gurbaksh Simgh then sent the Diwan to
Pattiala, as bemng a place of greater securtty, and,
Joming the force of Ala Singh, they together attack-
ed Abul Sainad Khan and defuated bum, securing &
large quantity of plundex

The next expedition of the Chief was aganst

I Company o Jodh or Jedh Smgh, &, erd'u‘ whe
e na e possessed the district of Battinda,
Battnda and aganst whom Bhel Gurbaksh
Smgh the founder of the Bhaikian fawuly of Kythal,
had asked assigtance. Ala Smgh sent 2 consder-
ablo force, but hig, troops were repulsed, and he then
called to hug aud the Sikhs from the north of the
Satlej, who were only too glad to assist in an Yy expe-
dition where plunder was to be obtamed. They
overran and pillaged the country, and then 1ecrossed
the Satlg;, leaving Bha (xuxba.ksh Swghmm posscs.,
sion™ - Ala vah then turged Ius arms agwnst
Indyat-Khan ancl Wiliyat Khan, the Ra_)put Cluefs
of Buhdy and Buloda,, who were somewbat trouble.
some nelghbqurs They ealled to thewr aid the
Bhatty Chaefs, Hastan Khan and Muhammad Amin
Khan, but these were uny xlhng to mnterfere, and the
Rajput« were compellod to fight alone, which they
thd gallantly, being themselves, killed in the ficld
with soveral hundzed of therr followels The Puttr-
ala Chuef lost almost as many | men, but he seized
the distaict of Buloda, which he soon afterwards
surrendered to Bhat Gmba]§sh Smgh The distrrct

¥ An'account of the Kythal family 15 ginen later ®
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e “aimrios op OF Mung was next added fo the
Mung conguered oy Pattiala termtory, by Lal Singh,
: gon of Sirdar Ala Smgh  Ths
young man was brave and energetic, and begged lus
father to make over to hum some territory to manage.
Ala Sungh told him to win 1t tor himself He jook
counsel with Sirdar , Khan, the onginal proprietor
of Mung, who hsd been expelled by the Bhatt
Chiefs, Abu Xhan and Salim Khan. and his assist-
ance was readily given, for he hoped, if not to
recover the district for himself, to avenge himself
wpon those who had dispossessed im  While the
Bhattt Chuefs were absent, Sirdar Khan made his
way wnto the fort with a few followers, and signalled
his success to Lal Singh, who brought up the mamn -
body of the troops and took possession of the village
and adjomng distniet, which has been held by Pat-
tiala ever since " g St
Sirdar Lel Singh and his father then overran
Ala Singh again  the district of Sohdna,’ Jamdlpur,
astacks the Bhattte:  Dharsdl and Shikdrpur, belonging
to Muhammad Amin Kban and Muhanmad Hassan
Khan, Bhattis These Chiefs invited the Im-
perinl Governor of Hissar to help them, and he sent
a detachment’, but, in the engagement which fol-
lowed, at Khodal near Akalghar, the Bhattis were
defeated ; nor was their second venture more for-
tunate, for, after three days shirmishiog, Ala Singh
made a night attack on the Bhatti camp which was
completely successful and Muhammad Amin escaped
with difheulty and fled to HMissar® He then, to
ensure covdial assistance from Nawab Nasfr Khan,
the Governor, gave hum his daughter i marriage
sod set to work ta rmse as large a foree as possible,
hoping to 1etneve his past defeats, The Sikhs and
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the Bhattis, supported by the Imperial troops, met
- at Dharsil, but nerther party cared to rsk a gene-
- ral engagement For seven or eight days the
hostile forces lay opposte each other, skumshing
and fighting w a desultory manner, and it was
more the chance of the death of Nasfr Khan, the
Governor, which gave the wictory to the Sikhs,
for the Imperal troops disheartened by the loss of
thew leader loft the field, and the Bhattis were then
gk defoats'thom “at once attacked by Ala Singh with
it great lose, 4. all lug troops and put to ﬂlghb with
greatloss This engagement, which.
did much to consolidate Ala Smgh’s pewer and m-
crease hus reputation, was fought in 1757
For ten years previous to this time, the Durdim
tho invasions oy T0ODArch of Afghamstan, Ahmad
ammadshos Dwra-  Shah, hed made almost annual ex-
i of savut peditions mto Hindostan, and, m
1748, 1756 and 1761, had marched as_far south as
Suhind and Deblr  The conduct of the Prmee to-
wards the Sikhs was generally eonciliatory, and he
would have been glad to enlist them on s sds,
first aganst the Dehls Government and then agamnst
' the Mahiatéas, whom he defeated m turn  But the
* Sikhs, although they hated the Dehli Governinent,
4 bore no love to the Afghans They had no wish to
. axd 1n buildng up at Debli an empire stronger than
that which preceded 1t, and te bind the yoke more
" firmly on their own necks They were hoping for a
Sikh republic and & time when all Northern India
would be the hentage of the Khalsa; when all hos-
tide creeds should have fallen before the sword of the
Guru  Besides this, they were unable to resist the
temptation to plunder which the presence of a large
army, with an immense train of baggage and innu-
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merable eamp-followers imphed , and they, hovered
about the Afghan line of march, cutting off supphes
and doing what damage they could, but never mak-
ing & direct attack, for thewrr own disciphne was so
slight that they entertained a reasonable dread of
regular troops,

Ahmad Shah had, 1 1761, appomted Zin Khan
The sisra artace 88 the Governor at Sirhind, and the
o e . moment the Durdmt monarch had
Biehind turned his face homewards, the
Sikhs attached his Lieutenant, and 1t would have
been duficult for Zin Khan to hold hus own, had 1t
not been for the ad of several Muhammadan Chuefs
in the neighbourhood, among them Jamdl Khan of
Maler Kotla and Rar Kalha of Rakot The
nest year Ahmad Shah agan invaded India, and
deterunined to punish the Sikhs for therr audacity
1 attacking Sichind,  All the Phullnan Chiefs, the,
anmod snan ve. Snghpurias, the Faizullapurias, the
tuimeand tho Sk Phays of Kythal, Jassa Singh Ahlu-
colleat o oppase
Wi, butersustery  Walia, and many others, had cols
defoatad lected to oppose the passage of the
Shah, nosr Barpala, which was then the chief
town of the Pattiala territory The Sikhs, for
the fust tume, met the Afghans in the open
ficld, and the result’ was the most crushing de~
foat thut they had ever recaived, therr loss beng
estimated at 20,000 men, though this 18 probably an
exaggeration. The Afghan troops then took pos-,
session of Barnala and plundered it. Ala Singh
Ala Singh taken WaS captured and taken before
prisonen, yut por. Ahmad Shah, and a ransom of
o Zaja four lakhs of rupees was demanded
for lus life, Ths, the Ciuef, with sume difficulty,
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peid, and Ahmpd Shah, who was a man of grest
sagacity, thinlung it would be wiser to concihiate
the Sikhs after ha.vmcr given them, m thew late
defeat, so convineing a proof of s power, embraced
Ala Singh, and gave hum a dress of honor with the
title of Raja

It was, in March 1762, that Ale Singh obtamed

Tho consequences ‘bI18 title, and the jealousy end
of govd fortune wndignation of , the other : Chiefs
was very great They declared that he had be-
trayed them, and that the title was the price of his
treachery , and that it was unworthy for a Sikh
to bear a’title conferred.by a Mubammadan, a
foreigner and an enemy . The Sikhs were ready to
turn upon Ala Singh end. avenge upon him thewr
defeat, had 1t not "been for Sirdar Jassa Smgh
Ahluwaha, who was at this tune far more influential
than Ala Singh himself, and, who took Ius side in the
dispute  Matters were atlength smoothed over, but
1t was necessary for Ala Smgh to prove by his actions
that he was not a servant of the Durdni King No
sooner had Ahmad Shah returned to Kabul, than
the Sikhs began to recover their courage and to
coalesce agamst the Muhammadans The confed-
eracies, both north and south of the Satley, for
once laid amde their feuds and jealousies and umted
to make one great effort against Sirhind, which the
Sikhs especially bated, as 1t was there that the two
sons of Gura Govind Singh had been put to death by~
the Muhammeadans, Ala Singh jomed with ardour
n the expedition, for he had to clear his character
in the eyes of s countrymen The Sikh confed-
eracies, from the north of the Satlej assembled 1
great numbers 1n the neighbourhood of Sirhind,
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The stxun again 2fter ‘having taken possession of
vt Doy the tawn and fort of Kussur, be-
ber 1763 low Lahore, and Ala Siigh, with
several' of the other Phuikian Chiefs, jomed them,
tl the army, almost entirely horse, numbered
23,000 men,  Zin Khan, the Governor of Sirhind,
trusting to that dread of regular troops which the
Sikhs had ever shown, came without the town to
give them battle, but he was killed and s force
ulterly routed The Sikhs nmmediately took pos-
session of the town, which they alinost completely
dustroyed, to avenge the murder of the children' of
their prophet, and the provmee of Sihind was

The town mnte Givided among the conquerors
aver to Jla Singh.  The town and its neighbourhood
wag made over to Raja AlaSingh, chuefly through
the influence of Sirdar Gurbaksh Singh, s friend
and ancphew of the great Singhpuria Chuef, Kapur
Singh, and other portions became the property of
the Chamkor, Rupai, Sialba, Buia, Kythal and
mhababad Cluefs, and are in pmt held by them
tu the present day Als Singh made no at-
tempt to rebwld the city of Sirhind, which 1s
still conaidered nceursed by the Sikhs, “but removed
the gieater number of the inhalatants o lis new
town of Pattinla, where he soon afterwards built a
vlasonry fort fiom the proceeds of the custom
duties collected at Snlund which was on the high
road betweon Kabul and Debhly, a position to wluch
the nusfortune of its baing thrice sacked was, mm a
goat measure, attributable

The next year the Durdni monarch agnin in-
tomet nana  Vaded India, but he was too wive
makauoatrempt o to attempt the experiment of plac-

reesor Surkand - « .
mg another Governor in Sirhind,
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to succeed and share the fate of the unfortunate
Zin Khan. He received Ala Smgh with an ap-
pearance of cordiality, and granted hun the Chief-
ship of the chalka or district, on his agreang to
pay three and a half lakhs of rupees a year, as
revenue. A portion of this was pard at once and
Ala Singh promised to remt the remamnder to
Kebul, but of the fulfilment of this promise there
is no record. Hig grand-daughter, Bibi Rajinda, the
only child of his son Bhumian Singh, who had died
m 1749, offered mdeed to pay the balance for hum ,
but this offer Ala Singh did not accept, pleading
the Hindu rule which prohibits 2 man trom bor-
rowmng or bemng under an obhgation to lus sister or
s daughter He probably thouglt, and with
justice, that Ahmad Shah at Kabul would be a
creditor more easy to evade than Bibx Rajinda at
Pattiala.
Raja Ala Smgh accompanmed Ahmad Shah on
Tho death op 47a 1S TEturn journey as far as Lahore,
Singhd D 1765 gnd  then returned to Pattula,
where he died in August 1765
Among the Sikh Chiefs of lus day, Ala Smgh
was certaanly one of the most dis-
tinguished. He was gallant and
at the same .tume prudent, and lad strongly the
foundations of the most important of the Cis-Satle)
States It is not easy to determine hus exact rela-
tive position with reference to other Chiefs, for the
number of troops which each could bring into the
field 18 exther exaggerated or unknown, but he was
probably the most powerful Chief south of the
Satlej ; although the Kythal family soon becane
dangerous rivals, and not less so that they were
related to the Phulkian house Of Jassa Singh Ahlu-

His ¢chai acter
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walia, the Pattiala. Chief always showed great
Jealousy, which the remembranee of his good offices
with the Sikhs, after the obnoxious title of Raja
had becn conferred-by Ahmad Shah, did not dispel
Indeed, after the conquest of Snhund, and when
Jassa Bugh had reerossed the Satle), Ala Singh
suized hus share of the plunder, eight willages, and
held them 1n spite of protests and force

Al Singh only marred one wife, Fattoh, the
doughter of Chowdhri Kbhdna, a
Ttlo famity Subhrn zanundar of Kaleke A
stors was told of her that, at her birth, her mother,
disappointed at having a daughter “when she had
emrnostly desired a son, put the new born child 1’
an entthen vesseland buried it in the ground. A
wandering mendicant of the mame of Devi Dass,
happening to pass and secing the mather 1 tears,
enguired the cause of her grief She confessed to
lmm-what she had done, and the mondicant told her
to distnter the clnld, for of her would be born a
famous race, which should rule all the neighbourny
country  The duld wastaken out of the greund
anhurt, and eventually beeame the wife of Ala
Singh, beaning hum - thieer sons, SBardul Singh,
Bunuan Smgh, and Lal Singh, all of whom died n the
hic-time  of thon father, and a daughter, Bila
Pardhan, who was marned to a zammdar of small
conswderation, and nothing is known of her descen-
dunis, :

Sardal Singh, the eldest sonmarried, as hus
sardut singh, nis st wife, the daughter of a Suwdar
wideat son at Bhikhe, who became the mother
of Mahmoja Amm Smgh. Hu second wife was
the widow of his fitst coussn Jodh, whom he married
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accordidg to Sikh custom, by Aarewg or chaddar
ddlna, a ssmple and unorthordox rite, always used m
the marnages of widows  Iattleis known of Sardul
Singh who died 1n 1753 He was a aave soldier,
but most of the Sikhs were brave , and he died
fiom hard drimking, a viutue as commion asbravery
among his countiymen

Bhumian Singh, the second son, left one
The secona som, daughter, Bibi Rajinds, who has
Bhumian Hngh before been mentioned She was
married to Tiok Chand, Chaudhri of Bhagwara,
who dicd before her, and she succeeded to hex hus-
band’s property according to Sikh custom “The
. suceession to the proporty on hor death was claimed
by her grandson Jodh Singh, a daughter’s son  Ac-
cording to Sikh custom no estate can descénd 1 the
female lmne and the sons of daughters are not
counted among the legnl hens Chubhar Mal, the
brother of Rajinda’s husband consequently ejected
Jodh Singh and put hum to death, and the fauuly of
the latter have now become extinct, though a som,
Salub Singh by name, was hiving m 1820

¥
The youngest son, Lal Singh, died childless,
_Zal singh, e ®0d from the same cause as Ius
poungest son brother, excesstve dunkmg  Ie
added Ming to the Pattiala terntory Ilis widow
Biby Bliagan survived lum many yoears

When Raja Ala Smgh died, thete were two

e suocesston to Clarmants for the Chiefship, 1Tun-
Toaju Ata Singh mat Smgh and Amar Singh, the
sons of Smdul Smgh and the grandsons of the late
Raja  Of.these, Hunmat Singh was the elder by
scveral years, Luthe was the 1wssue of an wregular
mairiage, his mother, as hasbefore been mentioned,
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haviug been the widow of Jodh, the first cousm of
Sardul Singh.

Tle custom of chaddar ddlna (throwmg the
Tha chaddar dat-  SDect), or kas e, Mairiage, was um-
ua wmarilage versal among the Sikhs, and the
cluldien ot such manjuges were often considered 1n-
fertor m position to those of the regular marnmage
( shdds or vydk ) contracted with a virgm and wath
all the ceremonies customary among the Hindus
The most wmmon, us well as the most mghly re-
spected form of Rarewa, 15 wheie a widow 13 taken
to wife by hor husband’s brother, a custom which
seems to Lave fomaly prevailed among the Jews
1f a widow (hose to 1ofuse this new alliance, she
was 1t Liberty to do »o, but m that case her life
was as mserable and austere as that of the ordinary
Hindu wadow , and few Sikh women, consequently,
refused to remary, though they generally chose the
vounger brother of thew hushand, in prefeience to
the clder, whow strict custom assigned to them

The matiage of & widow with the cousmn of
har husband, as was the case with the mother of
Twunat Singh, was considored less reputable, and
there was some doubt as to the legitamacy of the
wswu  Stdl less 1espectable were marmages with
widow s unconnected with the fundy or women of
strange clan and caste, which were cousidered alto-
g thar mrregular, hittle better than concubmage, and
the iwunehad no right to succeed to the Poperty,
road ot pasonal, of the tather, and could only clum
2 batg wantenanee

Ama Singh, the second son of Sardul Smgh,

Resn twor Sk WASborn 1n 1747, and was, conse-
succveds i jatkers  quonily, eightecn jears old when’
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lus grandfather died He and s grandwmother,
Rani Fattoh, had been residing at Anghadgath or
Barnala, fifty miles o the westward of Pattaln.
‘When they heard the unexpected news of Ala Smgh’s
death, they left n all haste for the capital, and the
Ram, who was 2 woman of great ability, as many of
the ladies of the Pattiala family bave been, placed
her grandson on the vacant “ gaddi,”* and declared
that he was by right and by the proclaimed wish of
Ala Singh, his successor m the Chiefslup The
numsters and officials, whatever they may really have
.thought of the claims of Himmat Singh, did not at-
tempt any diversion in his favor. The action of Ram
TFattoh had beén so prompt and her mfluence was 5o
great, that there was no opposition, and, in full Dur-
bar, all the Chuefs and Officers of Pattiala presented
therr offermgs (nazr) to Amar Singh as the new
Raja
Himmat Singh was not & man to lose a priner-
xhe vonsmion or DALY without an effmt Ile has-
rimiat Singh tened from Harana, where he had
been employed with troops, to Pattiala, and asserted
s clarm to the Chuefolup, taking possession of a
great part of the town®of Pattiala and the negh-
bouring country. The Sirdars of Jlund and Nabha,
howevel, with the Kythal Chief, exerted therr wnflu-
ence 10 favour of the younger brother ; and Hunmat
Swgh was compelled to retire. He then seized
the district of Bhawamghar, and captured a por-
Jtion of the country belongmg to the Afghans uf
Malor Kotla, Amar Singh marehed agrinst hm

* The term * gaddi” hierally *eushion,” 19 used among Indiana
23 “ throne’' among other races  For the Buglish expression © mount-
ed the tlnoua"“‘%adth nmshun™ * geated on the “coshion,” 13 used in
1hindustauf, and tgk;ht nishun” * geated on the throne” 1w Persiun




e Pattiala SS'tate, 33

and bescigod the town of Bhawsmghar, but Ram
Fattoh persuaded the brothers to make friends, and
Hummat Singh waas left in possession,
The year after hus accession, in 1766, Amar
Amar Singh eap-  O10gh captured the town of Pdyal,
turesPystondZarw.  pogr Ludhiand, from the Kotla,
Afghans, with the aid of Jassa Singh Ahluwalia
and other of the Trans-Satley Sikhs, and, after
that, Tsru, belonging to the same proprietors, Jassa
Singh taking one-fourth of the revenue of the town ;
but iater, by an rrangement with Amar Singh, he
became possessed of the whole of the Isru district.
Sirdar Jassn Singh had given the young Chuef the
Pdhal, or baptism, always a bond of affection among
the Sikhs, and there was more sincere friendship
between them than bad exwsted in the tume of Ala
Singh
In 1767, Ahmad Shah for the last time invaded.
Avmad Shanetawg 1nd1a, but he advanced no further
rinoasion of Indid than Ludhane  Here he was met
Ao Stngh by Amar Singh, who was cordially
rocetved, and the fitle of Raja which had been
granted to lus grandfather, was continued to him
with additional honor, as “Réja-+-Réjgdn Buhddar ™*
Valuable presents on this occamon were also given
hum, with & flag and & drum, insignia of an inde-
pendent prince  In honor of this reception, Amar
Singh epent a lakh of rupess 1 ransomung the cap-
tives who had been taken by the Dehlh Emperor m
the neighbourhood of Mathra and Saharanpur,
gammg for hunself the popular title of “ Bandi
, Chhor” o1 ¢ Releaser of captives.”

* Cunoiughany, i hig  History of the Sikbs, states that on this ooca=

slon Awmar Nngh vecoised the title of Maharya  Bat thes was grauted

PEFTETR hiAkhau 1I in 1810, on the 1ecommeudation of General Ochter-
Jouy he sanad 18 stul to possession of the family
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Soon after Ahmad Shah had left India for the
War wich the Af-  last time, Raja Amar Smgh re-
ghans of Maler
Kotla. newed the old quarrel of lus family
with the Afghans of Maler. Kotla, Jamdl Khan,
the Chief who had done most mjury to Pattiala by
pursuading Ahmad Shah to sack Barnala, had been
killed 1n battle, and the family had become divided—
Ata-ulla Khan' being the most influential of
Jamdl Khan's sors  This Chacf, after the Raja had
taken Tibba, one of hus villages, by assasult, found that
he was unable to resist so powerful an enemy success-
fully and made pence which for many years rematned
unbroken,

Amar Singh then sent a thousand men aganst
“wietn tne emier or  OHATID Das of Mammapa,” who,
Handmajra during the confusion which followed
the death of Ala Singh, had managed to take pos-
sesion of the fort and dwstrict of Pinjor, an ancient
Hindu town, in the low hills above Ambala, and
where the Pattiala Chuiof has now a favonte sum-

-

U VS

* Ghaith Das was the founder of the Mammaya family  Aiter the
deaflr of Zm Khan, the Governor of Snhbind, and thelnesh up of the
Imperal power, he took possession of 84 villages, whscl 1s father Ganga
Ram had held as a 1evenue officer for the Empre, and fuither extended
his teruitory by sewaang the foit of Pujo:  Here the Raja of Nhhan
attacked him, bLut without success, and placing his father ru charge,
Gharib Das left sntent on fiesh conquest It was durig this absence
that the Raja of Nalan having obtained aid iom Patuiala, attacked the
fort as desciibed i the text, and captuved i, Gauga Ram bemng shun
Ghanb Das hasteued beck, but was not streng enough to attempt to
recapture the fort He, however, expelied the Nahan Raja  from
Chandaogarh, which he had captured shortly before

Gharib Das died 1 1783, lenving two sons, Gopal Smgh and Par-
gash Chend  The cider of these did excellont servies in 1809, aud
azam 1o the Gurkha campaigu of 1814 su D Ouhterlonv was about to
recommend lim for a new jagir, but he requested mstead the ttle of
Raja, which wasgiven to lim  He died 1n 1816, and was succesded
by Hamur Singh, who only survived his tather a few years Goverdhan
Singh, hia son, was foyal 1n 1844, and gave a detachment which was
engaged-at Mudks and elsewhere e died 10 IR47, aud was succenlod
by Gumbaksh Singh, who died m 1866, when his younger brother’
Bhagwao dingh, now 22 years ot age, wherited the estate of 77 vill iges,
worth Rs. 38,453 & jear
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mer residence and gardens which are celebrated for
their beauty over all Northern India  The- place
was very strong, and Bakhshi Lakhna, a Dogra
General Whom the Raja sent with a thousand men
to 1educe 1t, aided by the Rajas of Hindidr and
Kabhlur, and Ndhan, had a month and a half of hard
fighting > But they were at last successful, and
Gharib Das ullied humself wath the Chiefs of Sialba
and Rupaa™ m order to attack the. Raja of Nihant
to whom the Raja of Pattiala had left the fort, and
with whom he had contiacted a strong fiendship,
exchanging twibans with Inm at Banaur The
Pattiala toree lost thiee hundred men m this attack
on Pmjor
One hundied nules due west of Pattiala, and
Fueattach on xoe €M the town of Fardkot, was the
Hapura fort of Kot Kapura, belongmg to
a Budr Cluef named Jodh Smgh i One of ths

* The founder of the Sialha fawils was Snda Ifarr Simgh, w hoy
about 1763, when the Sikhs becune powerfud, tuok possession of a
Targe pait of the countiy at the tmt of the hills, both G aml "rans.
datley the principal ditiicts of windh were Salba, Rupm, Khiyibad,
and hwmatt e had several sons bat only two suivnved hion  Chaveat
S hand Dewa Bimgrh to the former of whom lie gave the Rupm ilaka,
worth about Rs 80000 avear  and to the latter Sialba with ‘the other
estttes Tans and Cls-Satie) worth nely twolahhs  This paitition nas
made w1792 the yoar before s death - Rupar bas lapsed, and of the
Nalba cstate, the prosent Cliet only rctams villages worth alout Ro.
30,000 a veur

+ Nahan savert ancient Rayput pruepalite abomt 40 mules due
south of Sunia  Lhe ternitans of the Raya worth ahont 2 Jakh per aunum,
M confirued to B witc the Guihba campaigu of 1814, i perpetmty,
A danad dated 214 deptomber 1815

4 The hot hapura famuly weie of the same stock ar the Phulliang
Ballay wae ihe founder of the  tunihy, and, wuder the Emperor Aklu,
was ippointed Chaudlpn of the Bnar tnbe  His son Rapura buit the
furt wiuch bears lis nnne, and became an mdependent Clinef ke died
m 7L His eldest son Snkha encceeded hin Jodlt Singh, the Chief
moutiosed 1 the text. was the eldest son , and Hamn Singh, the seeond
son, whose quarecl with s brother and report of the ansult oRered to
the memory ot Ra a4 Ada Single m namng the kovse after b occasioned
the deati ot Jadh Sigh was the fouude ot the houso of Faridhot, the
Iistory of which 13 tecorded later
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Birdar’s followers had stolen fiom the fort of Phul a
horse and a mare which he presented to his master
who 'was not in the Joast degree averse to 1cceiving
stolen property It ‘was reportéd to Raja Amar
Singh that the Kapura Chief had been audacions
enough to name the hoise Ala and the mare Fattoh,
after the names of the Raja’s grandfather and grand-
mother Amar Simngh was much_offended and sent;
to demand the syirrender of the horses Jodh, con-
fident 1n hs strength, tore the Pattiala letter 1
pieces and sent no reply -

On this Amar Singh marched agamst Kot
s Jeot on Kapura, and encamped five miles
Singh, \ from the fort. Jodh, with one of
his sons and an attendant, mounted a chariot and
went out fo reconnoitre but fell into an ammbuscade
laid by the Pattiala force and was surrounded and
slain, after having killed several of the enemy with
his bow and afrows, m the use of which he wasvery
expert Jit Singh, lus som, who had accompamed
hun, was so severely wounded that he died three
day afterwards  Jodh's head was cut off and carmed
to Amar Smgh, who wag much distressed as he had
no wish to take the Cluef's ife He gave up all
wtention of besieging the fort and returned to
Pattiala '

The Raja then turned his arms agamst the
Anotner Bhaeee  DBhattls, and subdued Aharma and
swpsdition, ™ Singha., * but the Bhattt Cluefs at:
tacked s camp at might, and ocecasioned great
loss and confusion.  After this he left the campaign,
which, from the nature of the country, was of a
most difficult character,to be conducted by Sirdm
Hamir Singh of Nabha While at Ror, a small
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town on the border of the present Susa distnct,
two men, Gajja1 Singh apd ' Jit Singh, pad a visit to
the Raja, and begged him to help them to avenge,
an msult'one of their women had received at the
hands of Sukhchen Smgh, a Sabo zamindar of great
tepute, owner of the strong fort of Govindgarh,
which commanded the town of Battinde  Only too
glad of an opportunity for interference, Amar
Singht sent a force agamst Sukhchen Singh and
Tt setve of 6o followed quckly hunself  He
7171 ganed possession of the town of
Govindgarh, but the fort was too strong to take by
assanlt and he had no artillery of sufficient power
to reduce 1t He was compelled to try and starve
Sukhchen Singh out, and for a whole year the fort
was besteged without success, till the owner, tired
of s remstance, proposed to suriender if the Raja
would raise the siege and promuse him safety
Amar Singh agreed to tlus, but before drawing off
Ius troops and returmng to Pattiala, he msisted
that Kapur Singh, son of the Cluef, with four or
five of lus prineipal officers, should be given hum as
Lostages  The siege was then raised, but Sukhchen
did not grve up the fort, "and 3t wae not till four
months later that he visited Pattwala, accompamed
by Sodhi Bharpur Singh, & nian whove sanctity was
0 generally respected by the Sikhs that Sukhchen
thought his company of more value than any safe
conduct fiom the Raja  Arnving at Pattiala, he
nshed for the 1olease of the hostages, agreemg to
reman hunselt in confincwent until the fort was
suirenduted  To this the Raja consented, and
Kapur Swmgh, with the other hostages, returned
to Govindghar and at once began to strengthen
the defences und mcrease the gmrwon On the
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mews of thiy reachng the Raja, he sent orders to
assault the fort without delay and treated Sukhchen
Singh with” great severity, to the indignation of
§odhl Bharpur Singh who protested agamst such
i treatment of a man who had beén persua(led to
come 6" Pattiala under s solemn assurance of
safety At length, Sukhchen,” weary of his rlgorous
nnpnsonment\, sent an order to s son fo make over
the fort 4 the P@ttm]a. officials, which was done, and
Sukhchén 1elcased. This acquisition was made in
1771, and the Battinda district has been held by
Fattiala ever since -

Soon after this, a.i Mahratta General, Junha
The Mahvattas T30, marched in the direction of
weareh northeards  Pattiala, to the consternation of
Amar Smgh wha sent off all his treasure and fanuly
jewels to Bhattinda, wlich, lying amidst sandy
wastes, was not hkely to be attacked But, after
all, the Mahratta did not visit Pattiala, " coming no
further north than Pihoa, sixteen mules bey yond
Thanesar and a famous place of prlgrimage, sicuated
on the Sirsati, the @ansllbmt Saraswat{ * Here he
remained for a short time and then returned

Relieved from lus fear of beng humselfl plun-
sttmmas 8ingn  dered as he had so often plandered
again robels. others, Raja Amar Singh set out
to punish some rofractory zanundars ix the noigh-
bowhood of Battinda, Sundar Himmat Singh con-
smdered the absence of the Raja so far from the
eapital a goed opportunity to recover the rights of

¢

E
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* The Savagwati 18 mentioned 11 some of the most ancient Sansk it
writings, and was a sreant of greal sanctsty . baraswan was the wiie
aof Brahma and the Goddess of wisdom  Wandertug one dry m the
deserts about {hanesar she was smrounded by demons, and to escaps
them, changed herself wito the stream which bears her name. The Suias-
wat: 6 supposed to bave an andes-gronnd conpection with the Ganges
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which he considered humself to have been unjustly
deprived, went with all speed to Pattiala and pro-
fessing hunself to have none but the most loyal n-
tentions, was admitted with hus followers mto the
fort by Sirdar Sukbdas Singh Kaleka, who had

svisestho Pastinta  Pu€D left 1n charge, He then
Bort threw off all dsguise, serzed the
fort and proclaimed himself the rightful Chief and
Amar Singh a usurper  On receipt of this terrible
news the Raja hurried back to Pattiala and en-
camped at Samana to take councl with hug friends,
for the 1eduction of the fort by assault was a difficult
and doubtful operation. To this place he invited
all the Sirhind Chuefs and alarge number responded
to hus call , Sirdar Tara Singh, the Chief of Rahon,
the Afghan Nawab of Maler Kotla; the Rais of
Kot , Sirdar Hamfr Singh of Nabha; Raja Gajpat
Singh of Jlund, Bhais Dhanna Smgh and Sukha
Smgh of Kythel , and Bhai Desu Singh, the father
of the famous Lal Singh whose power later becamé
too fornudable to Pattialn. There were, moreover,
Manjha Chiefs and Jasse Singh Abluwaha, while
Kuat Parkash, the Raja of Nighan, remembering
that Amar Singh had helped him i his dufficulties,
came with his troops, without waiting for an 1avi-
tation at all,

Himmat Singh perceived that he could not

But mie priends  JonY resist the luge force which
stands alvof had assembled to attack um and
was altogether disappomted at the result of his
atteapt  He had funcied that the neighbourng
Cluets, even thore of Phullian blouvd, who were
jealous of the wereasing predonunance of Pattiala,
would be only too glad to encowmsge any project
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which mught divide or destroy the power of the
State , and there 18 no Joubt that any calamity
which might happen to Pathala would be haled
with a certair satisfaction But Huumat Singh
had been too hasty m his action and declared against
his brother before he had made sure of alhes The
name of Amar Singh was now dreaded he had
been a successful General, and 1t. was well under-
stood that any gttack upon him, that failed to crush
him, be would most certanly avenge So it hap-
pened that Himmat Singh remained shut ~up 1n the
fort without any of lus declared friends, Bhar Desu
2o o competica SmZh of Kythal, the Rajes of
to s render Jhind and Nabha, or the Ral of Kot,
- who had exchanged turbans with him, offering their
help, sand at last, seeing .peparations made fo
assaulting the fort, he was easily persuaded by the
Chiefs above named to surrender  Amar Singh had
no wish to preceed to extremrties, and readily con-
sented to allow ys brother life and hberty, and he
even, with the vain hope of 1endering lum content,
Jncreased his Jagnrs by the grant of several villages
fiom the distnict of Darbah  But Himmat Smgh
was not disposed to abandon minigue, his clam
he considered good, for he was an elder brother, and,
although by a Karene marriage s mother had been
lawfully mairied according to the custom of the Jats,
and he could not nghttfully be held to be illegiti-
mate Even suppostng that he had forferted the
tatle to succeed to the Chiefship, yot equal diviston
among sone was the admost universal rule and he was
entitled to a half-share of the territory wlich his
grandfather Ala Singh, had won Thinking as he
did, and with much right on hus side, it was not to
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tne son aeer b€ expected that Himmat Singh
tess would gver lLive as a loyal subject,
and 1t was fortunate for the peace of the territory,
that, m 1774, two years after his attack on Pattmla,
he died fiom oxcessive drinking at Langowal, and
lus estatgs, Bhawamgarh, Darbah and Dhodrah,
were resumed by Amar Singh who marred the
widow by Ciedia dalna The same year, Amar
Thettaei o S SINgh's first wife, ,Ram Ra) Kour,
Sugly € B UTE gave buth to a son, Salub Simgh,
whe atterwards becane Mabaraja,

Duung the spring of 1774, a fierce quarrel arose
oy et er between the Chiefs of Jhind and-
Matiba Nabha, the dispute having its orgin
duting the marriage festivities of Sirdar Mghan
Singh, Sukarchakia with the daughter of the Raja
of Jhind.  An account of this guarrel, which had
unfortunate consequences for Nabhe, will be found
clrewhere  The Taja of Pattiale, who was mbvited
to mako peace between the Chiefs, i reality en-
couraged the econtimuance of the quarrel, for although
qute ready to join the othat Phulkian families
in repulsing any attack which mnght be made
agunst their common safety from without, he was
not sorry to sce Jlhind and Nabha exhausting
themselves m & contest from wliuch nothing but
mereased mAuence could resuls to himself

Only four mules to the north east of Pattiala

the capturs o Vo & strong fort, which had boen
Hejubad bt by Nawab Sef Khan, and called
Scfabad after lis own name. Its ncarness to the
town w s a sufficient reason for Amar Singh to desne
to capturet, and this reason was strengthened by the
death of Sof Khan, lemvmg two young sons under

* the guardianship of Gul Khan, his prncspal followér
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Without, then, the pretence of & quarrel to justify
~ hus violence, Raja Amar Singh invested the fort
and efter seven days’ siege so battered the walls,
that Gul, Khan was compelled to surrender and
the Pajs took possession. He behaved with. con-
sderation, to the children of Sef Khan, giving
them the willage of Chhota Rasulpur for ther
gupport while to Gul Khan he made an allowance of
Z Rupecs a day, which he enjoyed till his death.
. In, thls attack on Sefabad, the Raja of Nahdn
Rajn amar sings  Dod assisted hus friend Amar Singh,
vislts Nalas, and after its successful conclusmn
he retired to his hills, .where. he soor after died,
leaving a son, Jagat Parkash, who was unable to
mainta.m order i his ferntory, and Baja Amry
Singh accordmgly visited Nshan, and aided him to
reduce the rebellious Chiefs to obedience. He then
prepared for a campaign on an exfensive scale
Marches agatnse - 32108t the Bhatti country to the
the Bhasste " south of Pattiala, and, 1n thé winter
of 1774, marched to Begran, a_strong fort now 1
the Hassar district, which he invested. The Bhatti
Chiefs made an effort to relieve it and a sharp
fight took place beneath the walls, m which Amar
Singh . was victorious, Iosmg about one hundred
kxlled and four hundred wounded * one of lus Gene-
rals, Siwdar Natha Singh Kaleka, being among the
slain,  The loss of the Bhattis was stxll heavier and
the RaJa grned possession of the fort. He then
Sowes Fatahabaw 100k possession of F atahabad and
ond Strea. Susa and invested Ranmi, then a
strong fort some eight miles west of Sirsa, held by
Muhamnmad Amin Khan, Bhatti  While before
Ranma, news arnved that Rahimdid Khan, the
Goyernor of Hansi, bad, by the orders of the Dchli
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o Tmperiat < Emperor, attacked Jhind and was
foro Jhinds then besieging Raje Gajpat Singh
in hig capital  All the Phulkian Chiefs were sum-
moned td &1d their kmsman, and leaving Sukh Dds
Singh to carry on the siege 'of Ranni, the Raja
marched 40 Fatahabad fiom whence' he sent a
strong detachment to Jhind, under Diwan Ninun

Mal This General successfully éffected & junction
with the Kythal and Jhind troeps snd ‘s jolné
attack was made upon ‘the enemy who were defeated
with great slanghter. ~After® this, the Diwan, in
company' with Raja 'Gajpat Smgh,” overran the

Harsi'and Hissar distriets, estabhshing the suthors,
ity of hus mester, winle Gajpat Singh took possess
mon of paits of Kohdna and Rohtak.

When Amar Singh heard of" the” defeat” of

* Rawnta 3 cap. Rabimddd Khan before Jhind, he
:‘;:7":';':;’;:::‘:‘: marched flom Fatahabad to Hansi,'
oonguered “and after having collected the 1e-
venue, wlnch was the same thmu as plundermg as
extensively as he was able, “he returued to Pattiala,
where, foar mouths later, he had the satisfaction of
hearmg from Sukhdas Smgh of the full of Ranma.
On tls Le agan marched southwards, abd the whole
of which 14 no\v’ the Susa district being under His
authunty, he was able to collcct 8 Iaru.. sum of

2he fort of Boo.  InONEY 25 Teyenue  He thought of
mer . attacking the fortuess of Bhatner,
but its postion 1 the desert, where no supphes
cuuld be obtaned and its reputed strength, inductd
hun to abandon the mntention and leave the Bhatti
Chicfy, Mubammad Amin Khan and Muhamnad
Hassen Khan qmct possession *

* D he town of Blm(nel i sithated 8 few males from the westerny
border of the Suirsa district, on the bauks of the Gagga:, a Herce and deep

1
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The Dehlt Empire had fallen inlo confusion and

e oney o decay fiom the weakness and m-
4 D 1775 efhcrency of its rulers  Had 1t pos-
sesved, at this time, able mmmsters and competent
Generals, 1t mught hava recovered all the authority
that 1t had lost. The Mamatta powar had been
broken by the crushing defeat of Panipat in January
1761, when 1ts army had been almost totally
destroyed, and Ahmad Shah Durami was dead,
leaving a son, Tunur Shah, who had httle of s
father’s ambition and made no determined effort to
reconquer northern Indin It seemed that in Najaf
Khan the Empire had at Jast found a nnmster of
the ability necessary to retrieve its fortunes, This
chief determined ta recover the districts which the
" Sikhs had annexed after the defeat of Rahmndsd
Khan at Jhind, and, heading the Trperal troops, he
recovered Karnal and part of Rohtuk The name
of the Empne was still & word of power with the
undisciphined Sikhs who knew their inabibity to stand
agamst 1egular troops in the field, and they sought
the aid of Zabitah Khan, the son of the Romlla
Chuef Nayjbullab, who, 1 the time of Ahmad Shah,
had possessed so much anfluence at the Court of
Drehli  With this aceession of strength, which had
been duly paid for, Raja Amar Singh waswmna
position to treat with the Imperial mimster and &
meeting was arranged at Jhind Hore the Raja
consented to surrender the districts of Haus, Fiissar,

torrent near the hudls, bue kere 8 mete thread of water or altogetherdiy, 2
except 1n the rmmy season  The Gaggar was a haitful <ouree of dispute
among the Cluefs hose texnatoises lay on vs bank  The obtunivg its
water was prosperity and good harvests, s diveision was barenness
and faming, and volume afier volume of the old official vevorls are
filled wath coires pondence 1¢lating to the yust distibution of the water,
and the settlement of dixputes regr g it
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and Robtak, and was allowed to ‘retain Fatahabad,
Ranna and Swurss, pronusing to pay on thewr account
a fixed revenue to the Dehh Tieasury The Raja of
JLund wak also permitted to retain the seven villages
(oo | Sompromise from the termtory he had setzed.
istor Tlua compromise, so dishonorabls to
the Dehh Government, was said to have been brought
about by the treachery of Nayaf Khan, and hus second
in command, Najab Goli Khan, who were heavily
bribed by the Sikbe  The story 13 probably true,
for there was no other reason te ieduce the nunuster
to surrender districts wiieh had been taken vielent
possession of by 1ebels and which he had the pawer -
to 1ecover The Dehh officals were notoricusly
cortupt, and, 1f Najaf Khan was known to be vpen
to bribes, there were cortainly ne seruples on the
part of the Sikh Chefs abuut offering them.

In the year 1777, the Raja of Pattiala sent a
Furitkot tersttary  f0rce wuder Chaudhri Singh Daya,
ovormim & MITT 46 overrun the Fandkot and Kot
Kapuia districts, but no attempt was made to take
formal possession of them , and the Raja bhad, more-
over, plenty on lus hands in keeping the people of
ins newly acquued terrifories in order. They were
wild, lawless, and had never known what 1t was to
pay tribute or revenue, and one fortified wvillage
after anothes  tovk long to reduce, while its redue-
tion was of Little advantage.

Raja Amar Singh bad not forgotten the doubt-
TheChterof wami- ful contest, in 1768, with Ghaub
TR Dyas of Mammayra and Sirdaz Han
Singh of Swulba and Rupar, snd, 1n 1778, he deter-
mined to reduce these Chiefs under lus suthouty
The estates of the fust named were an the plun,
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where the river Gaggar debpuches from the hills,
and the Pattiala force, before Ghaiib Das had time
to summon hus friends to his assstance, had overrun
the country and forced him to shat hamself up in s
fort For three months he held out bravely, but
seeing no prospect of release from his position, he
offered a large sum of money to the Pathaala Chief to
retire and leave him m undisturbed possession of his
estate, Thig was accepted, and Amar Smgh then
marched against Stalbs, mixteen mules to the north-

strdar Havisingn  Wost of Mapmnayra. But Sirdar
of Swtbaattacked  Tiar, Singh had heard of the Raja’s
wntentions, and, es hewasboth rich and well eonngcted,
he had called to defend him many of the most famous
fighting Sirdars, Jassa Singh Ramgharta , * Gurdit
Singh and Diwan Singh Leudawala ; Karam Singh
Shahid, of Shahzadpur ; t Gurbaksh Singh Ambala,
and a number of the smaller Chiefs who ounly
fought for pay and plunder and were ndifferent as
to the side on which they fought

* Sudar Jassa Sngh Ramgharia was the most distingurshed Jeader
of the contederacy of that name He first fortihed the viilage of Amnt.
sa1, row the puueipal eity in the Punzab, and took possession of almost
all the northermeportion of the Bari Doab, the conutiy between the
Rivers Biw and Ravi A confederacy of Cluefs was formed against nm,
the Blangs, Kanheyas and Sularchakias, headed by  Jussa Singh
Ahluwalia, and he was expelied fiom the Doab sud fled to Sursz and
Hatr1ma, where he supported himself hy plunder and by selling his
pe1vices to whoeves would buy them, as on the above occasion to Hau
Singl Sntba.  In 1783 Sudw Jassa Swngh 1eturned to Amnitsar, and 16+
coveied & large past of his possessions  They were, howes oy, confiscated
by Maharaja Ranjis Ningh, on the death of his son Jodh Sangh m 181¢
The ptesent vepiesentative of the family 15 Surdar Mangal dugh, 1
chiuge of the Golden ‘Lemple at Amtsar

F The Shahid misl was one of the smallev Skl confederacies, and
obtained its name (Shatud martyr) and e1igm in the following manser -

Gmu Govind dmgh #13mg from his enemles wn the nme of the kan-
petor Aurangzeb, took refuge in the little viliage of Talwands, s the jungle
to the south of Bhuttinda. Here he remamsed 10 dava and, after the
Gurw's death, a tewpte was raised 1n Talwandi to hi memery, and the
name chauged to Damdama which siymfies “a hieasinng piace ' The hrst
Manaut o puest put s charge of the shiise was Dip Singh, nho was
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The force of the Raja of Pattiala marched to
But defrats tme Stalba, where Hart Singh came out
Xatitata force, to meet 1t with hus mercenazies
The Pattiala General had no 1dea of the number that
would be opposed to hum, but he had no option but
to fight, fo= 1t was too late to retreat, and was
utterly routed with the loss of several hundred men,
among whom was Bakshi Lokbna Diwan Nanun
Mal was also wounded, and Sirdars Chandu Smgh
and Maban Singh were taken prisoners
Rujn Amar Singh was much distressed at this
awa amar simgh dufent, ind, determining to avenge 1it,
slorminon on vé-
venge sent messengers to Ius kinsmen
sand fuends to assemble at Pattiala with all ther
forces First among his relations eame his cousin,
Bibr Rapndar of Phigwdra, a rich widow, as
fond of fighting as any of the Pattiala men, who
marched with three thousand followers through the
ternitory of the Chiefs who had fought on the side of
Han Swmgh, barrying and pillaging, till she armved

killed m action with the Governor of Labore, and became a shahid or
mattyr  Sudda Ringh lus chela or disciple, succeeded Jnm at the shrine
He, howeser, ihe luy predecessor, wag fonder of fighting thay praywg,
and attached the Muhmnmadau Governor of Jalaudhar, and at Adhko's
was hitled i & shnanish, s head beings seveted fiom s bodv  He 8
said to have neither falion from lus hoise gor to have given up fighting,
aud he gatiaped a long drtance and ent down many ot the enemy before
be died  Henco the family, orathe the foliowers of the Mahant of
Damdama took the name of * the marty1s™

Karm Singh, mentioned m the text, succeeded Sndda Singh, and
sook possesmon of the eomntrv abont Rauma and Damdama, Khan,
Joroh and Fawntlapur e was the real founder of the fumuy, for be
was the first t0 mairs and lefl, on his death w1784, two sons, Gulab
Singh and Mehtad tangh, the former of whom suiceeded him, and was
one of the first Chiets to offer assistance to the Buush as a banad of
Sir D Ochterlony dated ith January 1804, proves  Sirdar Gulab Simgh
dicd in 1844, and Ry Kupsd Smght then enby s years ol succeeded
He hus estates worth Re 30,000 & vear, and 13 gull the guardisn ot the
Drindama shrve, winch brings m about Ra. 1 060 8 yeas m oflermge
Dimim dagh the brother of Kazam Jingh, bad a shave i the erginal
torsitory, but he died withoud wuue and his widow was married by s
trother
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at Pattiala. - Then came the Kythal brothers,
Dhanna Singh. and, Sukha, Singh, although Bhaa
Desu Singh, the most mfluential of the three, was,
m heart, a friand of the Swlba Chief, and the
Chiefs of Nabha and Jhind, with the Maler Kotla
Nawabs, now alhes of- Pattiala after thewr long
hostality ; & detachment of Nghan /froops under
Midn Kishan Singh 3+ Jai Singh of Lidhran * Tara
Smgh Dallehwala,t and hus follower Saunda Singh
Khannab ;] Budh Singh Faizullapuria,§ and others
of less note. The command of the Pattiala troops
was given to Sndar Chuhr Singh Malod, while the
eontingents of the Chiefs marched under their own

* Ja Singh was 4 Manyha Jat, who, about 1763, having jowed the
Nishinwala confederacy, obtamed 27 willages of Lidhian, avd 7 of
Rhar  Aftes the great defeat of the Sikhs by Ahmad Shih, he fled to
the hills and found on lue 1eturn that the Raja of I'attiala had seized
Ins Khai villeges A long dispute was the 1esult, not endmg for many
yems A compromse was et last effected Ly which Pattiala kept
three villages and Yadhran fonr Jar Swgh died in 1778, and was
succeeded by Ius son Chamat Singh, who was one of the chiefs who
accepted Blitish protectiow mx 1809  On the deatly of the latter, the
estate was duided by Geneial Ochterlony by * chundaband™ 3 e,
accotding to fhe pumber of the wiresy of whom theie were thies
Sndar Budh Singh 1 now the head of the family, emjoyimg as his share
of the)ag, Rs 4571 2 vear, Lot the number of shaters has sne eased
to eleven, and from contrnwal sub-divivions, the Lidinau éstates will soon
be undistinguishabie  Their total value is at the present time Rs 23,538

+ 1he Dallehwgla confederacy took its nawe from the village of
Srdar ‘Paia Singh, who was its priveipal leader, and gvho, with his
followers, took possession of a great portion ef the upper Jalandhar Doab,
atd the, noithern part of the Ambala and Ludhiara distnets In
Fuorpur he seized Dharamkot and Fatahabad  Tara Srogh was kitled
at the seige of Narain Garh in 1807 , and Mabaiaja Ramit Siagh <elzed
hus large possessions and distuibuted than among hus. Gunelals, Diwan
Mobikam Chand receiving the hon s share,

1 Savnda Singh was one of the followers of Tara Smgh Gheba.
He was not a mas of any distuction. He leftone son Dya Smgh,
who died wsthont maie 1sue, and the estats of Rs, 30,000 oventually
came nto possession of Dya Kour, daughter of Saunda Singh and widow
of Hart Swigh, the nephew of Raja Bhag Singh of Jhind At her
death 1t Japsed to the Jinud State, ;

§ Sirder Budh  Ringh  Faizullxpmia owned the mnorth-western
corner of the Ambala distriet ou the bewd of the Satley, from iear
Kentpur to Maohiwara A portion of this tervitory the iliaka of Bhw tpar,
desconded %o his grandson Amar Singh, whe died w 1847  Subha hour,
the widow of Iis son Kirpa Siigh, wag_allowed the four villages of Kot
Bala, Aspur, Himatpur and Bhartpue Khas, for ker hife
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leaders Aartved before Sialbajone or two skir-
mushes took place with the morcenanes eollected
by Han Smngh, but the. Pattale leader deter-
nuned to leave as-lttle ag possible to chance
and offered a rupee a day to those of the op-
posite party who would “jom lum. The effoct,
was immedhate, and the force of the Swalba Chief
day by day wasted away, and some of the Chuefs
who had promwed him thew’ asmstance . began to
desart lam ; among others, Birdars Karm Smgh and
Dharam Singh Shalud, and the Buna Sudais, Ra
Singh and Bhag Swingh*. At last, Swrdar Haxi
Singh found lumself loft almost alone, > and had no
optiun but to make such terms for humself ag he best
could. Me accordingly submutted, presented a nazr
1 token of obedience %o the Raja of: Pattiela, who
withdiew lus troops without attempting to retain
possession of any of the Sialba territories »

After the return from Sialba, Raja Amar

The Rjaguarrete  Jingh sent & force against Bhat
with Hhai Desw

St Desu Singh of Kythal, who had

* The Buria Clucfabip was fomerly of considerable importance
Tes fonnders were Nanun dingh g Jat of dhawal Mandan {u the Manphs,
and Blag Smgh and Rau gl biothers, all Bbangd Sikhs, who,
Y764, arired the fort of Buria, which the yoar before bad been abandoned by
Lachmw Navam, an oficor of Zon hohan, the Mubammadan (eovavnor of
Sthud, god had been taken quret possession of be a fi w N whria Sikhs.
Thev were not alioned to herp then  conguest without ppposition, and
the Atghans of Awrangabad coalesting with the Narwirms, enticed Nanus
Bwgh and 13hag dingh to the Aurangabad fort, and put them to death
Rai dingh, awl Bhag Stugh the adopted son of the murdered Nanun
Mngh avenged thet relate esy and seizod move teriitery, in al 204 vallages,
whach they divided , Rad bngh taking 84 vitlages, formung his estates of
Jugadit and Dyalghar , aud Bhag Singl, 120, the estats of Baria,  Bliag
Swvgh dred m 1788, and s son ol Sigh was killed w an engagement
with the Brigish ar Sahaianpur in 1604 After tis death & long dispate
arose betwoen the wilows and tie sons of the late Swrdar Jarmal Biagh
and Gulab Mgk which ended 10 the estate betng divided betwesn the
sony , aud an the desth of Jarmal Qimgh 1 1812, Griab Singh succeeded
to the whole  Ho drad in 1844, and hus son Jrum Singh 18 4be present
Civef, Bua vauks third among the tuner Ohctvinps, with a revesue of
Re 42000 The present Chief 16 & Jagirdar Magistrate, and 15 very
baghly vespected Tl sistor Karm bowr, § she lare Mahary
Naradar duigh of Pattraln
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not assisted him m the late campargn, his sympathies
bemng notoriously on the side of Sirdar Hars Singh ,
but Bhais Dhanna Singh, Sukha Singh and Takht
Smgh, the brothers of Desu Smgh, artanged matters
between the parties -and prevented any contest,
Jwhich indeed the Raja was glad to avoid as the
hostile attitude of the Dehli Government now gave
b full employment. .

Nawab Majd-ud-doulah Abd-ul-ahd was now
The now mintster  Minister at Debli He was an
ety "2 2 amlitious and covetous man and
1779 was not destitute of ablity , but
he had little courage, and 1t was audacity alone
which, m the last days of the Empire, could com-
mand success e determined, however, to make
an effort to recover the Mdlwa country fiom the
S:ikhs, and set out from Dehli, 1n November 1779,
with & Zonsderable force and accompanied by
Prmce Farkhunda Bakht He reached Xarnal
without meeting any resistance and here was joined
by Sirdat Bhagel Sigh Krora Smghia,* Sahib
Singh Khundawala and Karam Singh Shald
Thé envoys of Bhai Desu Singh Kythal had
accompanted the Nawab from Debh, and there
18 ittle doubt that this Chief hoped, by early sub-
mussion, to gain the favor of the Impenal party and
obtam an advantage over his fival, Amar Smgh of

* The Krora Singlua confedesacy was founded by Kioia Sungh,
with twe compamons Mastin Singh and Karam Singh. Sham Sangh,
who atccesded Mastin Sugh, gave Ins name toa minor confederacy
The Kalsias were the most poweifal of tius must, whose priserpal pos-
sessions lay between the Jamua and the Makands rivers, bounded on
the soutk by the Buiia writory

Siwrdar Bhapel Singh was otie of the piaeipal Chiefs of the Krora
Smghias  His bead quarters were Chieundr, 1he family 1s extinct
After the death of Bbagel 8ingh, bis widows, Rams Ram Kour and Ry
Kour, held Coilound: for many years, and -when they dwd the estate
lapiod to the British Governmant,
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Pattiala, whom he would have been dehighted to
crush. But m this bg was totally disappomnted
The Nawab much wished to reconquer the Malwa
ternitory, but he wanted moie; and Bhair Desu

Bhat Dosw singn  Sgh was reputed to be rich, On
Aned. a charge of not having pad his
arregrs of revenue he was geized, and four lakhs of
rupees were demanded from hin as a fine, Of this
be contrived to pay three lakhs, ,ahd for the pay-
ment of the balance, he gave Ius son Lal Singh as a
hostage *

* 'The Kythal family was of so much mopottance m the Cis-Satley
States and then listory 1e so dosely conuected with that of Pattiala, that
a skotwh of atis lhate The genealogy of the family 15 as follows —

BHAI GURBAKSH SINGH

i T 1 !
Dhaua Bingh Desn Sngh  Takht Sngh,  Sukha Singh, Budhd S:Jngh.

¥a Bhugbari~ Kseam Singh

L1 o Behat bungh
B

G\m&it Hiogh Bmwnl Bingh.

A
_ Pooyib Bingh  Golab Bingh amgut
0y
Prttub Bingh Uder Singh - i
bty S The Arnowls famly
The hyibal fumty
&>

The Kvthal family have the same orsgin as the Phulkian ~ Gurhoksh
Sungh, the feander of the Chietship, was the son of Bhat Ramdsal, who
badt a great 1eputation as o smnt. Theson was & tue soldier and an
able man, but Be had httle of the sawt abont him, aud thought more
of aunexany toenitory than of religion He was 3 great fitend of Raja
Ala Sugh of Pattiala, and they made many expeditions tegether, and
ho helped the Rua out of mme than one ditficulty The possessions of
Gurbukeh Siugh were divaded amoug has sons , but they soen 1ncreased
thew  Duest Sugh captared hythal from some Atgluns, Bhihh Baksh
hhav and Nhmat Khan, and with Jus brother Budha Sigh, seized
1 liancsar  thongh the tuwn and fort were aflerwards token from them
by Mrdar Rhangn Stugh, the tercest and most feared of alt the Cis-
Satley chiets. W hen Desn Singh died 1761, Lal Sungh was in con<
fincont a3 & rebet agawst his father, and Behal Singh, the elder son,
did il he conld to heep Ins brother in prison, but he contrived to esc
killed Iue alder brather and ok possession all the estaies of his father,
which b snuch enlanged by new acquianion  Tal brugh was, acthe time
of the Hiitish advanve northwsmads, 1w 1808 the most pewertul Cus-
hatiey Chiel, after the Raja of Puttiala. He was a very able man, though
utterly untenstn oy by, and so violent and puscrepnious that the kaghsh
authoities lad the goatgst dubeulty i p { w0
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In the meantame the Sikh Chiefs had not been
BajeAmar singi 1018, but had sent 1 all directions,
aud the Sikio pro- to summon the Khdlsa to oppose
\p the Muyhammadan _nroad. But
the Nawab marched on, heheving he should meet
with no opposition, and at the- village of Gharim,
about 16 miles from Pattiala, he was met by Diwan
Nanun Mal, whom the Raja had sent to express hig
devotign to the Empire generally and the Nawab in,
particular. Buf the Khdlsa foreq was marching from
“But seoretty col. the other, direction towards Pattiala ;.
tactthe forcesof the  the Kanheya Sndars, Jax Smgh and
Hhabaforbatfe  Hakikat Singh® , Jassa Singh
Ramgharia ; Tara Singh Gheba, Jodh Singht of
‘Wazirabad, and many others , while at Pattiala, the
Phulkian Chiefs, Jhind, Nabhs, Bhadour and Malad, ,
had collected all their troops. The Nawab, who
had expected untesisting submission, was terified
when he heard of thys gathering of the clans He
knew how keenly these wild warriois scented plunder
and blood, and that m' & few dags fifty thousand
horsemen eould assemble on the plams of srhind,
Jlnd he Nawad His only thought was of retreat,
taeat, . and, according to Sikh tradition,
he gave the Chiefs, by thq interested advice of
Bhagel Singh Krora Singhia, the greater portion

anytiang hke order In 1819, the Government allowed um to succeed
to the shae of the estate held by Ma Blagbai, the widow of lus first
covsiy Kavam bingh  Partab Singh the elder sun and then the younger
son, Udaa snccevded, but on the death of the latter withont mssue
i 1843, the whole of the Kythal estate lapscd to Government, wuli
the evxception of that portiont wihich had been acquired by the founder
of the family, Bhai Gumbuksh Siugh, and to which the eoliaterals of the
Arnowh branch were permitted to suoceed ~

* Surdare Jar Singh and Hakikat Siagh were rival Teaders of two
goctions of the great kaokeva confederaey  Thew hista yin given at
tength 1 # The Punyab Cluefs, pp. 315338

1 Jodh Singh Wanrabadia was the most powerfid Chief 1 the
Rechna Doab and was much drended by esen Maharnja Ranpt Singh
Hig tustory will ba found . * 'The Punjab Cinets,” pp 409419

0
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of the threo lakhs of rupees which he had extracted
from Bhai Desu Singh, on their agreeing not to
molest Ius retreat, ' The Muhammadans say, on the
other hand, that the Sikhs bnbed the Nawab to
retire, and this is perhaps more probablé, At any
rate, Lal +Singh, the son of Bhax Desu Singh,
was carried a prisonet to Dehli and there tortured
as lus father had not paid the balance of the tribute
claimed from him,
In February 1781, Raja Amar Singh, who
e death of Raja Was only thirty-five years of age,
781 ' died of dropsy brought on by exces-
mve Jiinking, During the last year of s Ife
bttle had occurred worthy of notice, Three months
before hus death, there had been born, at Gujrdnwala,
forty miles north of Lahore, a child nearly related
Thobirthoriana. 0 bimself, who was destined to
raj Ranjit Singh.  ghoke the power of the Phulkian
house to 1ts foundation and build up n the Punjab
a mlitary Empire as formudable as any yet founded
i Hindustan, strong both for defence and for
aggression.  If Raja Amar Singh had lived, or had
beun suceeeded by rulers 2s sble #8 humself, the
Cis-Satle) States might have been welded mto one
kwgdom and their independence might have been
preserved, both egamst the Lahors monarchy on the
one hand and the British Government on the other-
But, after hig death, the leadership of the Cis-Satlej
The dovay of Pat»  O1KDS passed from the fecble hands
Siala power of Pattiala For many years the
only persons 1in that famuly who possessed
wisdom, energy or courage, were women , and the
power and influence which had been won, with so
much labor, by Ala Singh, Lal Singh and Amar
Singh, day by dey dummshed, till no one cared to
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follow Pattiala m eouncil or the field, and the only
safety of its Chuef: aganst gn adventurer of lus own
creed and blood was found 1n 1mploring the protec-
tion of a foreign power and trusting to the swords
of others for defence. Raja Amar Singh would
have found a nobler way of gaving his kingdom;
and 1t was a mmsfortune for Pattiala that he died be-
fore he had eonsohdated his conquests, leaving to hus
child successor the dangerous legney of his victores
and s fame, with the envy of the more powerful
Chiefs Jhand, Nabha, Kalsia and Kythal, who strove
to undermine and destroy the hated supremacy of
Patiala ‘
Amar Singh was not altogether a eharacter
ane oharacter or 10 admire and he had a fair share
dmar Singh of the wvices and faults of his
age, but he made Pattinla the most powerful
State betweer the.Jamna and the Satle He
formed a successful coalition, against the Muham-
madan power, which possessed indeed only the
shadow of its former greatness, but at the name
of which India had learned to tremble, and it
needed 3 brave heart and a bold hand to drag
away the imperial robes and show the world
that the place of the guant had boeen filled by a
tottering ,scare-crow which a push might over-
throw,. The conquests of Amar Singh were un-
serupulons and often without the shadow of excuse
or provocation, but princes can only be judged
by success and by the use which they have made of
then apportumities It is frue that the ambition of
Amar Singh was personal and he cannot be classed
with those statesmen whe have no policy but the
glory and prosperity of thewr country, and to whom 1n-
famy itself is welcome if they can leave their coun-
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iry more strong and more respected He was but
& fine epecimen of a barbarian ; rude, courageous,
impulaive, generous and ignorant e had & quick
mtellgence and & sirong arm, and hus success was
well deserved , though whether success entitles a
man to prease and admration, 18 & pomnt on which
the world and 1ts teachers have agreed to differ

Raja Sahib Singh, the new Chief of the
Rajs sanib singws K abthiala  State, was a child six
accession years ot age It would bave been
o hard task for a man, however able, to maintain
order in a country so lately conquered, whabited-
by warhke and independent races, and fo ward off
the attacks of powerful neighbours and nvals  For
a child, surrounded by greedy and unscrupulous
servants, who found thewr own profit in us weakness
and experience, there oould be little hope of a
successful o1 heppy reign Through the influence
of Rem Hukmdn, the grand-mother of the young
Chief, Diwan Nonun Mal was appownted prmme
Diwan Nanws Winster and no better choice could
Mat have been made The Diwan,
sn Aggarwal Banma of Suném, was a man of
great experience and honesty He had served
Raja Amar Singh well, both in the couneil and 1n
the field, and his principal fault was an undisguised
contempt for the rude Sikh Siwrdars, which may
vot have been undeserved but which they re-paid
with hatred and suspicion

No sooner had the young Chief taken his seat
Fhe robellion sfthe 0N themaspad than rebellion broke
wanigarh, out in all quarters. The first to
throw off the Chief s suthonty was the Governor of
Bhawanigarh, Sirdar Mahan Singh, the brother of
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Mai Deso, step-mother of Raja Salub Singh, and
the widow of Himmat Singh, on- whose death she
had been married by the late Raja. Immediately
on hearing of the Governor’s revolt, Diwan Nanun

t  Mal summoned the Phulkian Chiefs to send 1n thewr

contingents and marched against Bhawamgarh whieh
he invested, Mahan Singh was assisted by Sirder
Tara Singh Gheba and held out for more than three
months ; until his ally was induced- fo desert hun,
when he surrendered, Itwould have been well 2f
an example could have been made of this rebel, but
Nanun Mal did-not feel humself strong enough te
put to death so powerful a Chuef and one so nearly
connected with the reigning family, and the enly
+ ‘pumshment mflicted was degredation from lus office
ag Governar of Bhaweanigarh,,.
- Before this affaur was settled, another outbreak
Rovettion at Kar OCCUrred at Kot Sumer, headed
Sumer - by Rajo, the widow of Swdur
Baksho Singh of Saboka. - The fort held by this
lady was very strong, and, before the Diwan was
able to reduce i1t, he was summoned away to
quell a still -more serious revolt at Bhikhe, which
Sirdar Ala Singh, the brother of Ram Khem Kour,
one of Baja Amar Singh's widows, had seized, with
the aid of the zamindars of the meighbourhood,
expelling the Pattiala Governor, Thamman Singh,
from the town and fort
The Ranis and therr relations had, at this tume,
e pemolt of Siv- , great power in Pattiala. They all,
BRikhe, with the exception of Ram: Huk-
man, hated Nanun Mal for his efforts to maintain
economy and to restram thewr extravagance within
due bounds ; and the Diwan found himself opposed
and thwarted in every possible way. He, however,
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mustered a large force composed of Pattiala, Jhind,
Nabha, Maler Kotla, Bhadour, and Ramghara
troops, and, a,ccompa.med by Ram Hukman, marched
agninst Bhikhe and invested the village. After a
few days skirmishing, Ala Singh,  seeing further
resistance hopeless, escaped froma Bhikhe by mght,
and fled to his home af Talwandy, whither he was
pursued by the Diwan and captured. He was 1m-
prisoned ab Pattiala for a time, but, on the mterces-
gon of Sodht Nahr Singh of Anandpur, & man
of great sanctity, he was at Jength released, on pay-
wment of & heavy fine; and allowed Dhimon and
other villages for hus support.
To add to the difficulties of the Pattiala admm-
The groat fomine * 18tTatI0N, the year 1783 was one of
or1783 famne as terrible 'as any that has
ever devastated Northern India® The year pre-
vious had been dry and the harvest poor, but, in
1783, 1t entirely farled. The country was depopu~
lated, the peasants abandoning thewr wilages
and dying n thousands of disease and want but
httle 1evenue could be collected, the country swarmed
with bands of robbers and dacoits, and the state of
anarchy was almost inconcervable, The neighbouring
Claefs began to seize for themselves the Pattiala
willages, and all who dared threw off Pattiala author-
ity and declared themselves independent..
Diwan Nanun Mal did not lose heart. He
¥he aotéon of e WS aman of extraordinary resource
Disoa. and Ius powers sppeared to rise
with danger, He sent to Lucknow for tramed
' gunners and officers who could disciphne hus troops
aftor the European fashion, and set to work to

* Known as the “Chila® the year bewy, according fo Hindn
computation, 1840 A. V  forty * Chdliz".)




58 TXhe XRasjas of the unab.

reduce the insurgents to order and recover the Pat-
tinla terribory: which had been lost Furst he
marched , against Sardul Singh, the Governor of
Mulepur, a relation of Ram Khem Kour, who,
after the nnfortunate rebellion of her brother,
had sent to Sardul Singh for safoty all ber money
wnd jewels, The Diwan had besieged the town
for twenty days, when one of lus own officers,
named Karam Beg, bribed, 1t 1s supposed, by Sardul
Sevavely wonnaea  S1ngh, attempted to assassinate
by an aseassin him  The murdeier was cut down
by the attendants, but the Diwan 1eceived a severe
sword wound and was carried to the neighbourmng
village of Anandpur Kesoke where he lay 1n great
danger )

Ram Hukman, who had” come to Mulepur to
The death of Bant  VIsit the Diwan, died at this time
::;f;’:’,’::;:,ﬂd @% from an illness caused, 1 great
Kanun Mot part, by anxiety , and Nanun Mal
lost 1 her the best and the most imnfluential of his
friends  She seems to have thoroughly understood
that he wes the only man who could 1estore the
State to prospenity, and gave hum her warm sapport
On her death, theDiwan’s enemies, Ram Khem Kour,
Soman Singh Dhali, Bib: Pardhdn, great-aunt of
the Raja, and othets, gathered courage, arrested him
at he was lving wounded at Anandpur and sent
him a prisoner mto Pattala

Fortunately for Nanun Mal and the country,
Ranie Rajidar of tD€re was another woman of sense
Fhagwoara and courage in the Pattiala famly
This was Ram Rajindar of Phagwéra, a first
cousin of Raja Amar Sigh and who had belped
him 1 former difficulties Hearing of the state
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of * affars, she assembled a force; and, heading
it herself, marched to, Pattiala, released Diwan

Marches to Patti Na . 1
gfarahon o Fatit nun Msl and re-mstated him 1n

the Diwam * s place as muuster She had
not arrived a day too soon, for, no sooner had the
Diwan been imprisoned, than the neighbouring Sur-
dars renewed their encroachments and Pattiala 1tself
was m immment danger of bemng sacked by some of
the hostile confederacies of Sikhs

Namun Mal, finding that he could not count
Nanun Mat co-  upon the support or sympathy of

alesces with the

Mabhrattas any of the Pattiala nobles 1 his
atterpt to restore order, opened negotiaticns
with Dhira Rao, a Mahratta leader, who had been
for sume time 1n the country about Dehli, where
several of the more powerful Sikhs Chiefs, who held
estates between the Satle) and the Jamns, had
Jjomedhim  Among these were Bhagel Singh Krora
Singlua, Diwan Singh Laudah ; Bhanga Singhand
Mehtab Singh of Thanesar *  Sirdar Bhagel Singh,

.

* The fuunder of the Thancsar famiy 'was Mith Siogh, a Jat of
Srhall nem Patts i the Manyha, and received the Pihal from Gurdial
Singh, who obtained for bim the post of personal attendant ( garwe bare
dar, & servant who carries & drnking vessel and water ) to Tara
Singh, Gheha  Math Singh, in 1765, offended with the conduct of his mas-
tat, Induced 200 of s troopeis to desert, and set up for lumself Being
abaotutely without means, he determined on & bold stroke, and attacked
Tunnesar, wheve were two forts, one 1n possession of the Shaikhs and
the other betouging to Bhal Desn Singh of Kythal That belonging to
the Hhatkhs was captured, sad the other, after the death of Mith Sngh,
was gained by bribing the C dant, and the sny ding country wag
taken possession of by his nepbews Bhag Swigh, and Bhanga symgh,
who divided it between thuem, the latter obtawing the larger share,
Bhaoga Swgh, who died mn 18135, jofved the British force when, undor
Lord Lake, it camenorth of the Jamua, and was rewarded with additional
terntory  He was, however, of & mest savage aud untameable character,
aad gave & great deal of woudle Bhag Singh dled twenty-four years
betore lus brother, ieaving four sons, who were, if possibie, more audact.
ous and violeut than their wncle, Bhanga Siogh  In 1806, Bhanga Singh,
with the aid of ths Ladwa Chief, seized Dhowa, which ho held tiil bis death
He lett ason Fatah Smgh. and a danghter Karam Konr; who was married
to Mabuya Karm Singh of Pattfats, There was also an illegitie
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who had then great influence to the south of the

Satlej, srranged matters wath the Mahratta, who

consented to assist Nanun' Mal for a consideration

of two lakhs of rupees, and straightway marched

from Karnal to Thanesar, where Swdar Bhanga

Singh had his fort, and where he was joined by the
Diwan, Ramz Rapndar and Raja Gajpat Singh of
Jhind, who, before therr departure from Pattiala,

had seized and amprisoned Sirdar Somén Smgh,

fenrng lest he might give trouble during thewr ab-

sence. Having jomned forees, they marched agamst-
some of the neighbourng Chiefs, the Mahratta re-
celving tnmbute from the. Bhais of Kythal and
recovering Kot and other Pattiala villages from the
Sirdars of Ambala.. During this march, Raja Gajpat
Singh fell ill, and, returmng to lus residence of
Sufidun, died there at the close of 1789.

The Diwan then, m company with Dhdra Rao,
maxrched agamst Bantr Thus town,
which is of some importance, is
situated about 12 mles to the north west of Ambala,
and was defended by two forts, an old imperial one,
called Zulmgaih, and another of more recent date.
This town, with the neighbouring villages had been
congquered by the Singhpuria Sndars,* DBut Raja

Thosiege of Banup,

mate son, Salb Singh, born of a slave gil, who was uot allowed to-
succeed to ashare with Fatah Singh, though matenasce was given
him Fatah Slugh died in 1819, leaving two widows, who succeeded him,
although the mother managed the estate which, in 1850, escheated to
Government. +

Ouly one of the sons of Bhag Singh [eft fssue, Jamiyat Si
who died 1n 1834, when the asw:g lnps:§ N d et

* The Singhpm ia was a very gowerful family, and ite founder, Kapur
Singh, was undoubtedly the most hed of the Bikh leaders before
the days of Jasea 8ngh Ahlowalis and Ala Singh of Pattiala  He was
known as “ Nawab "' almost the only mstance of a 8ikh taking a Mu-
hammadan title, and conqnuered the village, and country abeut Fajzoila.
pur, near Amnisar, from Faizulla Khan, acd gave 15 the mame of
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Amar Singh, who had assisted m its conquest, ob-
tained & half share of the revenues During the
troubleés which fellowed the death of Amar Singh,
Sirdar Khushhal Singh Smghpuria had seized the
whole distriect He was however able to make but:
funt resistance to the force brought against him,
and the Diwan was able to 1ecover the Pattiala
share of the tuwn  After this success, Nanun Mal;
by means -of forced contributions from Chiefs and
Dhara Buo vetives - Zamuindars, eontrived to pay the
to Karnal, Mahratta the two lidkhe as agreed,-
and to induce him to leave for Karnal Sirdar?
Baghol S8ingh Krora' Singhia remamed belunll te
assist In reducing refactory subjects and t6 obtain
what the Diwan had promised him for Iis services
1n negotiating With the Mahrattas: * \'
T
From Banur, the Dl\van;marched south\wardsh
The Dowan scam- COHecting fines and contnbutions
patgn of 1754 from Kythal, Maknan and Serai

fnghpma, trom which the famnly take ita name, thongh 1t 18 as fre
quently kuown as Faizndlapuria  Nawab Kapur Sigh died at Amrisae-
in 1733, giving what command over the Khalsa army any one Chief
conld in these days be savd to to Sirdar Jassa Singh Alhuwaha.
His teviiter v, however descended to s nephew hbusahal Singh, who
equ stied tus tather's reputation and obtalned y of & large tract
of goantl v worth aiout 4 lakhs of 1 upees a yoar, bosh Cic and Tians-Sutles,
fndading Jalandhay, Bulandgarh, Swghpura, Patty, Nurpor, Bebampm,
Ghanoll and Bhartgath, He was one of the most active agawst the
Muhammadans, and it was one of s troopers who killed the Afghan
Governgy Zin Khan 1 1763 After this he seised Ludhiana and
Banur, with the assistauce of Pattaala, winch State aftern ards received a
half share of the latter district  Khushhal Singh bad ¢we sons, of whom
one, Sudh Ningh, died in hs father s lite-time, and the second, Budh
Singh, succesded to the estate 1 1795 All the Jalandbar territory was
seized by Maharga Rannt Stugh, and the Sirdar had to take up lia resi-
dence Cis-Satig) under British protection, where, m 1812, he held esrates
worth Rs 54,000 @ vear, Budh Singh died n 1816, and lis estate waa
divided amoug g sons, gaven 1n number, by ‘ Chundawind *: e, 10
shares according to the number of wives

At the pre eut ime thore are tour distinet branches of the Singhpuria
fanuly, the Chief of which is represonted by Sirdar Jar Singh of Manoli,
who hwlds haif of the ancestral estates  The cemander 18 divided amoug,
the bianches of Ghanoly, Bungah aud Kandols.

s
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Dorsha, where he was repulsed from the fort by the
Sikhs He aided Sirdar Dalgl Singh Malod torecover
the village of Sehnke, of which lus younger brother
Bagh Singh had taken foretble possession , and then
attacked Kot Kapura on which he was able to make
no mpression, but he built a mud fort about three
wules distant, at Dholan, - to overawe the place, and
then marched against the Bhattis, who had re-
covered all the termtory of which Raja Amar
Singh had deprived them. He overran the country
and collected some arrears of revenue due from
Sengal, Chandabh and Blunah, but had only -
different success elsewhere, and, bemng quite unable
to hold the country he had ravaged, returned to
Pattiala, where Sirdar Bhagel Singh was dismissed
with the promised money.
In 1787, Raja Salub Singh was marned to
rne morringe or Rattan Kour, daughter of Sirdar
s, Ganda Singh Bhang,,* who had
1787 long been dead, but his grandson
Gulab Singh still held, though with dimimshed
authority, the ety of Amntsar and 1ts neighbour-
hood, and was a powerful Chief, and the marnage
was performied with proportionate splendour
About this time, Ata-ulla Khan, the Chief of
the disputs ve. Maler Kotla, asked for the help of
e ey Pattiala against Surdar Chuhr Smgh
and Haler Kotla Bhadouna who had seized several of
his villages  The Maler Kotla Nawab had become
a fast friend of Pattiala and it was necessary
to assist hum, but Chuhr Singh was noew too
powerful to be attacked with mpunity, so an ar-
rangement was made by which the latter gave up

» For an account of Swdar Ganda Smgh Bhaugy vide © Punjab
Cluefs, pp. 386—388
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the willages he had seized, in return for others of the
same value from Pattiala territory
The expedition of Dhara Rao to Pattiala had
Pt ;-:-M" o taught the Mahrattas that the
ratta. country to the north of the Jamna
was a good field for plunder, and, i the spring of
1788, another Chief, named Amba Rao, determined
to try lus fortunes 1n that direction  He persuaded
Ghulam Kadir Khan, the son of Zabita Khan
Rohulla, who had died three .years befors, to jomn
hum , and, at Kainal, Sirdar Bhagel Singh Krora-
Singhia made s subimssion, for this Chief was
generally the first to welcome an mnvader and follow
him as a jackal the lLon, to obtain a share of the
prey, however mmgnificant The Pattiala Diwan
met the mvaders at 2 yllage in the Kythal territory,
where the Mahratta levied a contribution which
Pattiala assisted to pay on the mortguge of seven
villages which Bha: Lal subsequently released
Amba Rao did not make much by his expedition
The Rolulle. Cluef, Ghulam Kadir, exther quarrelled
with lum or was bnibed by the Sikhs, and retired
towards Dehh which he soon afterwards took by
storm, disgracing humself by permitting every kind of
atroetty aund putting out the eyes of the Emperor
Shabk Alam with his own bhand  After Ghulam
Kadir's departure, Amba Rao could make httle
Whe retires win  1pTession on the Sikh Chuefs who
but birttoplunder gre profuse 1 promuses whichthey
had no intention to fultl, and, much disappomted with
the result of Lis expedition, he recrossed the Jamna
Diwan Nenun Mal was now mduced by Sirdar
Diwan ¥anwn arat  Han Singh of Sialbah to make an-
:::::,...?;:" l:;.::,: other attack upon Khushhal Singh
tutwirhout svecess. Snghpuria who had tahen Awan-
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kot and -other,,villages of the Sialbah terntory
Then jomnt forces first attacked Kotlah, a small fort
held by Man Singh, sopan-aw of the Smghpunia,
Chief, and reduced 1t without much difficulty
Thence they went to Awankot and mmvested the
place, but Budh Singh, son of Suder Khushhal
Singh, with Tars Singh Gheba, Rai Singh Bhangs,*
and other Chiefs, came to the rescue and compelled
the raising of the mege , Nanun Mal sent to Pattiala
for remnfarcements, and Ata-ullah Khan of Maler
Kotla, Rat Muhamad of Rai Kot,t with some Nabha
and Kythal troops soon joined him, but the fighting,
which was little morethan skirmishing, was mdecistve,
and it was thought advisable to abandon any further
attempt on Awankot. The campagn of Diwan
Nanun Mal had been succegsful on the whole He
had reduced to submission a great number of refrac-
tory villages and collected airears of revenue of which
the State treasury was much in need, for war, famme
and the exactions of the Mahratias had effectually
emptied it, He had, morever, recovered much of
the ternmtory which the neighbouring Chiefs bad

* Thg was the Chief of Jagadis

. . T The Chefs of Rax Kot who, at the begunning of the ceotury, posses-
sed considerable teriitory, were Muhammadan Rajpots, ymmgi ants fiom
Jasalmie, whicll Tulst Das, their great ancestor, left in 1323, A D,
setthng at Mogal, afterwards Faiidkot and adopting the Muhammasden
faith  His second son Gopal, founded Shabjahanpur m the Ludiua
district, aud Rai kaiha, another of s descendants, the towa of
Talwandi m A D 1478 The fanuly became of some HRportance,
and, abeut 1620, obtained possession of the town of Ludhiana, which had
been founded 140 years before by Yusaf and Nihang, two Lokt Chief,
whence the name of the town  {tom Ludiana the Rai Kot Chiefs were
expolled by Saiub Singh Bedy, but they afteswavds recovored 1, and,
at the end of the 18th centmy, owned Rai Kot, 'lalwaedl, Jhandiala,
Jagraon, Baddowala, Lodhiana, Basia and other districts Ra Alvag,
the last Chief died m 1802, and his mother Nur wl-pisad succeeded him
Mahargjn Ranpt Smgh, 1n 1806, seized the whole territory and
divided 1t betw een his alhies. Raja Bhiag Singh of Jhind, Rua Jaswaut
Singh of Nabha, Sitdar Gurdit Singh Ladwa and Drvan Mokkam Chand
A few villages anlone weie left, winch have descended to Rai Imém
Baksh, the present repiesentative of the famsly.




b athala SState, 65

seized during the troubles which followed Amar
Singh’s death and had shown himself to be not only
brave but far-seeing and anxious for the good of the
State ' :
But the Diwan was toa honest to be successful
The unpopttartty 1D & Native State, during a long
of the Dwwan minority, the general rule of prac-
tice 18 corruption of the grossest and most unblush-
ing bind , and should chance place an honest man
i power, he 1 at once assaled by the crowd of
parasites and slaves who hate a character which 1s a
perpetual menace end reproach to themselves, and
he niust be strong as well as honest, to defy his
encmies who melude m their ranks every man 1m
the State except lumself Naoun Mal besides was
of so proud & disposttion that he did not care whom
he offended He had givenmany of the most lucrative
offives of the State to his sons and relatives, andexcited
the greatest dishke by his custom of smoking his
hubta 1 Dubar, when giving audience to Sikh
Chiefs, tobacco being odious to them and forbidden
by therr creed.
Rajn Salub Simngh was now fourteen years old.
The distihe opthe 1518 difficult to say what was lus
Buya t0 how natural disposition, for the chief
object of his Miwisters was to confine hus attention
to pleasure, nautches, hunting and elephant fights,
that be nught be disposed to leave State affars to
ther management  Agamst the Diwan they poisoned
luis nund, hoting that 1t was s intention to
souse the power for hnnself and with this object
was' intngumg with the Mahrattas, wlile evenif
he desigued to leave the Raja nominal authonty,
all real power would be taken away It was
easy to imduce the boy to bebieve stones such as these
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to which the pride of the Diwan and hus famuly
gave some colour, and he< began to hate Narun
Mal ag hitterly as hus courtiers did
Other dangérs were now mmpending The
Now dangers to CTimes of the imfamous Ghulam
Paticla. Kadir Khan Rohdla and the mis-
fortunes of the tortured and msulted Emperorhad been
well avenged by Smdhia Mahdaji, the gneat Mahratta
leader, who drove the Rohilla from Dehh pursued
and captured hm at Mehrat and put hm to
death with tortures. The Emperor Shah Alam was
agamn placed, with all honour, on the throne of
Dehl, and Sindhia set humself to reduce to obedience
the country north of the Jamna in the name of the
Emperor, )
The Mahratta force marched northwards, comn-
avothorManrosta D120ded by Rane Khan Dadaji and
Fnvasion Al Bubadar Peshwa At Thane-
sar they halted some time, and the Pattiala Dur-
bar began to hope that this might be the humt of
the expedition , but Bhanga Smgh of Thanesar an-
noyed the Mahrattas so, much by plundenng thewr
baggage and, mtercepting their convoys, that they
marched tq Ajrira exght miles pearer to Pattiala. At
the capital there was great dismay The treasury
had been dramed by the late war, and 1t was not the
Mahiatta custom to retire from before a town
with erapty bands, and what was not freely given
they were quite prepared to take. In this emer-
gency Diwan Nanun Mal did not know where to
turn for aid  He visited the lacies at the palace,
and advised them to leave Pathala for Mung or
Bhattinda, where they would be m greater safety,
il the storm had blown over. Ram Rajindar, wha
now began to distrust the Diwan’s loyalty, and who
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did not know what fear was, refused to leave
Pattiala, and told Napun Mal that 1t was hs
duty as Prime Miuster to make arrangements with
the invadors, and, if necessary, to buy them off The
Diwan felt that 1n the Ram he was loaing hus only
friend, and, knowing that he was suspected, formed
the desmign of leaving Pattiala for ever But he
determined to make an effort to raise some money,
and calling together the subordinate Cluefs, visited
the Mahratta camp where he made himself very
useful to Rane Khan, introducing the different
Chiefs and giving mformation as to the amount of
nazrana which each duld pay .

The Pattiala contribution was at last demanded

the emomy ae- Lhe Diwan beng ether really
mand tribute unable to find the money or more
probably wishing to pumsh the coolness with which
he had been treated by Rani Rajndar, sent her
news of what was demandod and begged her to
take measures for the payment, without delay, as,
default of payment, the aity of Pattiala would cer-
tanly be attacked, But the Rani was as proud as
Digioutt megotia- the Diwan and as bravg as she was
Home, poud, and returned answer that
Nunun Mal was Mimster and must pay the Mah.
rutta fine himself. Convinedd as she was of the
Diwan's treachery, she determuned to take :mmediate
action to counteract 14, and sent an officer to seize
Devi Ditta, the Dywan’s son, whom she placed m
confincment a8 a guarantee for the father's good
couduct Thns hasty action had deplorable resulis.
The Diwan, seeing that all hope of reconcihation with
the Ram was lost, and that s only chance of
regauung power was in Mahratta interference,
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at once persuaded Dadaji to march to Pattiala with
30,000 men,

The force encamped at Sohlar, about two miles
rne Monrasia (T0M the town, whence a message
armyuppearsbofors  Was Sent to the Ram directing her to
Fheouty of Faliald  Jeliver up the Diwan’s son, for until
'he .was released Nanun Mal refused to take any
steps towards obtpining the nezrana  The Rani was
prepared to defend the city; but she gave up
Devi Ditta, thinking 1t unadvisable to press mat-
ters to extremities Several of the neighbourmg
Chuefs tried to arrange termsmand, notably, Sirdar
Bhagel Singh Krora Singhia, who was compelled to
meddle m the business of every one hetween- the
Satlej and Dehli , but . Ram ,Rajindar declmed to
pay a single rapes  She made several vimts to the
Mabratta camp, following the example of Maz Deso,
the mother of Raja Jaswant Smgh of Nabha, who had
been fortunate enough to secure good terms for her
son Bubt Diwan Nanun Mal and Ram: Rajindar
were able to settle nothmg, each declaring that
the other was the proper person to pay the fine,
the truth bemg that. the treasury wag empty , the
Chuefs and the people had been ground down by
exactions hll they could give pothing more, and
whoever satisfied the Mahratta demands, would have
to do so from private means, which, m the case of
both the Rani and the Diwan, were very large
The Mahrattas, at last, twed of wating,
. nsisted upon the fort of Sefabad,
,‘,,‘,,'"f,;";_" Pt o situated a few mules north-east of
Scfabad as serity  the aity and now known as Buhddar-
o garh, bemng placed m thewr hands,
To this the Diwan consented, through Ram Rapn-
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dar opposed 1t.  No sooner had the Mahrattas obtain-
ed the fort, than they thought to hasten the payment
of the naerana by a display of force ; and for a month
and a half slurnushes were frequent between the
Sikhe and the Mahrattas, though the leaders on
cither sule were unwiling to come to a complete
rupture  Rani Rajindar still refused to pay and
declared herself wiling to march with the Mahrat-
tas to Mathra, where she would a11ange matters with
Sindhia lamself  To tlus Rane Khan and Dadap

e sanratiore. WTE compelied fo consens, and the
tiro with e Rent« Ramy, with a strong foree, marched
and the Diwan southwards, the Mahrattas mamsting -
on Diwan Nanun Mal accompanying them , but, at
Karnal, he induced them, on consideration of his
services, to release hun, and take his son Dev: Ditta
with them nstead

No socner had the Mahratta army disappeared,
than Raja Salub Singh, who had

nuﬁﬁl’-:aﬁmfn: B taken shelter at a dlatince from the
ot proporty capital, marched to Dhodan or
Bhawamgarh, where, mstigated by his followers,
who were dutermined on the ruin of the Diwan,
he confiscated much of Nanun Mal's property, and
thence to Barnala, whete he seized and 1mprisoned
Nannda Ra, one of the Diwan’s sons, and collector
of the districts of Hodiana and Barnala Fiom
tlus town he marched southwards to Mong ( Monak
o1 Akalghar ) of wluch Ditta Mal, the thnd son
of the Dinan, was commandant, and who, at first,
refused to surrender the fort  But his troops
Lnowing the Diwan's fortunes were on the ebb
refused to act agamst the Pattiala forees, the fort
was given up, and four Likhs of rupees plundered
The Ruja found that spolmtion was an easy way
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of rawsing money, and, after a hurried visit to Pati1-
ale, he left for Ghanot, and besieged the fort which
was defended by Zugt Mal and Diwan Mal, nephows
of the Minister

" Nanun Mal was on his road back from Karnal
ohe Diwam taves When he heard of all that his ene-
refugcaiShahkabad  mies had accomplivhed aganst hum,
Understanding that, till fortune changed, 1t would
be madness toreturn to Paitiala wheie he could
only expect imprisonment or death, he took refuge
with Sirdar Karm Singh of Shahabad *

This Chuef promised him not only protection
e :;;:;':,::h:{ but assistance to recover his power
vad 1 Pattiala, but treacherously wiote
to Raja Sahib Sing, telling, hun of the arnival of the
fugatave and urging bim to take Ghanm befme the
Diwan could raise troops and come to the help- of
his relatives Nanun Mal with difficulty collected a
small force and marched to the relief of the foit, but
on the road he heard of 1ts capture, his men desert-
ed, and he was obliged to seck, 3 new asylum 1n the
Kythal territory, where he took up hus residence at
the hitle willage of Chikab, close to the Pattiala

* Karm Sigh was an nmnigiaut fiom the Manjha, in 1759 The
Shahabad districs had beeu soized by several Cliefs of the Nishawa
confederacy, the widow of one of whom Himat Singh, gave to harm
Bingh five villages  Inietmu for this kindness, Karm Sugh obtaned
a giant of her whole estate fiam Dehh and ansted her from ail but the
viliage of Istamabiad  'T'ing conduet scarcely agreed with by aguomen of
“ Nirmala® or spotless e died 1n 1808, jeaving fom sans, Rawht Singh,
Sher Singh, Khaak 8mgh, and Kalm Singh, who divided the entate
equally between them 1 1811  Kharak Singh dred without ssue, e
1831, and bis share was alloted to Jus full biother Sher Singh ‘Lhe
latter died 1n 1861, and Ine only son, Kesra Singh, & year and a half
Jatar, when the estate, valued at R 11,600, was resamed by Goverument.
‘1 he other sbares me still held by Sudsrs Dharm Sigh lhishan Smgh
and Partab Singh  The two former are the sons of Suday Rannt Siugh,
and thel) estate 13 worth Rs §,297 per annum, wlule that of Yartab
Sigh, the soun of Kahn Singh 18 worth Rs 3,632
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The fottopno pi.  frontier  All his estates. were con-
wanand kis fomily  figeated, his property setzed, and s
relations expelled from office or placed 1n confinement

In the meantime, Ram1 Rajindar had paid her
Rani Rajindange. V1516 to Sindhia at Mathra and had
turnsto dattinle  }aen well recerved, arranging for the
payment of the nuzrana, and leaving Devi Ditta Mal
as 8 gumantee for the fulfilment of ,the stipulated
conditions  On returning to Pattiala, she found the
arts which had been so cffectual against the Minister
bad been employed with equal success against
herself), and that the foohsh Raja had been per-
suaded to fear her power as too great for his safety
and dignity and to believe her in alliance with
Nanun Ml to restore the old order of things and
reduce the Chicf to the mere cypher for which his
intellect and vices so emneutly fitted him  She
made scveral attempts to see Salnb Singh, but he
persistently avoided hes, and, at last, wearied out and
mortified at the ingratitude which repmd the most
Her acamn, 4 »  Uevoted service with suspicion and
#11 wsult, she took to ber bed and died
at Pattala after a short illness

Ram Rapmda was one of the most remaikable
women of her age She possessed
all the virtues winch iren pretend
me their own, courage, perseverence and sagacity,
withoui uny nuxture of the weaknesses which men
sttribute to women , und, remembering her listory
and that of Rams Salub Kour and Aus Kour, who,
sorie years luter, eondueted, with so much abibty,
the aflars of the Pattinla State, 1t would almost
appest that the DPhalkinn Chiefs excluded, by direct
cnactnont, all women fiom any share of power from

v charvacter

v
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the.suspicion that they were able to use 1t far more
wisely than themselves

Diwan Nanun Mal had raled so long m Pattia-
Namun Mave tass 18 that he was unable to resign all
efertforpower.  hope of regaining his authority with-
out apother struggle, and looked about for some
powerful and discontented Chief whom he might
use to obtan his object He found & smta.ble
mstrument 1 Ata-ulla Khan, the Nawab of Maler
Kotla, from whom Pattiala had taken many vil-
- lages at different times considerably reducing the
Afghan Chief’s terntory. The Diwan assured hin
that his opportunity to recover his lost lands
was now come, that the Pattala treasury was
empty and the people oppressed and discontented,
while the Raja, was entitely i the hands of men
without courage or energy, who would be unable tu
help im 1 any serions" emergency. Thw was all
true enough's but the Diwan had overrated the
mfluence that he still possessed m Pattiala He
was almost umversally disliked, and his immediate
relations, who alone destred his success, had fallen
with his fall and were unable to assist ‘him  Ata-
ulla Khan'collected us trodps and marched as far
as Khanpur, some fourteen nules fiom Pattiala, m
company with Nanun Mal. Here he was met by
the Pattiala force, headed by Sirdar Chubr Singh
Bhadour and Dalel Singh Malod, and after
several trifling engagements i which the Maler
Kotla troops were invariably worsted, he discovered
that the advice of the Diwan had been ov i1, that
Zta pature no Pattiala feudatories came to join
him, and he wisely made lis sub-
mussion, which, being m,cepted he returned to lus
* own territory
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Diwan Nanun Mal did nat longsurvive this
nedsathoryamun  fa1lure,of all hus hopes and died at
eal, 4 D 1799 Maler Kotlam 1792, deserted by Ins
old friends and despised by lus new ones whom
e oharacer he had counselled so unwisely An
. estunate of s character is difficult,
as Pattiala records are almost the only source of infor-.
mation, and that Court cannot Jeok with favor on a
Mmster who directly rebelled aganst his Chuef But
for Tus rebellion there were many excuses, while his
great services to'the State were mdisputable He
alone saved Pattiala from utfer collapse after the
degth of Raja Amar Singh, when every neighbour-
mg Chief was ready to dismember 1t and when
feudatories and subjects were 1n open revolt’ That
he oppressed the people is true, but he was com-
pelled to find money for necessary war He also
mnsulted and alienated the Chiefs and their hostiity
was the cause of hus downfall Hls conduct at the
time of the Mahratéa invasion i open to grave
suspicion ; and Rami Rapndar, who,was remark-
ably acute, was couvinced of lus dishonesty But
although he doubtless desued to benefit hmself,
for he was avaricious m the extieme: there 1s no
proof that he did not do lus best for the State
Mimssters at Native Courts are not to be judged by
the standard which European morality has set up,
and even were they so Judged, there are may mstances
m European countries of Statesmen and Generals
who have rendered conspicuous services to therr
country and whose names are jurily remembered
with gratitude, who have yet made use of thewr
opportunitics to enrich themselves and their fannlies,
Rebelhion agamst hus Chuef cannot be justified , but
all the excuse which 1s ever possible for rebellion he
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certanly had  Sahib Singh was & mere puppet
the hands of greedy and unscrupulous men who had
no thought except for themselves, and whose intr-
gues against the Mumster were prompted by no
other motives than jealousy and a dewire to obtamn
the power of helping themselves from the State
Treasury 1t wasrather against these creatures than
against the miserable child who was called Raja
that the Diwan tpok uparms His fate was that
which generally awats Mimsters of ability and
honesty 1n Native States, and the intrigues whih
overthrew lumn are the very proof of lus capacity
and devotion to the interests of his country .
The suceessors of Nanun Mal 1 the favor of
The- puccensore of Ry Salub Smgh were Syad Mir
the Diwan and their
fatn Ilaht Baksh and Kesar Mal, a Kha-
tri, whose influence soon became as distasteful to
the Sikhs as that of the old Mimster had been , and
Sirdar Albel Smgh Kaleka, Fatah Singh Mihrmah
and Munsh: Ramdyal, who had before been favorites
but who were now neglected, determined to get
nd of them  Aceordingly, 1n open Durbar, and n
the very presence of the Raja himself, these ruffiams
assassinated the Syad , Dyal Singh Rorah ard
Sukha Smgh Dhillon being the actgal murderers
Diwan Kishan Chand, one of the Syad’s party, was
also severely wounded and escaped with difheulty
Raja Sabib Singh fled to s private apartments, bat
he could only reward the men who had murdered
4 new mintmry,- D18 friends, and Albel Singh was
4 b 1793, ereated Mimster and Ramdyal Chief
Munshi  This was ip 1793.  The Raja was unable
to trust the men whom he bad rased to power, and
beheved, with some justice, that they inight some
day serve him 1n the same way that they had servid
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Tlahi Baksh ; but the only person n whom he could
trust was his sister Salyb Kour, who had marned
Sirdar Jumal Singhy Kanheya® the master of a
great part of the Bam Doab, above Dinana-
pJami Sabid Kour  gar* To her he sent, begging her
sstorof taiela  to pay him a wvisit at Pattiala,
and when she arnved. he proclaimed her" his
Chiof Minister, with Tara Singh, one of her own
people, as Deputy , and Diwan Singh, the nephew
of Nanun Mal, was aguin taken mto favor and made
Finance Mimister or Diwan  She had not been long
at Pattiala when she, heard that her husband, at
tins tune & young man of twenty-one, was m d&iffi-
culties and hard pressed by his cousin Fatah Singh.
She accordingly begged a force fiom her brother
which he wilhogly. granted, and, heading 1%
herself, she marched to Fatahgarh and rescued
her husband who had been captured by Fatah
Singh, 1etwrmng soon after this exploit to Paitiala
m irmaph

In 1794, a large Mahratta force, under the

e Cissarty COMmaNd of Anta Rao and Lachh-
States invaded by man Rao, crossed the Jamna and
AniaBuoMakrat® marched m the direction of Pattiala,
the smaller Clhiefs making thewr submussion and
even the larger ones, Jhind and Kythal, sending
agents to make their compliments and express therr
dovotion  But the lady who now ruled the fee-
ble Pattiala Chief was as courageous as her
Prepavations 7o €0UsID Rani Rapndar, and was
vesistanse not ndmed to yleld to the in-
vaders without & struggle Raja Bhag Singh of
Jhind, Jodh Swgh Kalva,t Bhanga Swgh and

* For the lustor v of this famly, eude * Panjab Clhuefs™ pp 322338

t The Cluof of halsia takes 1ank above ali Cia-Sntle] Cliefu, excapt
Pattiata, Jhnd Nobha, Maler hotla and Faudkot. ‘T he founder of the
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Meohtab Smgh of Thanesur, and the Bhadour Sirdars,
D1p Singh and Bir Singh, agreed to jom her, wiule
Surdar Tara Singb Gheba sent 8 detachment, and
the whole force, numbering together about 7000 men,
marched to meet the enemy near Murdanpur, a few
mmles from Amballa, where.a brisk engagement tock
place, but the Sikhs, who were far inferior in dis-

The gattantry or Ciphne and numbers to the Mah-
Saniy Kour zattas, began to give way  Re-
treat would have soon turned to flight had not
Bib: Salub Kour, who had come herself with the
troops, leaving her brother 1n his zandna ot Pattiala,
stepped down from her charot ( Rath ) and, drawing
her sword, declared that the Sikhs would be for ever
disgraced if they allowed her, a woman and the smister
of thexr Chuef, to be slain, for she was determined
never to retreat This gallantry so shamed and
encouraged the soldiers, that they retuaned with
renewed fury to the fight, which they maintained,
though with considerable Joss, till mghtfall, neither

family was Sndar Gurbukslt Stagh of Kalaias m the Mantha, one of the
Krora Singhia federacy, and a p of Sirdar Bhaget Singh of
Clnlound:  He was not a man of much note, but fus sou Jodh dugh,
boin 1n 1751, possessed great ability, took possession of the District
of Chichiewls, and, on the the death of Sndar.Bhagel Singh, was ac~
know ledged as the head of the Krova Singhia confederacy He con-
quered Delira and Bass: from Sudar Khazan Singh, Lotal and Achiak ,
and enctoached npon Pattiala aud Nabha werritory, but Raja Sahab Singh
gave to Han Sufgh son of Jodh Singh, his daughter Kaim Kour as wafe m
1803, and thus quieted a most dangerons neighbour JIa 1807 he fought
under Maharga Ranpt Singh at the siege of Naiiangurh, and was
rewarded with estates at Budala Kanert and Chabbal At the tune of
the treaty of 1809, the Kalsia territory was worth two lakhs and a
balf per annum  Jodh Singh gave a great deal of tioubie to s neigh-
boms and to the British Agent, and no one was soryy when he died at
Muitan, where he had been left in commaud of a detachiment after the siege
m 1818 Ouly the elder son, Soblia Sngh, survived hsm, and held the
estate 111} 1858 Both he aud his aon Lehna Singh did good service
the wutinies and supplied & contingent of 20 foot and four sowars.
The latter received 8 sanad conferrng the 1ght of adoption 1 March
1862  Sirdar Lehoa Singh bas lately died, and his ouly son Bishan
Bangh, aged 16, 18 now Cinef of Kalsta. The estate 15 worth about Rs
1,30,000 a year, with a population of 62,000,
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side bemg able to clam the vietory The Sikh
Chiefs now wished the Idy to return to Pattiala
wlule she was able, as the next day must bring with
- 1t their defent, but she refused ; and
ton st memn their e, 3¢ being desperate, proposed &
+ mght attack on the Mahratta camp
The very audacity of the proposal contaned rts best
chance of suceess, the troops were 1mmediately
put under arms, and, just befuro day-break, attacked ”
the M 1hrattas, who were taken completely by surpnset
The Sikbs did httle more than gallop through the
camp, cutting down those of the enemy they met,
and the Mahrattas suffered no great -
loss , but #he confusion caused was -
very great, and the next day, Anta Rao, hearmng
that large Sikh reinforcements wers approaching,
retired towards Karnal
In 1794, a man, half fanatic and half impostor,”
and as dangerous, greedy and unscrupulous as such
characters usually aze, appeared to disturb the Chs-
Satlyg States This was Bedi Salib Singh, the
Imeal descendant of Baha Nanak, the first and most
revered of the Sikh Gurus  "His father, Jit Singh;
was & quiet man who had never left s village of
Unah, where a pious disciple had given the grand-
father, Kala Dhayy, a httle farm, but Salub Singh,
knowmg the fanatieal and superstitious character of
the Sikhs, thought i1t would not Le difficult to influ-
4 vigios wor  cnce them to his own advantage
Sonit Simgi” 42> Accordimgly, he proclaimed a reh-
1o gious war against the Maler Kotla
Afghans, whom he accused of kullmg cows, as great
an offonce m the eyes of a Sikh as of any other Hindu *

Theo enemy retive

* Another reason given m the * Gosha-1-Pumab* for the enmity of
Ralub Swigh w the Atghans of M der Kotla, was that Sher Mulsmmnad
hhan the geand-father of Ata-ulla khan, had eloped with a woman of the
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He mduced Sirdars Tars Singh Gheba, Bhagel
Smgh, Bhanga Smgh Thapesar, and'several other
Chiefs to joun lum, all men who thought httle of
rehigion and a great deal of plunder, and who con-
sidered a rehgious ery as good as any other, so long
a8 they could kil and pillage

The unfortunate Maler Kotla Afghans, who
il the  Were probably as innocent of the
Kotta charge brought agamnst them as
most other victims of religious enthusiasm, prepared
for defence Ata-ulla-Khan was still the head of
the house, and, with us four nephews, Wazr Khan,
Fatesh Khan, Himmat Khan and Dalel Khan,
made & short resistance, but they were overpowered
and defeated, and fled to Kotla which the Beds
mmediately invested. © Ata-ulla-Khan sent off mes-
sengers to Raja Salub Sxpgb beggng for assistance,
and as a Pattiala force, under Bakshi Seda and Su dar

Pattiala bugs o Chen Smgh, was encamped close by,
ihe fuvader. at Amargarh, it soon reached the
town. Bedi Salub Singh was”a sacred character,
and the Sikh soldiers were unwilling to fight
against um , but after a paying him a sum of money
and threatening the Sirdars who accompamed hin
with the future vengeance of Pattiala, the Bedi was
nduced to withdraw across the Satley ‘

Four years Iater, mn 1798, the Bed1 preached,

The Bodimakesan- 3t Amritsar, a, second rehgious war
other roid in 1798,

# attacks pas Kot against the Afghans of Rar Kot,

fanuly of Guia Govind Singh, and induced ker to accept Muhammadamsm

1¢ was 10 nvenge thie insnlt and o recover the bunes of the lady that

babib Sgh astacked Kotla  But a Bedt descendant of Nanakh would

have no objecs n avenging an insult oftered to Goviad Smgh, « Sodhi,

of which family there were many members to defond its honor  Sahib

Sl;t;gh only made religion an excuse to loot a comparattvely defence«
fown v
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on the same pretext asthe last These mfidels, he
declared, had killed kimegand thewr lands should be
taken away and given to hun The Sikhs again
crossed the Sutle, about 7,000 m number, and
overian the Tar Kot district, which included Jagraon,
Rai Kot, Yudhiana and the ,neighbouring country
The Chief, Ra1 Alyas, was only fifteen years of
age, but his prineipal Officer, Roshan Khan, made
a gallant stand at the village of Jodh, and although
outnumbered four to ove, fought the wible day
and would have repulsed the Sikhs had he not
boen killed by a musket shot, when his troops,
dishemtened, took to fhghth Rar Alyas sent to
Ins neighbours for help, and the Chiefs of Pattiala
and Jhund, with Bhai Lal Singh of Kythal and
Jodh Smgh Kalsia, cqllected their forces and marched
towards Ludluana, diving the Sikhs before them
and rocoverng the villages which the Bedi had
seized  Kann Smgh of Shahabad and Budh Smgh
Fareullabpuria, who had been active supporters of
the Bedy, deserted him and went over to the other
side  The Phulkian Cluefs were not disintercsted 1n
thewr action, and Pattiala annesed Badowal, a few
oM Bhal, deieen nules south of Ludluana, and three
sitages other forts, as the price of her
assistance, while the fort at Wakha was mortgaged
to Bhat Fal Singh *

Dunven out of some vitlages, Bedi Salub Singh
s1sed others  To Mansur he was mvited by the
sammndars, weary of the tyranny of Shea Khan the
Collector of Rar Alyas, and the Nacbat fort came

* Pattila 1ecords speak of the belp given to Maler hotla, Rat hot,
and other ('hiels 8 gnen to ber fondatories ar * £ uldars ™ whom it was
the duts of the paramount toad  Llus s of comse nutrue Ru Kot
and Malm Kotla, though iess powerinl were quite a8 udependent as
Pattiatu heseds, and would have bughed at the wiea of begng her sadldaig
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e attacks Iua. 1010 s “possesion, while he built a
hiana, new one dn the village of Dog-

barn The Hindus and Sikhs of the town of ‘

Ludhiana then invited him there, and he surprised the

town by mght and bemeged the fort whih was

defended by Hassan Khan ‘The Bod: built a mud
fort on the spot where tho “ Suthhri-bi-Dharamsal”
is now sttnated, and prepared for a regular siege
Rai Alyas did- not know where to look for kelp
He mduced the Chiefs of Philor, Sudha Simgh and
Kour Singh, to come into the fort, but their assistance
was not of much value, and he at
assistance of George length sentto George Thomnss, an
Thomas of Hansh- Englhsh' adventurer, who had be
come very powerful ‘and who riled ‘the counmtry
about Hans: and Hissar Thomas, who was rapidly
extending s territory, was only too glad of an
opportunity of mterference in the affurs of any of
the Cis Satle; States, and at once left Fans with
And the Bedi ve. B strong force 'The Bedi, hearing
Hre of s near approach, raised the
sicge of Ludhiana and retwed across the Satlyj,
while Thomas, having no further excuse for mter-
ference, returned to Hansi,

Between the first and second visits of Bedi
Sahib Singh to the Cis-Satlej coun-

M’i"fj“’ﬁ";‘;‘;‘: “ . try, a Pattis]a expedition had been
sent to Ndhan, to assist the Raja,

who had, as usual, got into difficultics with his peo-
ple, who were m open rebelhon. Ram Salib Kour
was at the bead of the force and remained at N.ihan
for three months, settling the affairs of the little

State and reducing the insurgents to obedience.
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George Thomas,* who had come to the assis-
Zuo visaop seorgs  t0CE of the Raj Kot Chief, was an
Thumay Englishman of some tact and cour-
age, who had come to India m the yesr 1781,
He ontors tho noy. 204 had wandered’ about the coun-
sieeof denun Bimsa 1y geeking his fortune for several
years, tlll he was taken imnto the service "of the
fammous Zebun Nissa, more (:ommonly known as
Leaves nor for sne the Begum Samry  In 1792, for
Mahratias some msconduct, he was reduced
. rank, and left her service i disgust for
that of Apa Khand: Rao, a Mahratta Chief,
relative. of Madhap, Sindhia, and -master of the
J ha.JJnr, Dadi, and Narnol terntory Thowas
ratsed troops for the Mahrattas and mstructed them
as well g8 he was able 1n the Euyopean system of
, drill, and, 1 return, the district of Jhajjar was assigned
i m jagir  Here he built a fort which he named
“CGienrgegarh,” but which, by the people, was corrupted
into “Jahdzgarh ” When Bdwa Rao, the nephew of
Apa Khandr Rao, succeeded lus uncle, Thomas be-
came imdependent, and, taking possession of Hanst
tevoteuprornime 80d Iissar, be«mn to encroach. on
i the nelrrhbourma States He hada
force of eight regiments Cof foot, & thousand horsemen
and about fifty guns, and he strengthened the old
fort of Hansi, which he made bis capital.  In 1797,
hemade overturesto the principal Sikh Chiefs, invi-
ting ther to jom him in a combined resistance to the
Mahuattas, and m the c(mquest of Northern India,
but they 1egarded hun with suspicion, for his selfish
ams wete bn,rdy concealed, and they thought that to

* The huton ¥ of George Thomas has heen written and no more
of it will consequently be noticed liere than is neessary to explam his
connection with Pattisla Instory from 1798 to 1862 The work =
now lhowetrer, Very rive.—JThe Mudary Memows of George Thomas,
dta, by W Frankin, Culeuttu, 1803,
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help hum would only be to resign - then own mdepen-
dence

Thomas, unable to eajole the Sikhs, determined

Ana asncks the O Subduing ; them, and taking ad-
town of Thind, vantage ot the absence of, the prin-
cipal Chiefs at Lahore, in 1798, te oppose the mva-
sion of Shah Zamsn Durdniof Kabul, he lad siege
to Jhund, the neavest Sikh town, being not more than
Tho sombination  bWenty miles north-east of Hansi
agalust him_ Hearing of this danger the Phulkian
Chiefs huried bagk and assembled themr forces for
the relief of Jhind The Kythal troops were under
the command of Sirdars Sawan Singh, Samnan Smgh
and Diwan Ramdyal, while Gurdit Singh of Ladwa
and the Thanesar Chiefs, Bhanga Smgh and, Mehtab
Singh, were induced to jomn by consmderable presents.
They had not yet fallen so low a8 to fight for honor
or for a friend, without the hope of some peisonal
gain, The combined foice marched to Jlund, but
m several skirmushes that took place the Sikhs
were worsted, 1l a large defachment of Pattiala
troops arrived, commended by the gallant lady
Salub, Kour.s The foree of the allies cannot have
numbered less than 25,000 men, and 1 estimated,
1n some traditions, at 40,000 After some further
skirmishing, Thomas, seeing that he was overmatched,
Thomas ratses o Ta2sed the siege and retired to Mehm
et et ar. Whither. Raga Bhag Smgh pursued
tack him, pillaging several villages of the
Hans: district.  But Thomae' retreat was only a
blind ; and at mght he attacked the Sikh earmp with
two thousand men, at Narawind, twelve miles to
the south of Jhind The Sikhs had kept no
avatch and weie carousing after their ymagmary
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triumph of the day before, when Thomas’ horsemen
galloped through the ¢amp The Sikhs took to
flight 1n all directions, losing & large number of men
and much baggage The allied army after tlus de-
feat beeame completely demoralized. The jealou-
stes betwasen the Chiefs were so fierce that no
JThe guareals disaster could happen without 1t
tuailers bemg attributed to treachery , and,
on this ocoamon, Pattiala declamed that Sirdar
Jawwant Smgh of Nabha had planned the
mght attack 1 oconcert with Thomas, to avenge
2 seornful speech of Bibr SalB Kour who had sud
that the Nabha soldiers, in comparison with those of
Pattiala, were no botter than sweepers ( Chumdrs).
In proof of this treachery 1t was observed that,
although the Jhind and Pattiala troops had suffered
most severely 1 thus mght attack, the Nabha con-
tingent had lost neither men nor baggage It 1s
unpossible to say Low fur this story of treachery 18
tive, and the «probability is, that 1t was mvented
to account for a discreditable defeat, as the myth
of Raja Tej Singh’s tieachery was mvented to
excuse the defeats of Firoshahr and Sobraon.
Karm Singh  “ the » spotless,” [ Normala) was
also accused of having accepted Rs 5,000 from
Thomas to set the example of runming away
Bribed or not, he certainly ran away with the great-
ost alacrity
After this defeat the Phulkian Chiefs were
The sikke wmare Content to make peace with Thomas,
poacercith Thomas.  who, on his part, had so many
enointes, that he was delighted to make friends with
the Sikhs, who were his only possible allies 1n the
event ofa rupture with the Mahrattas, which he
saw was sooner or later inevitable
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No sooner had danger from without ceased, than

Raja Sanis Singh  dissentions swere renewed withun ;
o M ™ and the weakamnded Sahib Singh,
mfluenced by hus favorites, who were jealous of Rani
Sabib Kour’s power, began to treat his sister with
great coldness There was, moreover, a new ele-
Tha new ‘cause o €Dt of discord i the person of
faansly discord. Rant Avus Kour, daughter of Sudar
Gurdas Singh of Chattah, whom the Raja had
marned m 1792, and who, 11 1797, Lore him a son
and heir who was named Kaim Smgh. This lady,
both clever and ambitious, thought the mfluence
possessed by Bibi Salub Kour over the Raja
belonged legitimately” to her, and eoalesced with
bis Court officials against Sahib Kour who was
accused to her brother of many imagmary-offeuces
Of these, the first asserted that she had hersddf
The oharged kept the elephant given by the

o Bt onn Ral}a, of N.i.halx)l as B rium fo{ the
services rendered 1n restoring order in his State
As Rani Sahib Kour had performed all the work
at Ndhan, while her brother was squandering health
and money among punps and prostitutes at Pattiala,
she might wéll have pleaded her right to keep the
present It was also alleged, as a crme, that she
had builf, in 1795, a fort near Sunam, in her jagr,
without her brother’s permussion, and had changed the
pame of the village of Bhirtan to Ubhowal, which 1t
still retains 'When the Rani saw that the evil advice
of hus favontes had more weight with the Raja than
all her services, she left Pattala in disgust for
Bhurian, where her new fort stood This conduct
Her gkt rrowm Secmed to confirm the Raja’s suspi-
Pattiale. cions, and he ordered her to leave
Bhirian and return to her husband at Fatahgach,

Py
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The Ram had been so long accustomed to command
that she was not disposed, to obey, and took no notice
of this order , on which the Raja himself marched
The Rajws st ppamst the fort and was making
mititary rapeds
tlon preparations to reduce 1t when
Bhai Dal §ingh and other mutnal fiiends succeeded
in persuading hum that 1t would not be for hig fame
to commence lus nnlitmy career by fighting with
lus sister, and m mnducing the Rani to submit and
1eturn to Pattiala  On the road, however, suspicious,
with very good 1eason, of the intentions of her bio-
ther, she escaped and ieturned to Bhiman, when
all the negotiations had fo be commenced afresh
At last, an pronnses of safety, ohe cansented a
sccond time to return.io Pattiala ; but when the
fhe treatment of Rtje had, conveyed her as far as
Skt Kow Dhodan or Bhawamgarh, he placed
her w confinement i the fort  She soon contrived
to esuape, changing clothes with one of her servants,
and returned to Bhirlan, where she hived without
futther molestation for some tume, but died 1 1799,
#or doaens, 4. p the unjust treatment that she had
1309 , reccived having probably shortened
her hie .
The poace wlich George Thomas had made
Grorge  Thomas  w1th Jhind was not of long duration
Sone MM Yo had alarge force which he was
only able to pay by expeditions agawnst neigh-
bowing Stotes, and ‘the Jhind and Kythal
villages were nearest at hand and most defenceless
In 1799, he renewed s attacks, and the Phulkian
Chiets, with Bhat Lal Smgh ot Kythal, again coalesced
to resist hun A fight took place between Thomas
and Bhadour troops at Dubah, m which the former
was \utaiows, and he then marchod northwaids
and pillaged the towu of Bhawamgarh, though he did
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pomas  ravayes Dot attempt * to attack the fort

tory Thence he proceeded to Ghanor,
half way between Ambala and Pathals, where he
was met by Diwan Singh, but 1t was not Thowas'
desire to fight, and he' maiched back to Sunani, plun-
dering the villages and devastating the country

Near Naaangwal, the Jhind forees, with Sirdar Tara
Singh Ghebn, came up with him, and an undeetded
engagement took place 1 which both parties lost
many wen Thomas now pretended to be anxious
for peace, and remaned quiet for some time, sendimg
proposals for a. settlement of thewr differences to
the Phulkwn camp But he duddenly bivho off
negotiations and disappesred, and was next heard of
plundering the village of Raywidnah The Pattwla
troops pursued, Thomas retinng as they advaneed,
aud at length, he left the Pattiala teamtory, where he
had done great damage, and entered that of Kythal

Bhai Lal Singh had now to hasten to defend
hig own possessions, while the Patta-
ala troops remained at Akalgarh,
prepared to march if their assistance was required, and
Raje Bhag Bmgh returned to Jiund which profused
$0be the next object of attack.  So 1t happened to be,
o1 having plundered with mpunity many Kythal
villages and having been vamnly pursued by the
Sikhs, he maiched southwards and attacked Sufidon,
in Jmnd territory, defended by a wenk gartigon

and attarns ana Raja Dhag Smgh went at once to
captires Sufidon 1ts relief, but, before lus arrrval, the
fort which was old and half 1n rmins, had fullen into
the mvader’s hands. It wag useless for Thomas to
rewsan shut wp in a fort, so he gave battle to Raja
Bhag Singh bencath the walls of the town s

Inrades Kythal,
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good furtune had, on ths ocoasion, deserted him, and
But s aefeated i the Jhind Raja was victorrous, and

an engagement -

without tho tewon  'Thomias forced to retire with all

haste having lost about 500 men, and 1ecover him-

self at Kalwal 1 Kythal ternitory,

Tlus dosultory fighting had now lasted a very
long time and both paz ties were thoronghly exhausted,
especially the Sikbhy who had most to Jose Thewr
towns and villages were saeked and the harvest
destroyed, while the rapidity of the enemy’s move-
moents made 1t almost unpossible to overtake him ,
and the disaplime be mamtaned made an attack up-
on lim, even with fax superior numbers, & proceedmng
ot doubtiul wisdom, 1n therr extremnty they deter-
mmed to make peace on any terws, and, when they
had once wduced Thomas to i1etire, to mvoke
agamst hun the aid of the French Geneiral who was
commanding, with much bulbaney and success, the
nottheine division of the Mahiatta Army, and
whose dwerplied troops would be able to meet
Thomas on equal vr superior terms

Thowas was anmvious fo rest, and as his
Prace ts conctwasg ©xpedition had been rch m plunder;
Betw con Thomas and
e easmar st he was not difficult to ratisfy, and,
1301 abandoning the territorios of the
allioy, he roturned to his fort of Hans, early 1n the

year 1301

The prineipal Chs-Satley Chrets, Pattiala, Jhind
ainerar Perion Nobba and Kythal, then 1esolved to
oy Rond & Juint embassy to General Pu-
worth kndw ron at Dehly, and ark his asaistance
This ofticor bad succeeded the Comte de Boigne, 2
Savovamad, who had entered the sersice of Sindhia

about the year 1783, and bad, by his energy and
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knowledge bf military sctence, made the Mahratta
army the most formidable owned by any natave prince
in India. He left India 1 1766, and was succeeded
by General Perroy, alsoa man of conspicious ability,
who extended the Mahratta,authorty northwards
beyond the Jamue and commanded a powerful and
highly trawed army It was to this officer that
Raja Bhag Swngh of Jhnd, Bhar Lal Singh of
Kythal, and two Sirdars, Cheg Singh and Hanur
Singh, on the part of Pattiala, addressed themselves
The General was willing to- gsuist them, for the
incieasing power of George Thomas had excited both
lis jealousy and alarm, and he saw mn this adven-

He rasolves 10 as-  bUTEF & rival whose mnfluence, unless
aist fhe Sikhe checked m tune, mught endanger his
own.. He accordingly recerved the deputation with
great consideration, and dispatched a force under
one of lus Laeutenants, Lows Bourquin, to act with

Bourguin sens the Sikh troops agamst*Thomas
againet Zhomes.  Ng Pattiala troops joned 1n the ex-
pedition, but Jhind and Kythal detachinents, with the

Mahratta force under Bourquin, marched to Chinar- -

gath, and thence to Bedy, where they came up with
Thomas, and an engagement was fought in which the
advantage remamed with the latter, Bourquin losing
80 many men that he was compelled to wait for re-
mforcements from General Perron When these
arrived he agam assumed the offensive and compelled

Thomas defontea I DOIAS t0 Tetne to Hans. Here
and competies o he was suriounded, and, after an
abandon Hanal obstimate defence, surrendered, and
abandonmmg all his conquests, retired into Bntwsh
ternitory, never agan disturbmg the peace of the
Cis-Satle) States *

* George Thomas died aboat 3 year after this  Jhis career shows
not so much what a determined and clever man can do among races 1n-
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But 2 power was now rismg before which
the swe o e Mogaly Maluattas and Sikhs had
Tiritish poteer alike to yweld Year by year the
red hne which marked the Bntish possessions
was advanced further to the mnorth Bengal,
Banwres, Oude, Allahabad, Cawnpur, Farrukha-
bad, had m turn fallen, tull, on the 11th of Septem-
ber, 1803, General Lake defeated the Mahratta
Tho eaprure op 8YmMy commanded by Bourqun,
Denth, 4 b 1808 heneath the walls of Dehl, .and
four days later enteved the capital of Hindostan as
aconqueror On the 1st of November the battle of
Lasyan was fought: when the Mahrattas were
agam dcfipted with great loss,, and Sindhia, by the
ticaty of Snj Anjengaom, ceded Sivsa, Hissar, Roh-
tak, Dehli, Gurgaon and Agra, to the British Go-
vernment The thaee first named distiicts were not,
however, taken under British adnumstration tll the
yeur 1809

The Cis-Satley Chiefs miscaleunlated the strength

tne sikh amimare Of the Enghsh  They had besides

f the Engliche made fricnds with the Mahiattas,
Bomqun had just over-thrown then most danger-
ous enumy, and for these reasons they fought
on the side of the Mahrattas at Dehli agamnst
the Enghsh  Among those present m this battle
were Guidit Singh Ladwa, Bhanga Singh of
Thanesar and many nunor Cluefs, though 1t does not

feor i enecgv and  huow iedge, but how complete was the anmchy
and confumon 1 India at the close of the last contury  Thomas was
an abie nuw i some tespects, but bis abthty was 1 no way remarkabie

But when he obtamed powai, at the time of tho dwsuitegration of the-
1rehih monatchv aud while the Mhratia power was now threatening to
become pedunnnant and now appering about to e umble wto rus, India
was m perhaps 2 move anarchial state thas at am other period of hev
sty and any adventirer, ustioubled with suwupies and of ordwary
Capae its, Uit have carved out fut Limself a kingdouy

.
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appear that the Phulkian Chiefs or the Bhai of Kythal
were present or sent a contipgent

During the whole of the year 1804, the Sikhsn
Tho Bngtish ooy the neighbourhood of the Jamna,
androutthe Siths  ncited by Amir Khan, the Rohilla
Chref, and Jagwant Rao Holkar, Mahratta, continued
ta be hostile, and large paities constantly crossed
the river and ravaged the country ¥ On the 18th
of December 1804, Colonel Burn; lea¥mg s camp
standing, made a forced march of twenty miles and
smprised and completely routed the Sikhs, and
Raja Bhag Smgh and Bhai Lal Singh, wise i their
generation, joined the English army with their
forces on the 26th January 1805, bearmng letters |
from Colonel Ochterlony to Colonel Burn, who
bestowed p1esents upon them and treated them with ‘
politeness t The hostile Sikhs, some 6,000 in nunber,
wete at this fune encamped st Muldnah, some twenty
miles to the south-east of Panipat, but retured
when the British force marched against them, and
their movements were so rapid that they were not
overtaken, but after having been driven for two
months from one place to another, they thought it
expedient t6 vecross the Jamna into their own
territory

An amnesty was proclaimed in the month of
An amnesty pro-  March 1803, by the Commander-in-
olaimed by the Eng-  (Chief to all those Sikhs whe would

linh Goneral, 4 D
1505 agree to observe peace and abstan

fiom operations agamnst the English, atd i a short
* Lord Lake to Colonel Ochterionv, 2nd Febinary 1804 Culonel
Burn to Lolonel Ochitertowy, dth March, 29th March, 6th June, Bth June,
28th November, 30th November aud 2ud December 1804
+ Colonel Burn tg Colouel Ochterlony, 20th Decembey 1804, 30tk
January 1805




TIZbe athaly State. 91

time this was aceepted by Rai Singh of Jagadri, whose
brother Sher Singh had, been mortally wounded 1
the engagement with the English of the preceding

* year, and by all the Chiefs mars, with the exception
of Sirdar Gurdst Singh Ladwa who was expressly
excluded from 1ts -provisions, although he had not
been so active agamst the English- as the Jagadn
Cluefs, and his fort of Karnal, which Raja Bhag
Singh had lost sume years before,.was captured by
the Enghsh m Apnl *

In October 1804, Jaswant Rai Holkar, who had
et Rt Hol "Just gained a great trumph over
the Tirjab " the brigade of Colonel Monson, laid
stege to Délhr with 20,000 men, but was repilsed by
Gienaral Ochtetlony and Colonel Burn, after a most
gallant defenee wlnch lasted nine days  Pwo months
later, at Fatahgatls and Deeg, Generals Lake and
Fiuser uttuly routed ‘the Mahrattas, inflicting on
thom munense loss, while their leader, Holkar, left
without an aumy, and after vam attempts to ereate a
new one south of the: Jamna, went northwards to
soek among the Sikh Chieftamms more rehable, 1f not
more effierent aad, than he could obtain fromn Sindhia,

»

* ("alouel Buin to Colonel Ochtenlony, 29th Maich 31st Masch, 20d
8th, Tth, 8th, 9th 10th, 1ith, of Ajath 1805 Sudars Salb Mingh aed
CGurdat Singh of Ladwa were niembers of the hrora Smgha confederacy
They wute Sansi Jats of the viliage of Ban Pom, ten unles of south of
Amitanr aud yoned the tioop of Mt dingh Rohela about 1758 After
the doteat of Zin Rbae Governos of duhmd, m 1763, they sewed
Rihemr Sham bat and Ladwa, The dast vamed district fell to the
sate of Guudit dagh dua shimmsh with  Agha Shabh, near Kaival
Mteib S b was hitted and Gardst bangly took the whole estate, with the
exieption of SMunuha, given to the brother of Salnb Singlh s widow,
and i e APfages gnen o Bhagnan Sungh the adopted son of the
deccased  Gudit Mugh was granted the dishiiet of Badowal by Raniit
S Tle wae saeceeded by s son A it Stugh, who bult a bridge ever
the Susutt or Saraswate at | hanesar, and obtamed the ttle of Raga, He
robetied 1 i% 1o g extates were evutistatedl and he was mpusoned at
Adfhabd  Tle couttived o escupe, after hilling s keey o and atter
tong wanderigs 15 suppostd o lmve died i Kashmne s ebaldred are
stitl hvang s e NorthWest Proviwnes
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who hated him while he was compelled to appear
his friend © He remained for Some months at Pattiala,
and obtammed large contributipns fiom both Raja
Sahib Smgh and Ram Aus Kour, between whom
there was a violent quarrel, but he was not able to
1nduce the Raja to give him much active assistance,
and when General Lake had seriously taken the
field aganst hum, i October 1803, and entered the
PunJaS n pursuit, he was compelled to take flight
to Amtsar, where, on the 11th of January 1806, a
treaty was concluded bétween Holkar and the British
Government, by which the former gave up all pos-
sessions 11 North India, while Sirdar Ranpit Smgh
of Lahore agreed to give the Mahratts no asmstance

It 1s now pecessary to return te Pattiala, where

Tne disputes oe  the disputes between the Raja and
e e ooow  Rani Aus Kour had grown mae
aud tho Dani Irtter than ever and ther unfortu-
nate results were seen 1 all the neighbouing States
The Ram: turned bher arms aganst Jaswant Sigh
of Nabha and Raja Bhag Singh of Jhmnd, having
for her albies, Bhaa Lal Sungh of Kythal and Sudar

Bhanga Smgh of Thanesar,

The contest was continued for some tume with

The mediation op  YATYINg Success and much bloodshed,

rawjit smgh o Hill, at length, Raja Dhag Singh,
Latore reguted: desirous of putting an end to 1t
m o manner favorable to himself and his ally of
Nabha, requested the aid of lus* nephew Ranpi
Smgh of Lahore Raja Jaswant Singh of Nabha
jomed 1 s request, for he had just been defetited
by the Pattiala Cluef at Mirwana, and was eager
for revenge.- Ranpt Singh was only too glad of an
opportumity of interference, and, on the 26th of
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July, 1806, trossed the Satlej with a force which
was estunated at 30,000 horse, though half this
number would be nearcr the truth, accompamed by
Sirdar  Fatah Sigh Ahluwalia, Gurdit Singh
Ladwa and other Chiefs On the 28th he took
possession of Doladhy, a town belonging to the
Rayju of Pattiala and the subject of dispute between
Liuy and Nabha, and some twenty two nules to the
north of the capital, and the following day he
reached Nabha *
1t does not appesa that the Butish authorities
e Foglish mise < had been 1equested to deude the
trust e mativen of  dispuite between Nabha and Pathiala,
fho kaers <Mt and although they desued to believe
the fiiendly professions of Ranpt Singh, yet they
viewed Lis approach with some distrast and anxiety
Raja Bhag Smgh mdeed wiote, assuring the
Rewdent at Dehlt that the only object of lus
nephew’s Vit was tosettle the disputes which had
anwen at Pattiada itself and among the petty Chief-
tuins m the neighbowhod , but 1t was stall consder-
ed advisable to stiengthen the Karnal garrison m
case Ranjt Sing should enter the district 1 force
But ho had ne wish to offund the Englisl, and theve
was abundant teniitory which he could seize without
rousig then jealousy Fle procecded no further south
than Ambala and Thane-ar, and then retired north-
wards, having done little to 1restore flacndshup be-
tween the Pattiala Raja and his wife, but recerving
from buth luge saums of money to secwe s good
will  The position of his undde Raja Bhag Smgh
he consderably stiengthened, givng to him the

» ‘(Trczlmt—lﬂ;mt ﬁm\‘;«» ;dl Rewdents, Magitrates, &, dated
ist Novimby 1s0p  Capram Mwiiay tosn v Coicbrooke dated 12th
Apud and 1ith May 28
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town of Ludhiana and 1ts surrounding villages, which
he had teken from the Mussalman Rayputs of
Raikot, who had held 1t for about two hundred
years,*

Thus unfortunate family~was completely des-
ke conguents of poited to reward the tnends and
Stngh tn 1808 allies of Ranjit Singh. The chief
representatives were, at this fume, two women,
Nur-un-msa, widow of Rai Alyss Khan, and
Lachmi , but Ranjit Smgh had no generosity and
preferred despothng a widow tg attacking a Cluef
whe wasbetter able to resist. From the plunder of
this farmly Raja Bhag Smgh recerved the drstricts
of Ludhiana, Jhanddla, Kot, Jagraon and Basia, m-
cludmg 54 wvillages, of an annual rental of Re |
23,260, Siwdar Guidat Singh of Ladwa, the districte
of Baddowal, with portions of Jagraon, 82 villages,
worth Bs 28,540 , Raja Jaswant Smgh of Nabha,
portions of Kot Bama, Talwandi and Jagraon, 31
villages, worth Re. 26,690 , Sirdar Fatah Singh Ahlu-
waltw, portions of Dhaka, Kot, Basia, Jagraon and
Talwandy, 106 wallages, worth Re 40,505 ; Diwan
Mokham Chand portions of Glulla, Kot, Jagiaon and
Talwandi, 71 willages, worth Rs. 33,945, Swdar
Bassawa Smgh 10 willages m Kot and Jagraon
worth Rs 5,714, and Swrdar Bhanga Singh one
village :n Talwand: worth Re. 400 The only other
conquest of Rannt Smgh, danng this campaign, was
the district of Ghumgrana from Gujar Smgh, Jat
Singh and Kabil Khan, which he divided between
Sirdar Gudit Singh Ladwa and Raja Juswant

* Presulent Dehli to Officer Commauding at Karnal, dated 10th
November 180§ - Otficers Commandmg at Meernt, Karnai, Rewmi and
. Saharunpar to Resident Dehly, dated 3rd, 4tb, 5th, 10thof November 1506
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Smgh, the foomer taking 5 willages worth Rs
23,550, and the latter 7 aorth Re 3,350 *
The departure of the Raja of Lahore was the
signal for a tenewal of the conflict between Sahuib
Simgh and Rani Aps Kour The confusion mnto which
the administration fell was meonceivable , the officials
taking one side or the other as they fancied then
own fortunes would be better furthered, and perpe-
tus] fights and bloodshed bemg the result It became
unsafe for strangers to enter the termtory, and
Lscutenant Whte, emnployed by the British Govern-
sment on a survey of the frontier, was fired upon at
Khoalah, & town held by the filends of the Ram,
eowpelled to retiace s steps and abandon his sur-
vay fou the time, although furnished with full authoi-
ty under the Raja’s hand and seal t

The Pattiala Sirdars and the Rajas of Jhind
pplangu Binoh and Nuobha who had benefitted so
tiata, 4 B 1507 much by the late vimt of Ranpt
Siugh, agan mvited hus assistance, which he very
"willingly prommsed ITe collested & large body of
horse, under the command of his fumous General
Diwan Mohkam Chund, and Sudars Fatah Singh
Ahluwalia and Ghmba Singh :1 and in September
1807, he appeared before Pattiala whete the mtrigues
of the former year were repeated m order to mduce
tim to expouse the cause of one party or the other
Tt was a mere question of money, and the Ram bribed
highest Besides money and diamonds, she gave

*Vide Appendix A —St of the quests of Maharaa
Ruwjst Singh dwing the vems 1406 1807, 1808, gud llistory of Dinan
Mokl ¢ hund 10 Pangab Chiefs, p 532,

¥ Lieutouaut W hite to Resident Dehly, 18th god 28th Juiy 1807
Reandont Dahll to Lieutenant W hiute 25th May 1507

1 Reamvdontof Dahli to Mayar General Commanding Mathra dated 20th
August 1807
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Ranpt Swgh a brass gun named Khuri Khan,
afterwards taken by the English dunng the Satle
campaign, and by his influence and that of the
The compromiss Ra,]&s of Jhind and Na.bha., Sirdar
elfeoted Bhanga Singh of Thanesar and
Bhai Lal Bingh, a compromise was at last effected,
by which an estate of Rs 50,000, conmsting
of the districts of Banur, Manmayra, Sunour, Surah
Bissol and Munarthal, was settled upon Ram Aus
Kour for the mantenance of herself and her son
Kowm Karm Singh *

After this arrangement, Ranjit Singh maiched
The omauests of by way of Ambala to Narsmhgarh,
Ranjit Singh dur-
g 1607-1808, _+ @ strong fort held by Kour Kishan
Singh, which he mvested For nearly thiee weeks
1t held out, and irr one of the assaults, Sirdar Fatah
Singh, Kshanwala, one of Ranpt Singh’s bravest
Generals, was mortally wounded. : After the capture
of the place,"1t was eonferred with its surrounding
villages on Sirdar Fatah Smgh Ahluwalis, the estate
bemng valued at Re 12,580 a year The came Chuef
recerved 3 villages of Jab Mal Singh of Raipur, worth
£s 1,200, and 3 willages w Ghumgrdna, captured
from the same Chief and worth Rs. 2,255, were given
to Raja Bhag Simgh of Jhund, with the estate of
Morinda, m Suwhund, taken from tha sons of Dharam
Singh who refused to pay a naz dia to the mvader
Tius estate conssted of 27 villages and was worth Ry
17,000 The Nabha Chief only recerved one willage
from the Ghumgrdne estate , while Drwan Mohham
Chand, who was fast 11sing to favour, obtaned the
district of Zara, now 1 the Frrozpur district, taken

* A copy of this document accompantes the letter of Captaan  Russ,
D Sepenmendent to Agent to Governor (reneral Dehiy, dated 5th
Februaiy 1823
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from the widow of Sirdar Mohr Singh Nishinwala
and comprismg 12 villages, worth Bs 7,500, Kot
Kapura 1n the same district, held by Jaggat Smgh
of Burih with 77 villages, worth Rs 61,400 ; and 12
villages from Dharam Kot, bemg part of the estate
of Sirdar Tara Singh Gleba who had lately died
The remainder of this estate, with the exception of
a few villages, was given 1n Jagir to Gharba Singh,
whose share consisted of 62 villages, worth Rs
22,634 The remamnder of the Ghumgrdna distriet,
36 willages, worth Re 23,415, was conferred on
Sirdar Karam Swpl of Nagla®

Duwiing this same campaign the district of Wadm
in Firozput was conquered by Diwan Mokham Chand,
and later m the year was given by the Maharaja to
tus mather in-law Maa Sada Kour, whose famuly
Lived m Raoky, & Wadm village,t

* Vide Appendix A

The fort of Ghumgifoa, with these villages, belonged to Sirda: Tara
Singh Gheba  Seon alien s death, the Rmas of Pattiata, Nabha, Jbind,
Bhu Lai Smeh of hythat and Gurdsy Singh of Ladwa, Joed forces
and besegedat,  Lhe fart was dolonded by Guyar Sngls, son of bHpdar
Twa Smush for sowe time with success, uil at length Rangit Singh
1amad the riere by o meseage to the contederated Chief, prdening them
1o dosist, and, au apite of then disguet, they obesed the oider Wasat
then possible thas tha Maharaja, for ouce mn s hfe, shonid protect the
weah agminst the strovg, aud do an action whieh wpht be called
geneiona P 'Lite moth s wga eantiy found  He sent an army to seize
e trt and estate for hemself | and the uufortuuate Guyar Sweh, unable
10 resist, Hed to Patuala,

+ Diwan Moblkam Chand, tn March 1808, capteped Patoki and 18
sillages of the Wadm distriot fiom Mian Nouwdan  In Scptember, the
Mubarsja when encamped 26 Maler Kotla, made an unconditionat graut ot
the whole distiiof to Sada how, who past for 1t Re 15,000 She wasputin
posseasion of the fort of Patoka aud the v illage- saized by Mobkam Chand,
e slre did Rot obtmn possession of Wadm and Himatpur it 1817,
when she erossed the datley tn person and took both the tarts by force ot
arms from Aws tungh, son of Mian Noudan, whe had died sape tune
betore  Her rucht did not howevel aine from tins action of hers, but
fion the grant of Rarpt Sungh, for Mran Noudan had from the date of
the grant been yecognized as bey ammdar and fu D Oubtestonv in
& decroe datd 25 November 1811 gwve her tull authority to employ
troops aganiet han - The espedition agatust Amar Stugh was, on the same
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The Cis-Satlej Chiefs now begaw to percerve
The Ci-settey Uhat unless they united among
Siutepr ol Bestien " themselves or mvited foreizm assis-
obtain: no promisn,  tance, they would, one by one, be
destroyed by the Lakoe Raja, whose power then own
divisions had so much merepsed In March 1808,
Raja Bhag Smgh of Jhund, Bhar Lall Singh of
Kythal and Swdar Chen Singh, the confidential
Agent of the BRaja of Pattwla, visited Mr Seton,
the Resident at Dehl, to sdund himas to the extent
and kind of protection which the British Govern-
ment might be walling to afford them *

The Government was disposed to protect tliem,
but had not determmed how to act , and the Chicfs
then proceeded to Hurdwa, hoping to make somo
amicable arrangement with Ranjit Singh who wedi-
tated a vist to the sacied city, but, at the last
moment, after all had been prepared for his recep-
tion, he changed his mind and remained at Lalote
One reason for this was that he had heard of the
mtrigues of the Pattiala Raja with the English and

Ranjis. smgh - desned an wuterview with that Chaef
e e e On Sikh suil rather than on Bnfwsh,
atXaknour ' where he eould not use force if
he were unable to persuade He accordingly pro-
posed a meeting with Raja Sahib Smgh at Laknour
south of the- Satley The Raja was most unwill-

grounds, permitted by Sir D. Ochtetlony, who authorized her to
giect Amar Bingh from hus villages i a prec pt dated 20th July 1816
Vide also 81r D Ochterlony to Captanwy Ross, dated 7th November
{82!. and Captauy Murray to Siv B Colebiooke, dated 19tk Februmy
828 t

The estate of Wadni has Tately been the subject of & politic al dasm
in the course of which it hus been afficmed that the diatmet was com-
quered by Sada Ko s the fhirst mstance aud also that 1t was wmherited
by her  Both agsertiong are uttei lv untiue

* Reaident Dehlt to Mr C Metcalfe, 2nd Apiil 1808
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Ing to,accept the  mvitation and evaded com-
phance for some time, but at last he consented
from sheer terroi, and the meeting took place on the
24th November 1808, when Mabaraja Ranpt
Singh appeared at the head of his army, which he
had been employing 1 the reduction of Fandkot
Saniwal, Jhandbar, Batrampur, Dhaii and Chandpur,
all of which, woith some Re 50,000 & year, he had
granted to lus favorite Mohkamm Chand., He
1ecerved Raja Salib Singh with the utmost kind-
pess, swore to remam always lis friend; to
have no enemmes but his enenues, no, friends but his
friends , and, as a token of eternal brotherhood, the
Cluefs exchanged turbans, a ceremony which had m
1t something of a sacred nature but 1n which ncither
were sincere, nor were any of those who witnessed
the engagements persuaded that they were made
othevwise than for temporary convenience * After
this farce had been played out, Ranjit Singh marched
notthwairds, accompaned by Raja Bhag Singh of
o anie Stughte o Jhund, tothe Satlej, which he crossed
Bocambor 1808, on the 2nd December, leaving a
garuson of nemly ten thousand men behind him m
Ambala, which he had taken fiom Ram Dya Kour,
widow of Suda Gurbaksh Singh, who had died m
1783+ Raja Salnb Smngh made no seoret of s

* Lottet of Reudeut Dehly, to Secretary to Goveinment, dated 7th
Deacember 1808, and of ¥ ¢ Metealt, liuvoy to Lahoie to Kes:deut Delih,
dyted December Sth, 1808

*ondar Gurbrkob Smgh had huomself obtsined Ambala by
vioknee gnd traud  ‘1he town and distiiet weie st conquered
by Sangat Sugdh, who made them over to bis  brother-n-law
Hnau Sgh and went to Smghwala m Fivozpur, where he died
Dhyvau Singh also went awuy, leaviug Guibaksh Singh and Lal Sugh
a4 1 havadum 1 charga, but after ive vears absence, he funnd they had
tikeu possasston foi  thewselves, and rofused to gne up the tuwa  Lal
Mingh thew built & fnt catled Jamivatgarh, on the Patuals border,
rousing the eatousy of Rajs Amu dingh, whe attached bum n company
with the Raga of Jhuud aud the Rt of hot, but was uable to preveut
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sentiments, which may be best seen from o letter
which he addressed to the Resident of Dehly, who, on
the approach of the Maharaja of Lahore, had written

Fné account gwers 50 Sahib Singh, without waiting for
et ary  distinct orders from Caleutta, and
viait had promised hum protection  Thus
comforting letter Salub Singh,did not, however, re-
cerve till after the dreaded interview was over
His own nanative of what ocourred 18 as followy —
“Having marched from Kotlah to this quarter,
“he (Ranjit Smgh) expressed a desire that a meet-
“mg between us should take place: He humself
“advanced to the neighbourhood of Pattiala and
“fixad g camp at Awmnbals, which he tooh posseb-
““mon of , moreover, i consequence of Sirdar Bhanga
“Singh having come to Pattiala through firendship
“for me, and jomed my party, he ordered Dumah
“and other places belonging to the sad Sudar to
“be given up, and placed them m charge of Sahub
“8imgh Babk, who bad united with the Cluefs of
“Aluah. He then encamped at Shahabad The
“Iind conduct (used irowcally) which he observed
“towards the family of the late Karm Siugh, a rela-
“tive of ming, 1 well known.  Although after such
“conduct on hig part, I should have declined a
“mesting, yet upon his reaching Shababad he sent
“ Raja Bhag Singh, Chen Singh, my agent, and his
“own agent Must Singh to Pattiala, for the purpose
“ of expressing his wish to meet me. Still, however,
“four or five days were taken up 1n discussmg the

the building of the fort  After the death of Lal Singh, his colleague,
Guibakhsh Singh, beeame sole Sirdar  He died childiess, and his widow,
Dya hour, succeeded 10 1783  bhe was temporanly ejected by Ranps
Smgh, but was restored by General Octherlony , and beld the estate till
1824, when 1t lapsed to Government. She was an excellent ruler and
her estate was one of the best managed m the Protected Territory
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“matter on my part, but at length all the Chiefs
“guve 1t a8 ther opion that since Mr Metcalfes
“had been seat on the part of the Governor General
“to wait on the Singh Salib (Ranpt Singh),
“ and establish the relations of fizendship, my object-
“my and opposmng swmgly would be of no avail.
“ Having no chowe, T followed the advice of the
“ Chiefs, and, maichibg from Pattiala, T encamped
“ at Laknouwr, where Baba Salub Bedi Sahib Singhj,
“ the revered descendant of Baba Nanak, was already
“encamped  The second day after my armval the
“ Singh Salub (Rangt Singh) left Shahabad and
“ rupzmed to the same place, and we mot in the
“ presence of Baba Salub  Four or five days after
“ tlus, no further mtercowrse takihg place, I sent
“for Mawt Smgh, the agent to the Smgh Sahib,
“ and asked the reason for the discontinuance of our
“mtercomse He rephed that the wish of the
“Singh Salub was to bring about that complete
“und preqse fmendslip which 18 testified by an
" mc]mnqe of turbans , adding, that it the event of
“wmy objecting, although m  consequence of the
“ presence of Btﬂm Salub nothing hostile to me
“might be manifested, yet, after my depurture for
“ Putiala, the1eal wtentions of the Singh Sahﬂa
“would be evident
“ My friend, after repeated delays) I became
“ at length completely hopeless, and secing that the
“ mmd of the Singh Sahutb was imnchued to violence,
“ T was mduced, by the advice of all the Sirdms, to
“consent to s desire Had yowr hmd letter
“wmrned at Pattala two or three dags belore my
* departwe, notwithstanding the number ot hus troops
¥ then m my country, I would have rephed to hum
“ 1w the language of dehance ”
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The lettor 13 mteresting, both as giving 2 true
Tne vepty of me BcCOURt Of the facts and a strkng
gy Foiate pictue of the feebleness of the Raja.
ber 1508 of Pattiala  The Resident at Dehli
returned a friendly and encouraging answer, as also
to a letter from Raja Bhag Singh of Jhind directly
asking for British protection for Pattiala, Nabha
and Jhind ; but the Resident was not-n a position
to mve full assurances of protection ¥  Salub Smgh
then urged his case in stronger terms, assuring the
Resident that “he considered the officers of the
“English Government his superiors, patrons and
protectors,” without whose md he had no hope of
safety 1

It 18 iow necessary to go back m the narration
_ ':l poliey of the g, few months, to show the mtentions
ment townrds Ran-  of the Brifash Government_towaids
Hia s emres ™ the Cis-Satlej States, and the modi-
fications which circumstances effected in those inten-

tions

In 1808, when the European Napoleon was ab
the height of his power, the Govérnor General re-
cewved wntelligence that the Fiench, whe, for some
time, had been endeavouring to establish themselves
m Persia, designed also the conquest of Kabul and
the Punjab The Government accordingly deter-
mued to despatch Envoys to both Lahore and Kabul,
who might persuade thé ruleis of those countries
that ther interests and those of England were
identical, and that their wisest policy was to umie
for the destruction of the common encmy.

* Resident to Raja Bahib Smgh, dated S1d December 1808, aud o
Raja Bhag Sigh of the 4th December  Letter of Raju Bhag Swgh to
Resudent received f1d Deceinber 1608

t Raga Sahub Singh to Resident dated 4th Decomber 1808
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Mr C T Metcalfe was selected to conduct the
Envoyr amspatched  Iphore negotiations, and Mr
to Lahore and Ka~

bad Elplunstone those with Kabul, and,
m August 1808, the former started on his mission

At the time of the mussion to Lahore, Ranpt
totrare sy Singh bad conquered  large portion
Singh in 1808, and  of the Punjub proper, between the

bt Ve Ciuatte;  Jhelam and the Buas  Those Chuefs,
famaanithe it hke Jodh Smgh Ramgharia and
Fatah Singh Ahluwabia, who still held a large extent
of territory, were, 1n reahty, subject to his authority
and attended hun of all his expeditions with laige
contingents of troops The north-west portion of
the Punjab was held by the Afghans, the piovince
of Multan by Muzaffar Khan, and the hill country
by Rajd Sausar Chand, Katoch, but-all these were
beginuryg to respect the power and the foitune of
the Maharaja and to calculate the time when s
arms would be turned agawnst them. His great
embition was to be ruler of the whole Sikh nation,

His ambition ana 204 from this design he was not to
susussts be turned except by finding opposed
to hum a power greater than his own.  Already, n the
campargns of 1806, 1807, 1808, he had made consider-
able progress n reducing the country DGetween the
Satlej and the Jamna, aaded not more by his own
energy and deternunation than by the apathy of
the Cis-Satlej Chiefs who had no union among them-
selves, whose wnteresty were mostly conflicting, and
who seemed to wait, with despawr, thewr certam
absorption, unless the Butish Government should
take them under s stiong protection , and of this
they had now little hope  They still continued, and
with some success, to umpress upon the Mabaryya
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that the British Government was prepared to defend
thew against lus attacks , but after the discouraging
rgeeption whieh the principal Chiefs had experienced
from the Resident gt Debli, m March, they were
disposed to trust more to the «lemeuncy of the

The despairor e Maharaja than the prbtechion of
Laatly) Chiet» the Enghsh.  Soow after this mter-
torma wth Zakore  yiew, the whole party, with the ex-
ception of Surdar Bhagwan Swngh of Jagadr, went
to Lahore, and wore still there, 1n attendance on the
Maharaja, when the British Envoy reached Kassu,
m Beptember ¥ The Chiefs.wath hun, at that
time, were Raja Bhag Singh of Jhind , Raja Jaswaut
Singh of Nabla, Bhar Lal Sipght of Kythal, and
Gurdit Singh of Ladwa, while the Raja of Pat-
taala, the Chuefs of Thanesur, Basa and othors were
represented by their agents. Some of these (iefh,
as has before been shown, had ackuowledyed the
suprewacy of Ranpt Singh by ading Bam fu’the
field and by acceplang estates from the conquered
ternitory, which they- Leld, on jagiwr tenure, subject
to hum .

Little was indeed wanting to extend his author-
1ty over all the Cis- -Satle; Sfates , and the fiar of
Enghsh wnterference, which had hutherto mtluenced
hn:n, was growing weaker and weaker as he perveived
that bis successive encroachments met with no oppo-
sition

This dieam of a Sikh monaichy umting the
Ranjit singn haa  Whole nation under his rule, having,
Brtetamto e ere for the Maharaja, so great an attrac-
ment tion, 1t wasto be supposed that any

* Lotter of Mi  Mctalfs to Gosveymnent of India, datea st October
- 1808

'
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opposition to its realization from the British Govern-~
ment wonld be sufficient to change hun from a sus-
piewous ally mto a-secret enemy, or mdeed mto an ac-
tive andupen one, should any opportunty occur, when,
by alllance with a foreign power, he might hope to
avenge himgelf upon the Government that had thwar-
ted im.  Over the whole territory that he had
conquered lus power was absolute, for s polhcy
was to remove to new jagirs the families he had
redueed and to entiust thewr possessions to such of
s dependantswhose devotion he could surely trust
Although 1n the army there was much disaffection,
yethe was unplicttly obeyed , and every private
soldier was taught to look to the Mahaiaja as his
master, although he mught be serving under the
e reets Natod by bauner of his own hereditary Chief
‘he Ghicte of the By tMe Sirdais he was hated, for
v proper he had destroyed thew power , and
Lie faeated them with a hauteur which showed his
detexmmation to make no distipetion between them
and the common people so far as absolute subservience
to lumself was concerned. The Envoy to Lahore
rewirhed that the Cis-Satle; Rajas and Chiefs m
the Maharyja’s Comp were as subinsaivwe as of they
Lad long been used to his authonty and showed no
sign of mdupendence whatever
Towards the Butish Governmuent, the Maha-
raja, at this time, had no sincere
B:";,‘:;“"’"’""’ e pood-will ; and it was commonly re-
ported that he mtended to try his
strength wath the Engli<h, and had, with tlis design,
wade & secret alliance with Holkar and the Raja of
Bhwitpur  Though this was unfounded, and al-
though the Mabaiaja was too wise to wih fora
ruptwe with the Butih Goveinment, yet he, like
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all ambrtious princes, looked with the greatest jeal-
ousy, if not hatred, upon any power stronger than his
own, especially one whose imterests he knew were
adverse to his, and whom he suspected of an mten-
tion to thwart bus most chershed schemes He had
not yet learnt the strength and resources of the
Butish Government, and his unvarying success and
the flattery of his courtiers had half persuaded him
that he was mvincible. Such bemg the position and
the sentiments of . Ranyt Smgh, 1t was hardly to be
supposed that he, to whom the French Emperor was
a very doubtful danger and & possmible ally, should
have entored with any enthusiasm into the designs
of the Governor General, without seeking to obtamn
some+real and tangible advantage for himself

Mr, Metcalfe left Karnal m the middle of Aa-
t 1808, arfd on the 22nd, arrtved
By toaoss Kormaty f:s Pattiala, and was recerved hy Ra-
At 1308 Ja Sahib Smgh with the greatest
politeness. At the first publw reception, the Raja
tried to mnduce the Envoy to accept
the keys of the town and to restore
them as & gift on the part of the Biitish Government,
saymg, 1 _the strongest language, that he threw
himself on 1ts protection, and that without 1t Tus
Government and Iife would end together Mr Met-
calfe dechined the ceremony, understa,ndmcr that the
Raja desired to thus obtawn the appearance of a guar-
antee from the British Government for the mtegr-
ty of hus State, and, assuring him of the good-wiil
which the Government entertained for him, re-
marked thai the keys of Pattiala had for long been
secure in s hands and that there was every hope
of therr long remaiming so *

Reaches Pattiala.

* Mr Metcaife to Government of India, 24th August 1808
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The Raja had, nevertheless, good reason for
alaim It was given oub publcly
sy tovror of Baja. g Lahore that Ranjit Smgh was
' about to march agamst Faridkot,
adjoming the Pattiala territory, and intended to
deprive Salub Smgh of all*Tus possessions; and
after the departure of the mussion, the Raja hastily
began to strengthen Pattala and s other forts,
though his weakness and mdecision” were such that
1t was most unlikely he would offer any resistance to
the Maharaja, should he appesr as an enemy

As the Envoy approached the capital of the La-
Remjte simgn hore State, the Maharaja marched
warihes to Koasur nto camp ab Kassur, with the double
ohject of being prepared for the expedition beyond
the Satlej, which he had definitely determned, and of
preventing the British Envoy fiom seeing his prinei-
pal eities of Labore and Amritsar Mr Metealfe
reached Kassur on the 11th of Séptember and was
coumrteously 1ecerved, * but 1t was difficult to induce
Fue opentug of the R:m_]lt Singh to enter upon the
negotiutiond, subject of the negotiations with
which My Metcalfe was entrusted. Meeting after
mecting took place at which all referonce to busi-
NeSS Was studwus]y avoxded the kayx seemmg to
duaare to cross the Satlej and commence his campaign
without waiting to hear the propositions of the
Euvoy at all
At length, at a private Durbar, Mr Metealfe,
Proporaty ana Was InVited to explam the wishes
countes-proposats.  of the Iimtish Government, which
le accordingly did, pomting out the danger

* M Maeaife to Govetnment of Iudws, dated 2nd, 4tb, 5th, and
131k ot dopicwbe: 1808

-
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threatened by a French invasion , that the Maharaja
and the Enghsh were both decply interested
proventing 1t, and that an alhance of the two States,
for mutual defence, would be the highest wisdom
The Maheraja and s advmers eapressed the
groatest satisfaction at the prospect of an allunce
with the Ewglsh and. an entire concurrence
i the Governor General’s wishes * This alliznce,
1t was smid, would put to shame, thase whe spoke
of hostility between the two States; and it would
be materially stiengthened by the agreement of
the Envoy to eertamn proposittons which the
Maharaya bad lmd bofore the Governor Geperal,
and which, 15 was presumed, the Envoy had
authority to answer. The chief pomt was the
acknowledgment of Ranpt Smgh’s sovereignty
over all the Sukh Cluefs and territones, after whih
the treaty could be signed and the, aliance with
England remapy firm for ever Mr Metealfe
wrged that in the defensive treaty agamst Fravce the
advantage to both the Enghsh Government and the
Maharaja was apparent, and that it was not hifug
to tuin from this common basis to propositions which
only concerned the advantage of one party The
Sikh mundsters, hewever, pressed for a ruply to thew
demands, and 1t was decided that both parties should
put therr propositions in writing for further consul-
eration.t The next day, after another conference
with his mimsters, m which the Envoy had held out
Listle hope of s clamg over the Cis-Sutley States
bemng allowed, Rannt Singh struck s Camp, and

* M1 Metealfo to Government of Iutha, dated 15th, 17¢h, Tsth and
20th deptember 1808

. 1 Mr Mewcalfeto Government of Tndia, 23ed, 24th, of Septembi r 1808
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The Makarajs inyiting the Envoy fo follow hum,

erussos the Sntlej

and detemnines to A} ched to the Satlej, and the next
break off negotia-
tions day crossed the river and encamped
at Khay a village some ten miles mland ¥ s
Jealousy was now fully roused the mission to_Kabul
be desired to stop, as he believed that an alliance
with that Court, hostile to himself, was projected, and
the mission to lus ewn Court he deternuned to get
nd of as soon as possmble M1 Metealfe was justly
displensed at the dwcourtesy with which he was
taeated, but he followed the Mabaraja to Kha: and
had another mterview which did not much advance
the negotiations ¥ DBut the question was, in a way,
Horapturastarian  Settling 1tself Faridkot surrendered
kot to Ranpit Smgh without offering
any resistance on the Ist of Octoler, and the Chaef
prepared  for further conquests, though he had
promused to remam at Khai for sufficient time to
enable the negotiations to be concluded On the
4th of October, 10 <pute of the protests of the Envoy,
who urged that he had no authority to accompany
the wmy on a compaign, he marched to Fardhot
to mspect Ins new acquimtion ¥ The Envoy felt
The dvapt twonty Imself constramed to i’oll‘ow as he
of the Busoy had already sebuntted a diaft treaty
and was awaiting the Muharaja’s 1eply §

* Mr Metealfe 1o Goverment of India, 25t), 261h, September 1808,
+ M1 Meteaife to Government Tudia dated 30th Scptewmber 1808

{ M Meotcalfe to Goyvernment Iudia, of 1ss, 5th aud 15th Qotobar.
§ The treaty only coumisted of three mopusiton .~

1 A defensive athance between the two States agaist France m
case of auy L asion

2 Diee passuge and assitance to an Faghsh aimv, should it be
pecestly o meet the suemy beyond the ludus 01 10 Al liauistan

3 Tho mmtuteuance of a lme of communication with Kahul, the
messeugers and rpnuers to be espeeialty protected by the Miharaja

-
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The diaft treaty of the British Envoy only re-
#he arast weaty  f€17ed to an alliance against Frances
of the Maharajo but the Maharaja, who considered
that the present was the famé to obtain concessions
from the Enghsh Government, submitted, on the 8th
October, the draft of a second treaty, also consisting
of three propositions , the first, asking for nonnter-
ference m his disputes wilh the sovereign of Kabul ,
the second, cougluding a perpetual alhance between
him and the Enghsh : and, the third, declarmg his
nght of sovereignty over the whale Sikh country.
It required, morcover, this right to be acknowledg-
ed, with an engagement that no Cluef should he de-
fended by the English , but that the whole country
should be left to hus management, without any -
terference whatever
The Envey again stated that he had no authorr-
ty from lis Government to make any promse or
sign any teaty regarding Ranjit Singh's connection
with Kabul or the Cis-Satley States, but agreed to
refer the propositions to Caleutta for the decwsion of
the Governor General, -1t was finally decided that
two treaties should be drawn up, one contamng the
propositions of the Maharaja, the other, those of
the Envoy, and that both should be forwarded to
Calcutta for ratification,* L
The Maharaja, the day after this decwion,
oo marches marched from Faridkot to Maler
Kotia, Kotla, 70 miles to the eastward,
where Ata-ulla Khan was still Chief At Faid-
kot he had not made up hus mmd whom to attack.
He had no enemtes 1 the Cis-Satle) States upon

*Mr Metealte to Government of Jodia, datel Ortober 20th 1808
With this the dvaft treaties wrie forwarded, and the notes of the 9ti, 1ich
, and 14th of Gctober of the Maharays and kavoy
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whom specially to avenge himself , to him all were
enemies who were independent bf him or who pos-
sessed wealth which 1t was possible for hum to seize.
The Ruyas of Pattiala, Nabha and Jhind had promised
him a large sum of money if he would put them
possession of Batner, Sirsa and Fatahabad, the three
principul forts of the Bhatts countiy ; but Ranpt
Singh was too cautious to rsk an expedition mto a
country so ill-supphed with water and grass ; and be
possibly may have suspected the real niotiwe of hus
advisers, who desired to engage hin m a difficult
contesy with the Bhattis, in which his power might
be broken or i which he might give offence to the
DBritish Government, by mvading terntory which
was thewrs by conquest, though they had not yet
taken formal possvssion  So he chose the policy of
plundetng Chiefs who were unable to resist, and
demanded frem Maler Kotla a tribute of a lakh
of Rupees, part of wlich, after some protest, was
pard, as the seizure of the whole estate would have
been the 1esult of a refusal, and for the remainder
the Phullian Chuefx gave therr security @ The Maler
Kotla Chief,con the day of My Metcalfe’s armval 1n
e dfyhan Chuf  cagu, sent an agent to unplore his
protection asastunce and to clarm the protee:
twn of the British Goverument , but the Envoy
could only toll Lun that ke was unable to inteifere,
though the Government had no sympathy with
this art of oppresslon, and that the presence of
the mission 1 the Mahainga's camp gave no sane-
twn to the Cis-Satlgy expedition *

It was mdeed high tame to give such as-
suranees, for the presence of the Envoy with the
Mahatagr could not but be msunderstoud  How-

* ﬁn Metcalfe, to G overnment of India 23th October 1508
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ever msincere the conduct of Ranjit Smgh may
Thepoticyof Bane  have been, there was somethng of
oionsty wive gentug 1 hus palicy which deserved
success  When the Envoy first commenced his ne,
gotiations, the Mahaiaja at once percerved that an
opportumity had arnved for demanding an acknow-
ledgment of his right tb sovereignty over the Cis-
Satle) States, the first desire of s hemt It 1s
true that he had absolutely no 1ight to such sover-
ergnty, and had himself proposed to Lord Lake that
the Satlej should bg the frontier lme of the two
States. But since that fume hus strength had wfimtely
increased, and hus ambition had grown with lus
strength  Besides, he fancied, perhaps erroneously,
but still with some reagon, that the Britush Govern-
ment were somewhat i hus power ., France to him
was a mame and nothing more he neither loved
Tho defeneive trea- oy higted it, o2 its Emperor, and he
Py proposed by the
Governmont gave ¢learly perceived that the Envoy’s
e 200 1o Mhom g ssurances that the Governar, Gen-
eral desired this defensive treaty, aganst France out
of a sincere regard for fhe interests of Lahore
and that the Purnjab, and not British India, was
the State that would benefit, by ,-the alliance
were absurd—for England, and not Lahore, was
the enemy of France , and if the love of the British
Government for hum was 59 greaf, why had they
50 long kept 1t & profound secret  Yet of they wore
sincere, if they truly thoughts first of hum and s
interests, rather than of their own, and had no
desire to persuade hum mto an alhance which
might be fatal to s rule, let them prove thur
He required con-  gincerity by aduitting his suprem-
e acy over the st-SgatleJ States
So the Maharaja argued, and it is duficult to




TEbe XDattala State, 113

say that he was wrong  For these reasons he de-
termined te make the aeceptance of his terms the
condition of lus signing the treaty, he resolved to
protract, the negotiations as long as possible so as
to allow him tine to seize as much of the Cis-
Satle) territory ashe could before the negotiations
were completed, for he would thus have, m posses-
sion, the best of argumonts , whale, if he could only
entice the British Envoy to jomn his camp, he would
have almost an authority ta continue s conquests,
and the Cis-Satle) Chiofs would be deprived of all
heart fur resistance when they saw. the Envoy of
the Power to which they looked for probecmon in
the very camp of the enemy
‘With desmigns such as these, Ranpt Singh, by
He triowot tno Porsuasion and promuses and trick-
Hneoy. ery, drew the Envoy to the Satlej, to
Kha, to Faridkot, and lastly to Maler Kotla. Here
Mr Metealfe determined to make a stand He
percervod that he had been used as a tool to work
out the Muharaja's ends, and when 1t was proposed
that be should proceed to Ambala, 1 the vicuuty
of those very Chiefs who had soheited the protection
of the Government, where the negotiavions should
Whont st renoten. 0@ cOncludled, he resolved to refuse
e v amaone any longer to apptove, by s pre-
the camp sence, the subjugation of the entwre
country  Ile accordingly commumnicated lus abso-
lute objection to proceed further with the armv, and
desired sume place to be assigned at which the
mission might wait until the campaign was over *

Ranpit Smgh now determmed to make a last
effort to shake the Envoy’s resolution, and to obtan

* Mr Metcalie to Govornnent of Tudia, 26th October 1808
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from him a declaration that he, the Maharaja, had
full authority over the Cis-Satley States and that
the British Government would not interfere to pro-
tect them Mr Metealfe has left
a most mteresting account of this
passage of arms, 1 which Ranpt Singh himself took
part with s principal mmsters, Diwan Mohkam
Chand, Bhowani Das, Misr Prab Dyal, Fakns
Aznzuddin  and Imamuddin, end Swdar Mith
Singh Padhama. The subject of the conversation
had been often discussed before and the Envoy had
nothmgnew tosay It was muged that the Governor
Gleneral had referred thus very question of the Cis-
Satle; States to Ins decwion the Envoy could
anly reply that the Governor .General would no
doubt wish fiom him full information on the subject,
and that this would be furmshed, but that no
authorrty bad been granted him to complete the
arrangetient, and that without such authority no
action would be valid  One passage from the
Envoy's description of the mterview may be here
quoted® ~—

4 passage of arms

“ Reverting to the object of his wiohes, the
Raya sad that the only hittle doubt
that remened m his nund proceed-
“gd from his not bemg able to conceive why the
“ Governor General should Lesitate to grant such a
“ tnfling request He did not, he said, ask any
“ country from the British Government, he only
“ wanted to be left to ¢arry on his concerns with
“ the people of us awn nation, hus bicthren, with-
“ out mterforence That they all acknowledged Tus
% gupremacy, and that be' mercly wanted the

The Envoy's letter

M: Metealfe to Government of Indwm, 30th October 1508

.2
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“ Governor General to say that he would not dis-
“ pute what was acknowledged by all That the
“ Butish Government bad given away territories
“ yiclding large revenucs on many oceasions and
“ wag known to make great sacrfices for i1ts friends,
“and that he was not able to account for the
“ hesitation 1t complying with his small request,
*¢ 1 remmkhed upon tlus, that if the object of lus
“request was tinling, the earnestness with which
“he pwsued 15 was smpusimg, and that if it
“ wag unportant, he onght not to wonder that
“ g evrtain degnee of deliberation should take place
“upan1t”

The Euvoy finally dechméd any dedlaration
Neitier party S0Ch as that desned without a
wwvald givo way refurence to 'lns Government, nor
would he engage to do more than subiit the whole
matter for the consideration of the Governor
General  After thus, the hope of the negotintions
bemng brought to a speedy or even a satisfuctory
ternnnation seemed very iemote  The Muharaja
appeated detainmuped to wmaske his adhesion to the
twaly dependant upon the acceptance of lus pro-
postions by the British Government, and atter
vamly atiempting to persuade the Envoy to accom-
panv hun to Ambala, he assigned the town of Fatah-
2k miseton hare 0D2d for the residence of the mmssion,
ot Futadabad and started fiom Maler Kotla
with his army onthe 1st November 1808, ¥ baving
dospatelied to the Governor General aletter m wluch
were toitetated the aiguments which had fualed to
Themomesortne ke any mpression on the Envoy
e po iy, His campaign, after parting with

* Mr Metealfe to Gerernmeut of ludi, 15t November 1508
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the mission, was of the bmefest As hag been be-
fore stated, he seized Ambala fiom the widow of
the late Chief, and, not content with the land, he
converted to hus own use the money and Jjewels of
this unfortunafe lady  Shalabad he took from the
sons of Sndar Karm Singh, but restored 1t on the
payment of a fine for the payment of which the
Raja of Pattiala became security

The only Chiefs who had not submitted to the
supremacy of the Maharaja, a submission extorted
by wviolence, flaud, and the prospect of wmmnent
danger, were Sudatr Bhanga Singh of Thanesar and

Banjit Semon the Raga of Pattmla ; and towards
marchiato burcdala,  {hE capital of the lutter he marched
the third week m November le.mga Smgh jomed
Raja Sahib Sungh at ts place, and therr untted
furces would have been able to offer a, se110us 10818-
tance to